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Building the

gl bal leader

in specialist recruitment

Financial Highlights
Year ended 30 June
(In £’s million)

Net fees
Operating profit from continuing activities**
Cash from operations
Profit before tax
Profit before tax (before exceptional items)**
Basic earnings per share**
Dividend per share

2008

2007

Actual
growth

LFL*
growth

786.8
253.8
256.0
264.4
249.1
12.59p
5.80p

633.6
216.1
232.1
211.7
211.7
10.19p
5.00p

24%
17%
10%
25%
18%
24%
16%

19%
13%

Strong like-for-like net fee growth of 19% and operating profit growth of 13%*
Earnings per share up 24%** and dividend per share up 16%
Excellent cash flow from operations of £256.0 million (101% of operating profit)
Strong balance sheet position with net debt of £81.1 million
Operational Highlights
International business increased net fees and operating profit by 40%* and now represents
42% of Group net fees
Temporary placement net fees up 14% and permanent placement net fees up 24%*
Performance of UK business impacted by deteriorating market conditions in second half
Increased investment in key efficiency projects, including automating back office functions
and upgrading our front office technology

Dividend per share pence

6

240

*
**

4.35

3.40

120

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency, pre exceptional items. No adjustment is made for the one additional trading day in 2008.
continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.

The 2004 results represent profit from continuing operations before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items under UK GAAP.
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Cash from operations £m

8.69

9.0

10.19

10.5

04

120

12.0

299

150

193.0

180

166.2

210

216.1

240

12.59

13.5

08

15.0

270

04

320

300

133.4

400

404.7

480
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560

538.2

640

633.6

720

253.8

786.8

800

Basic earnings per share pence**

07

Profit from continuing activities £m**

Net fees £m

Areas of Operation

United Kingdom*
Aberdeen
Belfast
Birmingham
Brighton
Bristol
Cambridge
Cardiff
Edinburgh
Glasgow
Ipswich
Leeds
Leicester
Liverpool
London
Luton
Manchester
Milton Keynes
Newcastle
Nottingham
Reading
Southampton

Canada
Calgary
Edmonton
Kitchener
Mississauga
Montréal
North York
Ottawa
Toronto
Vancouver

A world of opportunity

Ireland
Cork
Dublin
Dun Laoghaire
Galway
Limerick
Waterford

China
Beijing
Guangzhou
Shanghai
Shenzen
Hong Kong
Japan
Osaka
Tokyo
Singapore

Australia
Adelaide
Brisbane
Burwood
Camberwell
Canberra
Chatswood
Darwin
Geelong
Gold Coast
Hobart
Hurstville
Liverpool
Melbourne
Mt Gravatt
Maroochydore
Mulgrave
Newcastle
North Sydney
Parramatta
Perth
St Kilda Road
Sydney
Townsville
Wollongong

Brazil
São Paulo
Rio de Janeiro

Activities by specialism

UAE

Switzerland

Sweden

Spain

Slovakia

Portugal

Poland

Netherlands

Luxembourg

Italy

Hungary

Germany

France

Denmark

Czech Rep.

Canada

Brazil

Belgium

Austria

Singapore

Japan

China & HK

Aus & NZ

UK & Ireland

>10% of country net fees
<10% of country net fees

New Zealand
Auckland
Christchurch
Wellington

Accountancy & Finance
Construction & Property
Information Technology
Sales & Marketing
Banking
Contact Centres

Austria
Vienna

Education
Executive

Belgium
Antwerp
Bruges
Brussels
Dendermonde
Gent
Kortrijk
Roeselare
Wavre
Zaventem

Financial Services
Healthcare
Human Resources
Legal
Oil & Gas
Pharmaceutical
Purchasing
Resource Management
Resources & Mining

Key to regions
UK & Ireland
Asia Pacific
Continental Europe & Rest of World
*

Czech
Republic
Brno
Prague
Denmark
Copenhagen
France
Aix en
Provence
Bordeaux
Lille
Lyon
Nancy
Nantes
Nice

Major United Kingdom office locations only.

Paris
Rennes
Rouen
Strasbourg
Toulouse
Tours
Germany
Berlin
Düsseldorf
Frankfurt
Hamburg
Mannheim
Munich
Nürnberg
Stuttgart

Hungary
Budapest

Tilburg
Utrecht

Italy
Bologna
Milan
Rome

Poland
Katowice
Warsaw
Wroclaw

Luxembourg

Portugal
Lisbon
Oporto

Netherlands
Amsterdam
Breda
Den Bosch
Eindhoven
Nijmegen
Rotterdam

Slovakia
Bratislava
Spain
Barcelona
Bilbao

Madrid
Sevilla
Valencia
Sweden
Malmo
Stockholm
Switzerland
Basel
Geneva
Zürich
United Arab
Emirates
Dubai
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“Hays plc is the leading global specialist recruitment group.
It is the market leader in the UK and Australia, and one
of the market leaders in Continental Europe. In 2008, we
placed approximately 80,000 people into permanent jobs
and found temporary assignments for approximately
300,000 people. The Group employs 8,872 staff operating
from 393 offices in 27 countries across 17 specialisms.
Our aim is to build the pre-eminent global business in
specialist recruitment.”

Bob Lawson
Chairman

Alistair Cox
Chief Executive

Paul Venables
Group Finance Director
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Business Overview

Building the global leader
our platform for growth
Key market drivers

A platform for growth

The multiplier effect and
cyclical growth
As positions are filled new vacancies
are automatically created generating
a multiplier effect on demand. Hence
economic growth has a leveraged
impact on our business.

Pure play specialist
recruitment

Attractive markets
worldwide

£2.5bn revenue
393 offices

with strong long-term
growth drivers

Balanced
portfolio

Business model
replicates

27 countries
17 specialisms
temp & perm

on global scale with
low expansion risk

Market leading
positions

Highly cash
generative

number 1 in UK and Australia

with low capital intensity

Strong cost
control

Strong
management

market leading conversion
rate and flexible cost base

with proven track record
underpinned by ‘Hays DNA’

Increasing deregulation
Deregulation, particularly in Continental
Europe, is opening up new markets for
our services, generally making it easier
for us to operate and grow.

Cultural changes
Increasing awareness and willingness
to use specialist recruitment services
in sectors and countries which have
historically not been familiar with
specialist recruitment services.

Increasing skills shortage
Increasing skill shortages means more
businesses are using our services
to help fill highly skilled roles.

Increasing flexibility demands
Increasing demand by employers and
employees for flexible employment
is driving growth in the temporary
placement market.

Increasing job velocity
People are changing jobs more
frequently and are creating a
greater demand for our services.
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Group profile

Operating profit £m*

240

29%

UK & Ireland
International

UK & Ireland
International

Net fees by specialism %

Net fees by division %
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£253.8m

46%

90

160

54%

120

65%

150

71%

180

35%

240
210

83%

320

66%

400

70%

78% 22%

75% 25%

480

30%

560

Conversion rate

270

34%

640

32.3%

300

78% 22%

720

17%

800

42%

Net fees

Net fees £m

58%

£786.8m

Operating profit*

8,872

Accountancy & Finance
Construction & Property
IT
Other

26

UK & Ireland
Asia Pacific
Continental Europe
& Rest of World

20

36

Number of employees

22

14

58

24

27

Private: Public sector %

Temporary: Permanent %

Number of countries
49%
Temporary

51%
Permanent

80%
Private

20%
Public

17

Number of specialisms

*

continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
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Chairman’s Statement

Hays 2008:
an excellent year
Hays has achieved another strong financial performance with 24% growth in basic earnings
per share* against a weakening economic backdrop. It has also been an exciting year
for Hays during which Alistair Cox joined as Chief Executive following Denis Waxman’s
retirement. This transition was extremely smooth and, since his appointment, Alistair has
built on Denis’s legacy. He has considerably strengthened his Management Board, taken
personal responsibility for the United Kingdom & Ireland business and continued the
development and diversification of our International business.
It has been a year of significant progress for Hays. In the United Kingdom & Ireland we are
refining the way we manage the business, automating many processes, improving working
practices and upgrading the technology we use. Whilst it will take time for these changes to
convert into financial performance, particularly given the current market environment, these
actions will considerably strengthen the business for the long-term. Meanwhile, the International
business achieved outstanding growth underlining the great opportunities available to Hays
worldwide and our capability to capitalise on these opportunities. Very few businesses have
achieved such strong growth across so many countries in specialist recruitment.

“Our business model
has both the flexibility
in the short-term to deal
with more challenging
economic conditions and
the capability over the
long-term to capitalise on
the substantial structural
growth in specialist
recruitment markets.”
Bob Lawson
Chairman

Like all recruitment businesses, we have seen a sharp fall in our share price during the
year. Whilst we share the concerns about the short-term economic prospects, the Board is
confident that Hays is well positioned to deal with the challenges ahead and will emerge
from any downturn a more efficient business with an increased market share.
Dividend
Our dividend policy is designed to support a sustainable dividend across the economic cycle
whilst also delivering a progressive dividend during periods of growth. In line with this
policy, the Board is recommending a final dividend of 3.95 pence per share, which would
bring the full year dividend to 5.80 pence per share, representing an increase in the full
year dividend of 16% over 2007.
Board governance
The Board has met 10 times in the year and conducted a local review of our operations
in Asia Pacific, including visits to Japan and Australia. In addition there was a visit and a
briefing at the new United Kingdom flagship, multi-brand office in Birmingham city centre.
As stated last year, the Board review agreed the priorities, which were strategic implementation,
senior talent management and IT innovation. Each of these initiatives has received specific
regular attention from the Board. Some of the results have been increased attention to
operational efficiency in the United Kingdom & Ireland and further diversification within the
International business, for example broadening our offer in German-speaking countries and
expanding specialisms within the Japanese market. In addition the Board has supported plans
for further market entries scheduled for the coming year. A by-product of the Board
deliberations has been the requirement to re-assess how Hays should use web-based
technologies within its businesses for the future.
We have increased the pace of senior management development with external recruitment
in Group IT, Marketing and HR leadership and launched a Group-wide senior management
development programme for the top 200 managers. In addition, to recognise Denis Waxman’s
lifelong commitment to the business, ‘The Waxman Scholarship’ has been created. In its
first year, it has been awarded to two potential senior leaders to attend the London and
INSEAD Business Schools. Finally, the entire review has reaffirmed that these remain the
appropriate priorities for the Board.
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People
As a Board, and as individuals, we have visited many of our operations in the United Kingdom
and the International business during the year. During these visits, we continue to be
impressed with our teams’ commitment and absolute client and candidate focus. I do
wish to recognise their achievement and to reinforce the Board’s commitment to
continuing to make their roles more fulfilling and more effective.
Summary
Across the world we have an experienced management team, leading market positions, a
highly cash generative business, a diversified portfolio and a flexible cost base. This solid
platform provides us with both the flexibility in the short term to deal with more challenging
economic conditions and the capability over the long term to capitalise on the substantial
structural growth in specialist recruitment markets.

24%

Increase in basic earnings per share*

16%

Increase in full year dividend

Bob Lawson
Chairman
1 September 2008
* continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.

Growth in operating profit over 10 years £m

253.8
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216.1

240

193.0

210

166.2

180

133.4
114.3

91.6
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122.5
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Note: Operating profits shown on a continuing basis only, pre exceptional items.
For 2004 and previous years, the results were reported under UK GAAP.
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Chief Executive’s Review

Strong fundamentals
and a straightforward strategy
2008 Highlights
Year ended 30 June
(In £’s million)

Net fees
Operating profit**
Basic earnings per share**

Growth
2008

2007

Actual

LFL*

786.8
253.8
12.59p

633.6
216.1
10.19p

24%
17%
24%

19%
13%

This has been an excellent year for Hays. We helped more people than ever develop their own
careers, placing over 80,000 candidates in their next permanent job and approximately 300,000
contractors in temporary assignments for our clients. As a consequence, we have delivered
record profits and cash flow, achieved strong growth and made significant progress in our
strategy of diversifying our business across geographies and sectors. Despite clear signs of
tightening economies in the latter part of the year, we delivered 24% growth in net fees (19%
on a like-for-like basis*) and 17% growth in operating profit** (13% on a like-for-like basis*).

“We have delivered record
profits and cash flow,
achieved strong growth
and made significant
progress in our strategy
of diversifying our business
across geographies
and sectors.”
Alistair Cox
Chief Executive

40%

Increase in International net fees
in 2008*

14

Number of countries that increased
net fees by more than 40% in 2008*

In the United Kingdom & Ireland we enjoy a position as market leader and we grew our net fees
by 7%* but operating profit declined by 3%* as the marketplace became more challenging in
the second half. Whilst a number of our sectors became progressively tougher during the latter
part of the year, we actively reduced the cost base whilst diverting resources to more resilient
areas of the market. Our business model allowed us to do this quickly and we grew a number
of our newer specialisms significantly, despite dealing with difficult market conditions in other
sectors, particularly the Construction & Property and City related aspects of our business.
The International performance has been outstanding. We grew net fees and operating profit
by 40%* and growth was achieved across a broad geographic spectrum. Fourteen countries
grew their own net fees by over 40%*, all achieved organically. In Australia & New Zealand,
we outperformed the market by a considerable distance across all major specialisms. Our
market leadership in Australia is now so strong that we are larger than our next three
competitors combined. In Asia we more than doubled our business and continued to invest
in building critical mass in Japan, China, Hong Kong and Singapore. In Continental Europe
& Rest of World we invested to take advantage of structural growth in each of our markets,
expanded our network by opening operations in 13 new cities and entered two new
countries, Denmark and Hungary.
Our strategy of diversification has delivered tangible results. We have rolled out new
specialisms across multiple countries and our newer specialisms now constitute 26%
of the Group’s net fees. We expanded internationally by growing our consultant base in
existing infrastructure and opening new operations around the world. Today we operate
in 27 countries and have in place a global network of 393 offices. Five years ago our
International net fees constituted 16% of the Group’s total. Today they constitute 42%
and I expect that percentage to increase over time. This is an increasingly global industry.
Our strategy is focused on taking advantage of that trend and we are proud to be at the
forefront of the industry’s internationalisation, building a business that can support our
clients and candidates both globally and locally.
Number of offices

United Kingdom & Ireland
Asia Pacific
Continental Europe & Rest of World
Group
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30 June 2007

Opened (net)

30 June 2008

257
47
72
376

(2)
6
13
17

255
53
85
393
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Top 3
Market position in nine countries
Temporary placement net fees £m
450
385.2

405

240.9

180

205.4

324.1

270
225

272.4

315

301.6

360

08
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90

Permanent placement net fees £m
450
401.6

405
360
309.5

315

08

07

06

198.2
05

142.2

45

135

04

90

03

180

163.8

225

3. We have built an increasingly diverse business across countries and specialisms to grow
on a number of fronts, as well as mitigating some of the risks of exposure to economic
cycles. We already operate in 27 countries and expect to expand further. Our specialisms
cover areas as diverse as nursing, architects, accountants, teachers and lawyers and
we regularly enter new sectors where we see opportunities.
4. We are a global leader and a local leader in each of our chosen markets. I believe that
people want to deal with experts who have a real grip on what is happening in their area,
whether they are clients or candidates. We build specialist teams of consultants, steeped
in specific sector expertise to provide that service.
5. Our business model replicates easily, allowing us to take our proven methodologies
and open up new specialisms in countries with low expansion risk. As a result, we have
entered 13 new countries during the last five years and increased the proportion of
international net fees as a percentage of Group net fees from 16% to 42%. Over
95% of that growth has been achieved organically.

236.6

270

1. Hays is 100% focused on specialist recruitment. This part of the recruitment market has
the best growth opportunities and the highest margins. By focusing on what we do best,
we have more than doubled the size of our business over the last five years. We are not
distracted by seeking to operate in other segments of the market that display different
dynamics and require different skills and processes.
2. Many of our international markets are at a very early stage of development. By
introducing our services and methodologies, we open up and professionalise
these markets. As an early entrant, we aim to quickly build a leadership position.

135

45

Hays in 2008
When I joined a year ago, I was struck by the number of long-term growth opportunities
facing Hays, more than I have seen in any other business. One year on, the short-term
economic environment has deteriorated in a number of our markets, but my belief in our
longer term prospects remains firm and our proven ability to execute our strategy has
reinforced my view that we are very well positioned to capitalise on those opportunities.
In short, the fundamentals for our business are very strong and they are:

6. We operate with a very strong cost control culture. By building a highly flexible cost base
and exerting strong control over expenditure, we have built a market leading conversion
rate. This discipline is one I will reinforce as it has allowed us to respond swiftly to changing
market conditions during the year.
7. Hays is a highly cash generative business. Our five year average cash conversion is
96% and last year we turned more than 100% of operating profit** into cash flow. Turning
profit into cash and maintaining a strong balance sheet is fundamental to our strategy.
8. We have a very strong management team. Ours is a people business and we have
many decades of recruitment industry experience in our regional management teams.
The strength of this team speaks for itself, as they have grown operating profits** by a
cumulative aggregate growth rate of 28% per annum over the last 16 years and I am
proud to lead them.
These characteristics make for a very powerful combination. They bode well as
a platform from which to deliver strong long-term growth and create a leading global
player in this industry.
*
**

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency, pre exceptional items. No adjustment
is made for the one additional trading day in 2008.
continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
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Chief Executive’s Review

“By focusing diligently on
what we do best, we have
more than doubled the
size of our business over
the last five years.”

13

Number of countries entered in last
five years

Our vision and our strategy
Our role as a business is a straightforward but very important one: we help our clients find the
very best resources they need to develop their own businesses and we help our candidates
find the best new role for themselves. Making the right decisions and providing the best expert
advice to all parties is crucial in such a people-centric environment as our work has real impact
on people’s lives and our clients’ organisational capability. We take these responsibilities very
seriously and recognise that to achieve our goal of building the pre-eminent global leader in
specialist recruitment, customer service must lie at the heart of our strategy.
Delivering superior service requires us to do a number of things very well. We must bring
the best people into our business, train them to become excellent consultants and managers,
give them the tools and systems to allow them to be more productive than our competitors
and support them through effective marketing of the Hays brand to help them grow their
business. I encapsulate this as a strategy of investing in our people, our processes, our
technology and our brand.
To deliver on this strategy, we have concentrated on four key principles. The first principle is
to recruit the best talent into our business. We are also investing in both technical training
to turn our recruits into highly productive consultants as well as leadership training to build
our senior management capability to enable us to execute more things on more fronts
at the same time. Having such a broad geographic and sectorial spread, we have many
opportunities to develop good ideas across the business. Our second principle is therefore
to capture these ideas and to standardise the way we do things around those best
practices – in essence building the ‘One Hays Way’ of running our business around the
world. This will allow us to better build our brand globally, facilitate career progression for
our consultants and deliver a consistent high quality service to our clients and candidates.
It also allows us to look for ways to deliver on the third principle of being as operationally
effective as we can be wherever we operate. This means looking for opportunities to
eliminate waste, speed up our processes and free up our consultants to spend more time
with more clients and candidates. Having this approach embedded in the way we run our
business allows us to grow very quickly and efficiently as we have a well-proven set of
methodologies and processes that we can quickly replicate into new specialisms and
countries. This fourth principle behind our strategy allows us to invest in new opportunities
quickly and at relatively low risk, as most of our growth can be achieved organically.
2008 achievements and 2009 priorities
2008 was a year when we delivered significant growth and rapidly diversified our business
both internationally and sectorally. We achieved this by investing on multiple fronts to build
critical mass in existing countries, introducing newer specialisms across the world and
entering new countries. We would not have delivered this without investment in people and
it is credit to the management teams around the world that we successfully inducted over
1,000 new colleagues into Hays, growing our headcount by 14% to 8,872 people today.
We have also identified how we can better deploy technology to create competitive advantage.
Whilst our business is a very human one and one where personal communication and
relationships are key, we can use technology to help us achieve more. Hence we have
initiated a major IT system refresh that will provide all our front offices around the world
with a richer and more efficient operating system and put in place a programme to
streamline our back office administration in the UK to deliver improved service at lower
cost. Both programmes are fully specified and resourced and will deliver material benefits
when completed over the next couple of years.

continues on page 12
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Making progress
against our strategy
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Chief Executive’s Review

Progress with our strategy in 2008
and priorities for 2009
Growth by replicating
our business

I
I
I

Build scale in existing locations
Roll out new offices and specialisms
Enter new countries
Progress in 2008

Priorities for 2009

Opened in 18 new cities
in the International business
and launched in Hungary
and Denmark

I

I

14 countries grew net fees
by more than 40%*

I

I

Increased net fees in other
specialisms** by 23%

I

Strong progress in building
other specialisms**
particularly in our large
country operations. In the
United Kingdom & Ireland,
four other specialisms**
grew by more than 20%. In
Australia & New Zealand,
12 other specialisms**
grew by more than 50%.
In Germany, we achieved
rapid growth in the non
IT specialisms

I

I

Introduced new specialisms
in 17 countries

I

International net fees and
profits grew by 40%*

*
**

10

Focus on maximising
profits and cash from
core specialisms in
our large countries
Increase market share in
more defensive specialisms
in United Kingdom and
Australia e.g. public sector

I

Continue roll out of
Other specialisms**
in our large countries

I

Selective investment in
consultants in countries
with strong economies

I

Continue regional
office roll out in the
International business

I

Examining new country
opportunities in emerging
markets

One Hays around the world

I

I

Standardise practices across the worldwide
network leveraging our scale and reach
Invest in our worldwide brand
Progress in 2008
I

Several contract wins to
service global clients in
multiple countries

I

Significant progress made
in cross selling across
specialisms in the UK

I

Standardised key processes
including recruitment,
training, and trading terms
and conditions

I

International mobility
processes streamlined
to better manage
international consultant
and candidate moves

I

Investment in Group
marketing resources
and capability

Priorities for 2009
I

Implementation of new
global marketing strategy

I

Invest in further global
client opportunities

I

Roll out of recruitment
practices and training
courses developed in 2008

I

Design a global strategy
to fully develop our online
capability to support the
business across the world

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency, pre exceptional items. No adjustment is made for the one additional trading day in 2008.
Other specialisms are all specialisms excluding Accountancy & Finance, Construction & Property and IT.
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Develop the best people
in the industry

I

I

Build capability to execute on multiple
opportunities in parallel
Maintain strong performance and client
based culture
Progress in 2008
I

I

I

I

5,000 people attended
assessment centres around
the world as part of our
newly designed programme
to recruit the best consultants

Priorities for 2009
I

Complete roll out of ‘One
Hays Induction Academy’

I

Launch ‘One Hays
Technical Academy’ aimed
at developing consultant
skills e.g. sales, negotiation,
interviewing, and other
best practice

‘One Hays Induction
Academy’ designed and now
being rolled out worldwide
100 managers participated
in ‘Hays Advance’ worldwide
leadership development
programme and executive
programme with leading
business schools put in
place
TALKback, Hays internal
survey measuring employee
satisfaction, indicated that
the number of employees
who were proud to work for
Hays improved to 77%

I

I

Induct a further 100
managers on to the ‘Hays
Advance’ programme and
roll out next stage of
leadership development

Operational effectiveness

I
I

A scaleable and integrated global IT platform
Focus on efficiency improvements in the
UK & Ireland
Progress in 2008

Priorities for 2009

I

Completed design and scope
of new IT project
to deliver efficient and
integrated market leading
front office IT platform
across our global business

I

Completed design and scope
of new automated
and fully integrated back
office IT system in the UK

I

Continue to improve
scores in TALKback, our
internal survey measuring
employee satisfaction

8,000 UK temporary
workers transferred from
paper timesheets to web
enabled automated
timesheets, representing
25% of all our UK
temporary workers

I

Implemented Corporate
Sales and Delivery teams
to better serve major
corporate clients

I

Developed a structure
to better sell and deliver
services to major
corporate clients

I

Respond to more challenging
market conditions by
focusing on maximising
profit and productivity
particularly in United
Kingdom & Ireland and
Australia & New Zealand

I

Go-live with front office IT
platform in priority countries

I

Phase 1 implementation of
new UK back office IT
system which will include
testing and piloting prior to
full implementation in 2010

I

Complete roll out of web
enabled timesheets in UK

I

Leverage new Account
Management structure to
increase share of large
corporate market in UK

Hays plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008
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Chief Executive’s Review

continued from page 8

“The longer term potential
to significantly grow our
business around the world
and across multiple
specialisms is substantial.”

16

Years average sector experience
of top 20 managers reporting to
the Board

Looking to 2009, we clearly face more challenging conditions in a number of our key
markets. In such areas, we will focus on maximising our profits and cash generation and
will take whatever action we deem necessary to deliver this. At the same time however,
we recognise the need to continue to invest where opportunities exist, whether that be in
a further geographic expansion, rolling out newer specialisms or growing our share in
more resilient sectors e.g. the public sector in the United Kingdom & Ireland. Our strategy
of diversification and globalisation remains intact as we see significant long-term growth
opportunities in opening up our markets around the world. Finally, we will continue to
invest in the key IT programmes as we consider these vital to building a more efficient
business. In summary, our priority is to achieve the right balance between short-term profit
maximisation and cash generation in areas where current conditions are tough with the
need for targeted investment in building out our global presence where we see significant
opportunities for long-term gain.
Current trading
Currently, in the United Kingdom, demand for temporary placements has flattened out and
we are experiencing falling demand for permanent placements. In Australia, we are seeing
good growth in demand for temporary placements but demand for permanent placements
has levelled off. In both these countries our priorities are focused on cost control and
maximising profitability. In most of the other countries in which we operate, we are
currently seeing strong growth in demand for our services.
Our future
Our aim is to create the leading global player in the specialist recruitment industry. We
acknowledge that current conditions are difficult in a number of areas and may well get
tougher in the immediate future. However, we will use the flexibility in our business model
to react quickly to such pressures and extend our market position wherever we operate.
What is really exciting is the structural growth potential we see around the world. Specialist
recruitment is a relatively new concept in most countries outside the United Kingdom and
United States and we intend to be at the forefront in opening up these markets. We have
already built a powerful market leading position in the United Kingdom and Australia and the
prospects of achieving the same in a whole host of other economies is very appealing indeed.
Alistair Cox

Chief Executive

Inside Hays: www.haysplc.com
See an interview on our website with Alistair Cox,
Chief Executive, focusing on the achievements in
2008 and the priorities for 2009.
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Market opportunity

The market development which drove
UK profits from £5m to £137m over
16 years is now beginning across Europe

UK

Germany

France

Spain

Italy

Netherlands

Belgium

Canada

Other countries in Europe

Hays net fees
Country population (country population is viewed as a proxy for potential market size in the long-term)

Hays plc Annual Report and Accounts 2008
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Operating Review

Building the

gl bal leader

in specialist recruitment

On the following pages
the heads of our three key
operating regions give an
inside view of the market,
performance and opportunities

UK & Ireland

p.16

Asia Pacific

p.20

Continental Europe
& Rest of World

p.24
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“Our Retail and
Purchasing specialisms
grew by 79% and 21%
respectively in 2008.”

Operating Review

UK & Ireland Strengthening
our business through
operational effectiveness

Claire Kemsley,
Operations Director, Retail

Regional highlights
Number 1 market position
Diverse sector exposure
Broad geographic coverage

40

180

36

160

32

140
120

137.3

354.7

315.5

378.4

400

200

140.8

417.1

450

452.9

500

300

28

150

60

12

100

40

8

08

07

05

06

20

04

05

04

08

16

07

80

06

100

200

£m

%

Operating profit
Conversion rate

Accountancy & Finance
Construction & Property
IT
Other

27

8

5
28

14

40

London
North & Scotland
Home Counties
Midlands & East Anglia
South West & Wales
Ireland

7
20
26

51%
Temporary

* continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
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25

Private: Public sector %

Temporary: Permanent %
49%
Permanent

76%
Private

“We are introducing new
IT systems enabling our
consultants to work
more effectively.”
Steve Weston,
Group IT Director

Net fees by region %

Net fees by specialism %

Alistair Cox,
Managing Director,
UK & Ireland

24

250

50

“We will continue
to be extremely
focused on cost
control and
productivity in
the year ahead.”

Operating profit £m*
and conversion rate %

Net fees £m

350

£452.9m
£137.3m
30.3%
17
3,128
255

137.5

I

Net fees
Operating profit*
Conversion rate
Specialisms
Consultants
Offices

129.9

I

111.0

I

24%
Public

“We have substantially
increased our focus on
the public sector in the
past nine months.”
Mark Staniland,
Managing Director,
Public Sector

Directors’ Report – Business Review

Operating Review

UK & Ireland
UK & Ireland operating performance
Year ended 30 June
(In £’s million)

Net fees
Accountancy & Finance
Construction & Property
Information Technology
Other Specialist Recruitment Activities
Total
Operating profit**
Accountancy & Finance
Construction & Property
Information Technology
Other Specialist Recruitment Activities
Total
Conversion rate
Period end consultant headcount***
Division as % of Group net fees

Growth
Actual
LFL*

2008

2007

178.0
118.6
33.3
123.0
452.9

164.4
111.8
31.5
109.4
417.1

8%
6%
6%
13%
9%

8%
6%
5%
8%
7%

65.6
41.0
11.2
19.5
137.3
30.3%
3,128
58%

67.6
44.2
11.2
17.8
140.8
33.8%
3,116
66%

(3)%
(7)%
–
10%
(3)%

(3)%
(8)%
–
6%
(3)%

–

–

2008 Highlights
Good growth in temporary placement fees
Marked slowdown in permanent placement fees in second half
Strong growth in many of the newer specialisms
Profit impacted by legislative changes, IT infrastructure spend,
and slowdown in growth in second half of year
Action taken to better position the region for more challenging conditions
Looking ahead to 2009
We expect conditions to remain challenging in the United Kingdom & Ireland.
Our priorities in the United Kingdom & Ireland are to:
Be extremely focused on cost control and profitability
Commence implementation of new front office and back office systems
Continue to develop tools and processes to improve consultant productivity
in the UK
Leverage our new account management structure to increase share of large
corporate market in the UK
Expand our smaller specialisms and increase penetration in more
defensive sectors
Increase market share in the public sector
Focus on staff training and development

Inside Hays: www.haysplc.com
See an interview on our website with Alistair Cox,
Managing Director of UK & Ireland, focusing on the
achievements in 2008 and the priorities for 2009.
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In the United Kingdom & Ireland, net fees increased by 9% (7% on a like-for-like basis*) to
£452.9 million and operating profit growth decreased by 3% (3% on a like-for-like basis*)
to £137.3 million**. The difference between headline growth and like-for-like growth
was due to the acquisition of James Harvard, and the appreciation of the Euro positively
impacting the result from Ireland. Overall the result reflects good growth in the temporary
placement business offset by a weaker performance in the permanent placement business
which was impacted by a marked slowdown in activity in the second half.
The Accountancy & Finance business had solid fee growth taking advantage of good market
conditions in the first half of the year, before seeing a slowdown in market growth towards
the end of the year. Construction & Property, which serves both the construction and “built”
environment sectors, achieved strong growth in the first half but had an increasingly difficult
second half as a result of a marked slowdown in construction activity in the sector.
Information Technology made progress finishing the year with better fee momentum.
The Other Specialist Recruitment Activities which cover 13 specialisms and now
represent 27% of United Kingdom & Ireland net fees, achieved good growth overall.
Education, Human Resources, Purchasing, Sales & Marketing, and Retail achieved
excellent growth, collectively increasing net fees by 21%. However, as expected,
City related activities recorded weaker performances.
Profit in the United Kingdom & Ireland has been affected by the reduction in the temporary
business margin that occurred last year, primarily in the public sector and the impact of
legislative changes affecting the status of temporary workers in sectors in which managed
service companies operate. These factors reduced operating profit by around £6 million in
the year. Investment in the IT infrastructure, as part of our ongoing project to improve our
use of technology, reduced operating profit by around £3 million, with most of the impact
being in the second half. Additionally, the slowdown in growth in the second half of the
year, particularly in Construction & Property and Accountancy & Finance, put further
pressure on the conversion rate. Overall, the conversion rate declined from 33.8%
last year to 30.3% reflecting a continuing decline in the second half.
We have taken action to address the 10% reduction in operating profit that occurred in
the second half of the year in the United Kingdom & Ireland. In February, Alistair Cox, the
Group Chief Executive Officer, took over the leadership of the United Kingdom & Ireland
business. Subsequently, we have cut our cost base including reducing headcount by 7%
in the second half. To improve efficiency, we are automating our back office functions and
this project is progressing well with expected completion in June 2010. We are taking
measures to improve front office productivity, including the development of best practice
across the business and improved use of technology to reduce the administrative burden
on consultants. We are also examining ways to make further savings through improved
procurement. We are also developing our account management capability to better service
our major clients and increase our share of their spend on recruitment across multiple
specialisms. We have also directed resources towards our public sector clients and this
has yielded 15% growth in our public sector net fees in the second half.
In view of the more challenging market conditions in the United Kingdom & Ireland,
we will continue to be extremely focused on cost control, maximising productivity, and
disciplined pricing.
*
**
***

UK & Ireland as % of Group net fees

58%

of net fees

UK &
Ireland

“2008 has been an
increasingly challenging
year in the United Kingdom
& Ireland. However we have
made progress in better
positioning the business to
deal with the more difficult
economic back drop.”

27%

Other specialisms as a percentage
of net fees

21%

Combined growth in net fees for
Education, Human Resources,
Purchasing, Sales & Marketing,
and Retail

15%

Growth in public sector net fees
in the second half

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency. No adjustment is made for the
one additional trading day in 2008.
continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
the increase in consultants is shown on a closing basis, comparing 30 June 2008 versus 30 June 2007.
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“We have achieved
excellent growth of
31%* in 2008 in our
Resources & Mining
specialism.”

Operating Review

Asia Pacific Continued
market beating performance

Simon Winfield,
Head of R&M, Australia

Regional highlights
I
I
I

Number 1 market position
Diverse sector exposure
Broad geographic coverage

Net fees
Operating profit**
Conversion rate
Specialisms
Countries
Consultants
Offices

£176.2m
£83.4m
47.3%
17
6
1,255
53

Operating profit £m**
and conversion rate %

Net fees £m

60

180

108

54

96

48

160

83.4

120

176.2

200

84

120

72

36

60

30

“During the year our logistics
specialism grew by 85%* in
Australia & New Zealand.”

41.7

24
18
12

07

06

19.8

£m

05 27.8

08

07

06

24

05

20

36

04

04 48.3

60
40

48

62.6

80

08

85.7

100

Nigel Heap,
Managing Director, APAC

42

54.2

114.0

140

“We have achieved
outstanding growth
across all countries
in the region.”

Timothy Jones,
Logistics Divisional Manager,
Australia & New Zealand

%

Operating profit
Conversion rate

Net fees by specialism %

22
39

Net fees by country %

Accountancy & Finance
Construction & Property
IT
Resources & Mining
Other

Australia & NZ
Japan
Hong Kong
China
Singapore

3 3

“During the year our net
fees in Asia grew by
more than 100%.”

8

Matt Underhill,
Managing Director, Asia

9
22

92

Private: Public sector %

Temporary: Permanent %
44%
Temporary

56%
Permanent

85%
Private

15%
Public

* LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency pre exceptional items. No adjustment is
made for the one additional trading day in 2008.
** continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
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Operating Review

Asia Pacific
Asia Pacific operating performance
Year ended 30 June
(In £’s million)

Net fees
Operating profit**
Conversion rate
Period end consultant headcount***
Division as % of Group net fees

2008

2007

176.2
83.4
47.3%
1,255
22%

114.0
54.2
47.5%
915
18%

Growth
Actual
LFL*

55%
54%

38%
39%

37%

37%

2008 Highlights
Out performed the market by a distance in Australia & New Zealand
Temporary placement business achieved consistently excellent growth
across the year
Permanent placement business started strongly but weakened in the
second half in Australia & New Zealand
Strong progress in Asia, increasing net fees by 100%*
Looking ahead to 2009
In Australia & New Zealand we are seeing good growth in demand for temporary
placements but demand for permanent placements has levelled off.
Our priorities in Australia & New Zealand are to:
Focus on cost control and maximising profitability in our core specialisms
Develop the smaller specialisms particularly in the more defensive sectors
Increase market share in public sector
Strengthen account management to improve our services to large clients
and increase our share of their total recruitment spend
In Asia, we continue to experience strong demand for our services. Whilst
conditions remain favourable, our priority is to continue to build critical
mass in the major cities in our existing countries. We are also examining
opportunities for expanding into India.

Inside Hays: www.haysplc.com
See an interview on our website with Nigel Heap,
Managing Director of Asia Pacific, focusing on the
achievements in 2008 and the priorities for 2009.
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In Asia Pacific, our businesses continued their excellent track record in both the permanent
and temporary placement markets. Net fees increased 55% (38% on a like-for-like basis*)
to £176.2 million and operating profit increased 54% (39% on a like-for-like basis*) to
£83.4 million. The difference between headline growth and like-for-like growth was due
to the appreciation in the Australian dollar and the 2007 acquisition of James Harvard in
Japan. We increased the number of consultants by 37% compared to last year, with this
increase being weighted towards the first half of the year. The conversion rate remained
broadly unchanged at 47.3% (2007: 47.5%).
In Australia & New Zealand, our market leading businesses recorded excellent performances
across all of their specialist activities and regions, increasing net fees by 36% compared
to last year*. The temporary placement business in Australia & New Zealand achieved
consistently excellent growth across the year. The permanent placement business started
the year strongly but the growth rate weakened across the second half, with fee growth
in the second half being driven by more favourable mix. By sector, Accountancy & Finance
increased net fees by 31%; Construction & Property increased net fees by 38%; Resources
& Mining, created five years ago and now our third largest specialism, increased net
fees by 31%; and Information Technology increased net fees by 47%*. Among the other
specialisms, we increased net fees by more than 50% in Education, Executive, Healthcare,
Human Resources, Legal, Logistics, Oil & Gas, Pharmaceutical and Sales & Marketing*.
In addition, we opened further offices in Queensland, Victoria and New Zealand.
The Asian markets represent a source of substantial long-term opportunity for us and during
the year we continued our strong progress in the region increasing net fees by 100%*. In
Japan, we began our geographical expansion by opening in Osaka and we continued the
roll out of our Accountancy & Finance, Construction & Property and Pharmaceutical
specialisms. Our new business in Singapore had a fantastic year achieving breakeven
within eight months of opening, and is now rapidly growing profits. Hong Kong performed
significantly ahead of our expectations and we have continued the development of our
business across China.
*
**
***

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency. No adjustment is made for the
one additional trading day in 2008.
continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
the increase in consultants is shown on a closing basis, comparing 30 June 2008 versus 30 June 2007.

APAC as % of Group net fees

APAC

22%

of net fees

“In Japan, we began our
geographical expansion by
opening in Osaka and we
continued the roll out of our
Accountancy & Finance,
Construction & Property
and Pharmaceutical
specialisms.”

39%

Compound annual growth in net
fees over five years

8

Number of months it took to break
even in Singapore
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Operating Review

Continental Europe & Rest of World
Rolling out our business to
establish top 3 market positions

“Following our launch in 2007,
we achieved break even within
12 months in São Paulo, and
we are now in Rio.”
Luiz Valente,
Managing Director, Brazil

Regional highlights
I
I
I

Top 3 market position in major countries
Diverse sector exposure
Broad geographic coverage

Net fees £m

Net fees
Operating profit**
Conversion rate
Specialisms
Countries
Consultants
Offices

£157.7m
£33.1m
21.0%
15
19
1,415
85

50

180

45

22.5

160

40

20.0

157.7

200

25.0

30

102.5

120

21.1

12.5

20

13.8

5.0

07

£m

10.0
7.5

06

07

08

10

05

04 2.6

53.3

15

06

20

05

04 40.9

40

15.0

25

74.1

80

8.5

100

%

Operating profit
Conversion rate

15

Accountancy & Finance
Construction & Property
IT
Sales & Marketing
Other

19

6

18
40

6

Germany
France
Benelux
Canada
Spain
Other

7

17

10

43

19

Private: Public sector %

Temporary: Permanent %
47%
Temporary

53%
Permanent

97%
Private

3%
Public

* LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency pre exceptional items. No adjustment is
made for the one additional trading day in 2008.
** continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
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“In Germany, we
have the market
leading IT
business and
we are rapidly
rolling out other
specialisms.”
Johannes Becker,
Key Account Manager,
Finance

Net fees by region %

Net fees by specialism %

Nick Cox, Managing Director,
CE&RoW

17.5

33.1

35

08

140

60

“12 countries in
Continental Europe
& RoW grew net fees
by more than 40%*
during the year.”

Operating profit £m**
and conversion rate %

“In France we have opened
offices in Bordeaux, Nancy,
Rennes, Rouen and Tours
in the last two years.”
Raphaël Molon,
Regional Manager, France
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Operating Review

Continental Europe
& Rest of World
Continental Europe & Rest of World operating performance
Year ended 30 June
(In £’s million)

Net fees
Operating profit**
Conversion rate
Period end consultant headcount***
Division as % of Group net fees

2008

2007

157.7
33.1
21.0%
1,415
20%

102.5
21.1
20.6%
991
16%

Growth
Actual
LFL*

54%
57%

43%
44%

43%

43%

2008 Highlights
Outstanding performance capturing significant structural growth
Opened in 13 new cities and launched operations in Hungary & Denmark
Germany increased net fees by 43%* and France by 33%*
12 countries increased net fees by more than 40%*
Looking ahead to 2009
We are currently seeing strong demand in both the permanent and temporary
placement markets in most of the countries in which we operate within
this region.
Our priorities in 2009 are to:
Take full advantage of growth potential in countries with strong economies
React swiftly to changes in market conditions in countries with weakening
economies
In Germany, grow the core IT business whilst also developing the
smaller specialisms
Continue roll out into new regions in existing countries. Current plans
include entry into at least five new cities
Complete the implementation of the new IT front office platform in
a number of countries
Focus on staff training and development, with particular emphasis
on management development
Examine new country opportunity in Russia

Inside Hays: www.haysplc.com
See an interview on our website with Nick Cox,
Managing Director of Continental Europe &
RoW, focusing on the achievements in 2008
and the priorities for 2009.
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The Continental Europe & RoW division continued its outstanding progress increasing
net fees by 54% (43% on a like-for-like basis*) to £157.7 million and operating profit by
57% (44% on a like-for-like basis*) to £33.1 million compared to last year. The difference
between headline growth and like-for-like growth was due primarily to the appreciation
of the Euro and the 2007 acquisition of James Harvard. We have invested significantly
in consultants, increasing the number of consultants by 43% compared to last year,
with this increase being weighted towards the first half of the year. The conversion rate
continued to improve, increasing from 20.6% last year to 21.0%, due to the increased
scale of the business.

CE&RoW as % of Group net fees

CE&RoW

20%

of net fees

All countries contributed to the outstanding performance across both temporary and
permanent sectors with 12 countries delivering net fee growth of more than 40% in
the year*.
Germany, representing 40% of the division’s net fees, took advantage of growth in the
market and further improved its market share, growing net fees by an impressive 43%*.
This business is the market leader in the IT contracting market and is rapidly expanding its
Accountancy & Finance, Legal and newly launched Pharmaceutical specialisms. Following
new office openings during the year, in Stuttgart and Nuremberg, our German business
now has eight offices.
France, representing 19% of the division’s net fees, grew net fees by 33%*, increasing its
presence in Paris and continuing its expansion into the provinces*. In line with the French
specialist recruitment market, this business is predominantly focused on the permanent
placement market and, following office openings in Rouen and Nancy, now has 17 offices.
Among the other countries in Continental Europe, we started operations in new cities in
Spain, Italy, Switzerland, the Czech Republic and Poland, and we launched operations in
Hungary and Denmark. Following the acquisition last year of James Harvard, we continue
to roll out our Pharmaceutical specialism across Europe, introducing it into seven new
countries during the year, bringing our Pharmaceutical presence up to 12 countries in the
region. Elsewhere, we have opened new offices in Canada and Brazil and our businesses
in the UAE and Brazil continue to grow rapidly.
We see great opportunities for Hays in these markets, and we will continue to invest in
staff and offices, where appropriate, to capitalise on these opportunities.
*
**
***

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency. No adjustment is made for the one
additional trading day in 2008.
continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
the increase in consultants is shown on a closing basis, comparing 30 June 2008 versus 30 June 2007.

“All countries contributed
to the outstanding
performance across
both temporary and
permanent sectors.”

35%

Net fees growth in Canada*

17

Number of offices in France

7

Countries in which our
Pharmaceutical specialism
was rolled out to in the year

3x

Increase in net fees over three years
by Continental Europe & RoW division
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Financial Review

An excellent financial result

Summary profit and loss statement
Year ended 30 June
(In £’s million)

Turnover
Net fees
Temporary
Permanent
Total
Operating profit**
Conversion rate
Temporary margin***
Temporary fees as % of total
Period end consultant headcount****

“Our excellent fee growth in
the period has been driven
by our investment in the
business and strong
demand in our markets,
particularly in the
first half.”
Paul Venables
Group Finance Director

19%

Increase in net fees*

13%

Increase in operating profit *
**

Growth
2008

2007

Actual

LFL*

2,540.0

2,110.2

20%

16%

385.2
401.6

324.1
309.5

19%
30%

14%
24%

786.8
253.8
32.3%
18.0%
49%
5,798

633.6
216.1
34.1%
18.0%
51%
5,022

24%
17%

19%
13%

15%

15%

Group turnover increased by 20%, net fees increased by 24% (19% on a like-for-like
basis*) and operating profit** increased by 17% (13% on a like-for-like basis*). The results
were modestly enhanced by the acquisition of James Harvard and the disposal of a noncore business in France in 2007, which together had the net effect of increasing net fees
by £9.4 million and operating profit by £1.4 million. Favourable exchange rate movements,
particularly the appreciation in the Australian dollar and Euro, increased net fees by
£20.4 million and operating profit by £7.8 million.
Our excellent fee growth in the period has been driven by our investment in the business
and strong demand in our markets, particularly in the first half of the year. Whilst the
economic cycle will always be the most important short-term influence on the performance
of our business, there are significant long-term structural changes driving demand in
specialist recruitment markets. These long-term drivers include deregulation in the labour
markets, particularly in Continental Europe, increasing awareness and willingness to
use specialist recruitment services, people moving jobs more frequently and demographic
changes. In addition, the temporary placement market benefits from a long-term trend
of increasing demand from both candidates and clients for flexible employment.
We achieved a strong performance in our permanent placement businesses across all
regions in the first half of the year benefiting from continued investment in consultants
and a shortage of highly skilled candidates. However, the growth rate slowed markedly
in the second half in the United Kingdom & Ireland and Australia & New Zealand as a
result of the wider economic issues starting to impact our markets. Overall, net fees in
the permanent business, representing 51% of Group net fees, grew by 24%, with
permanent placement volumes increasing by 17% and average fees per placement
increasing by 6% compared to last year*.
2008 review of Group permanent and temporary businesses

£401.6m
51% of Group net fees

Permanent
+24% net fee growth*
+17% volume growth
+6% average permanent fees
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£385.2m
49% of Group net fees

Temporary
+14% net fee growth*
+14% volume/mix growth
+0 bps margin flat
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The temporary placement business, representing 49% of Group net fees, had strong
and broadly consistent growth throughout the year increasing net fees by 14% driven
by volume and mix growth*. The Group temporary margin was the same as last year at
18.0%*** with a decrease in the United Kingdom & Ireland offset by an increase in the
margin in the International business. The contrasting trends in the permanent and
temporary placement markets during the year underline the advantage of having
market leading positions in both markets.

Cost base analysis

5

Payroll costs
Occupancy
Advertising and P&P
IT & professional
Other

4 6

10

The Group’s conversion rate, which is the proportion of net fees converted into operating
profit, decreased from 34.1% last year to 32.3% due to the reduction in the conversion
rate in the United Kingdom & Ireland.

75

Exceptional items
As explained in note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, there is an exceptional
credit of £15.3 million included in the Consolidated Income Statement in 2008. This
includes a £22.0 million exceptional credit as a result of the Group amending the terms
of its defined benefit pension scheme. This amendment restricts the annual increase
in pensionable earnings to the lower of inflation or 5%. Also during the year, the Group
has initiated a Group-wide project to transform its IT infrastructure, software and business
operations. This has led the Board to conclude that the value of certain intangible and
tangible assets that were used in its operations are impaired and they have been
written down by £6.7 million. There was no cash impact from the exceptional items.

Operating profit and
operating cash flow £m
300
270
240
210

Net finance charge
The average interest rate paid during the year ended 30 June 2008 was 6.1% (2007: 5.7%)
generating a net interest payable on bank balances of £7.2 million (2007: £5.9 million). There
was a net interest credit on the defined benefit pension scheme obligations of £3.0 million
(2007: £1.9 million) due mainly to the higher asset position at 30 June 2007 and a higher
expected return on the scheme assets. Offsetting this was a charge for the Pension Protection
Fund Levy of £0.5 million (2007: £0.4 million). Overall, the net finance charge for the year
was £4.7 million (2007: £4.4 million). It is expected that in 2009 the net finance charge will
increase to between £10 million and £12 million mainly due to the increase in the defined
benefit pension scheme deficit and the lower expected rate of return on the scheme’s assets
which will adversely affect the IAS 19 finance charge by around £6 million. This increase does
not have a cash impact.
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Taxation
Tax on continuing operations for the year was £76.6 million, representing an effective tax
rate of 29.0% (2007: 30.0%). The reduction in the effective tax rate is primarily due to
the recognition and utilisation of brought forward tax losses in our French business and
the 2% reduction in the United Kingdom tax rate which came into effect from 1 April 2008.
In 2009, it is anticipated that the effective tax rate will remain around 29.0%.
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share from continuing activities increased 24% to 12.59 pence
(2007: 10.19 pence)**. The improvement in earnings per share results from strong growth
in profit before tax**, 18% ahead of last year, the reduction in the effective tax rate and
the favourable impact of the accretion from the share buy-back programme.
Cash flow
Cash flow in the year was excellent, with 101% conversion of operating profit** into
operating cash flow (2007: 107%). Our track record of consistently strong cash flow
performance reflects the highly cash generative nature of our business model and the
emphasis that our management places on strong cash management.
*

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency. No adjustment is made for the one
additional trading day in 2008.
** continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
*** the temporary margin is calculated as temporary placement net fees divided by temporary placement revenue.
**** the increase in consultants is shown on a closing basis, comparing 30 June 2008 versus 30 June 2007.
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Financial Review

Overall, net cash generated by operations was £256.0 million (2007: £232.1 million).
Cash outflow from working capital was £15.1 million, with working capital increasing
at a proportionally lower rate than turnover. Tax paid was £74.1 million and net capital
expenditure was £20.8 million. £74.0 million was paid out in dividends, £7.2 million was
paid out in net interest, and £91.1 million was used to buy back our own shares. At the
year end, net debt was broadly at the same level as last year end at £81.1 million (2007:
£76.2 million). This compares to bank facilities in place until February 2011 of £460 million.

Cash flow analysis £m
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Balance sheet
The most significant asset on the Balance Sheet relates to debtors, and operations
remain focused on controlling and minimising working capital. ‘Days sales outstanding’,
our measure of cash collection, was 39 days during the year (2007 – 37 days).
Capital structure and dividend
The priorities for our free cash flow are to fund Group development, pay dividends and to
buy back shares when appropriate. In view of the excellent results, the Board is proposing
to pay a final dividend of 3.95 pence per share, which, if approved at the Annual General
Meeting, will make a total of 5.80 pence per share for the full year (2007: 5.00 pence).
This represents a 16% increase on last year. The recommended dividend will be paid
on 21 November 2008 to shareholders on the register at 24 October 2008.
During the year, we purchased 73.2 million shares at a total cost of £91.0 million,
representing 5% of the shares in issue at the start of the period. This share buy-back
has all been funded by free cash flow. The Board believes there are considerable benefits
in maintaining a strong Balance Sheet and will adjust the level of the share buy-back
accordingly. In the year ahead, it is expected that the level of buy-back will be significantly
lower than last year. So far in the current year, we have purchased 1.7 million shares at a
cost of £1.4 million. Since the buy-back commenced in November 2004, the total number
of shares bought back represents 22% of the shares that were in issue at the start of
the programme.
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1

Retirement benefit obligations
The Group’s defined benefit pension scheme liability as at 30 June 2008 of £88.1 million
(£63.4 million net of deferred tax) increased by £44.6 million compared to 30 June 2007
mainly due to a reduction in equity returns, a decrease in equity values and an increase
in the long-term inflation rate assumption. During the year, the Company contributed
£7.3 million of cash into the defined benefit scheme which included £2.5 million to fund
the deficit. The total cash contribution in 2009 is expected to be around £7 million,
including a further £1.2 million to fund the deficit.
Treasury management
The Group’s treasury operations remain straightforward and uncomplicated with Group
operations financed by retained earnings and bank borrowings. The Group has a £460 million
revolving credit facility in place until February 2011 and it uses this facility to manage its
day-to-day working capital requirements as appropriate. The Group’s net debt position was
£81.1 million at 30 June 2008 and this compares to a net debt position of £76.2 million
at 30 June 2007. All borrowings are raised by the Group’s UK based treasury department

* continuing operations only, pre exceptional items.
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which manages the Group’s treasury risk in accordance with policies set by the Board. The
Group’s treasury department does not engage in speculative transactions and does not
operate as a profit centre.
Counterparty risk primarily arises from investment of any surplus funds. The Group
restricts transactions to banks and money market funds that have an acceptable credit
rating and limits exposure to each institution.
Insurance
The Group maintains a comprehensive insurance programme with reputable third-party
underwriters. The Group’s insurance policies are reviewed annually to ensure that there
is adequate cover for insurable risks and that the terms of those policies are optimised.

“Our track record of
consistently strong cash
flow performance reflects
the highly cash generative
nature of our business
model and the emphasis
that our management
places on strong cash
management.”

Inside Hays: www.haysplc.com
See an interview on our website with Paul Venables,
Group Finance Director, focusing on the achievements
in 2008 and the priorities for 2009.

Certain statements in this report are forward looking statements. By their nature, forward looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties or assumptions that could cause actual results or events to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by those statements. Forward looking statements regarding past trends or activities should not be taken as representation that such trends or activities will continue in
future. Accordingly undue reliance should not be placed on forward looking statements.
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Key Performance Indicators

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
Net fees growth %*

The year-on-year growth of our net fees provides a measure of the business development
and growth in each period.
19
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17
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13

Between 2004 and 2008 we have achieved total net fee growth of 94%, representing
an average annual increase of 18%.
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Net fees per consultant £’000

The average net fees generated per sales consultant represents how productive
fee earners are in the business.
141.3

In 2008 net fees per consultant increased by 3% and continued our long-term trend
of improving the net fees per consultant ratio.

142.6

Net fees per consultant grew by a total of 28% between 2004 and 2008.
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Conversion rate %

The conversion rate is the operating profit stated as a percentage of net fees and
measures how effective the Group is at controlling the costs and expenses associated
with its normal operations and its level of investment for the future.
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Earnings per share growth %**†

17

07
06

29

Since 2004 earnings per share has increased by a total of 138%.

Cash conversion %
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Since 2004 the conversion rate has decreased by 70 basis points primarily as a
result of margin pressure in the United Kingdom temporary placement market.

Earnings per share increased by 24% in 2008 reflecting the strong growth achieved
in our International business.

27

05

Conversion rate decreased in 2008 largely as a result of tougher market conditions
and a number of legislative changes in the United Kingdom.

Earnings per share is calculated as profit before exceptional items for the year,
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Group, divided by the weighted average
number of shares in issue during the year. A measure of the profit performance of
the Group.

24

08

*
**
†

In 2008 net fees grew by 19% as a result of our investment in the business and strong
demand in our markets. Our International business achieved net fee growth of 40%
and was a key driver of Group net fee growth.

Calculated as the operating cash flow for the year stated as a percentage of operating
profit before exceptional items and is a measure of the Group’s ability to convert profit
into cash.
Cash conversion decreased by 6% to 101% in 2008, the ongoing high conversion rate
demonstrating the ability of the Group to generate a high level of operating cash flow.
The Group’s strong performance in recent periods reflects the cash generative nature
of the Group’s business model together with continued focus on credit control.

LFL (like-for-like) growth represents organic growth for continuing activities at constant currency. No adjustment is made for the one additional trading day in 2008.
continuing activities only, pre exceptional items.
the EPS growth rate is not provided for 2004 as no comparable EPS number existed in 2003 since Hays’ Specialist Recruitment business was part of the wider, pre-transformation Hays plc Group.
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Principal Risks

Principal risks
Macro economic environment
The performance of the Group has a very
close relationship and dependence on the
underlying growth of the economies of the
countries in which it operates. The Group
strategy is to continue to grow the size of
its International businesses in the countries
in which the Group currently operates and
within new countries in which the Group
currently has no operations. This will reduce
the Group’s exposure or dependence on
any one specific economy.
The Group has also expanded its business
into countries where the specialist
recruitment markets are less developed
and are therefore less dependent on the
performance of the country’s underlying
economy in the short term.

Competitive environment
In the United Kingdom & Ireland and
Australia & New Zealand, the markets for
the provision of permanent and temporary
recruitment are competitive and fragmented.
In these more developed markets, competitor
risk manifests itself in increased competition
for clients and candidates and in pricing
pressures and during the year, in the
United Kingdom, the Group experienced
some margin pressure within its temporary
business in the major specialist activities.
In Continental Europe & Rest of the World
and Asia (excluding Japan), the markets for
the provision of recruitment services remain
less developed and the market place is
more fragmented. The markets in
Continental Europe and Asia are, however,
developing quickly.
The Group’s strategy is to rapidly grow our
businesses in the International territories.
The Group’s competitors in its markets range
from large multi-national organisations to
small, boutique, privately owned businesses.
The Group is continually subject to existing
and new competitors entering into the
markets in which it operates. The competitive
threat is from small start-up operations to
large multi-nationals as the costs of entry
into the specialist recruitment markets can
be relatively low, although these costs have
risen with the increased levels of compliance
required from local regulators and clients.

Commercial relationships
The Group benefits from close commercial
relationships with key clients in both the
public and private sectors. Within the private
sector the Group is not dependent on any
single key client; however, the Group, like

most companies is always subject to the
risk that a large customer might be unable
to fulfil its obligations to the Group, which
might materially impact the Group’s results.
The public sector accounts for approximately
20% of the Group’s total net fees. The public
sector markets that the Group operates in
include a large number of national and local
government organisations.

Contractual risk
Clients increasingly require more complex
levels of compliance e.g. reference checking
in their contractual arrangements. The Group
takes its responsibilities seriously and
contracts may be allocated to dedicated
teams with audits performed to reduce the
risk of non-compliance.
The placing of temporary workers represents
a greater inherent risk than permanent
placements. Wherever possible, contracts
include clauses placing the responsibility for
supervision and control of the worker with the
client, exclude any consequential loss and
limit the Group’s total liability under the
contract. The Group has clear guidance in
place on approval of contractual terms and
monitors the application thereof, especially
any exceptions to our standard liability
position and insurance protection which
require Group Finance Director approval.

People
The business is reliant on the ability to recruit,
train and develop people to meet the Group’s
growth strategy. The Group is focused on
ensuring it has competitive pay structures
which are linked to performance, a
succession planning process and a process
to develop talent to meet expansion needs.
In addition, management are focused on
allocating resources to the best
opportunities available.

Technology systems
The Group is increasingly reliant on a
number of technology systems in providing its
services to clients. These systems are housed
in various datacentres and the Group has
capacity to cope with a datacentre loss as a
result of a significant event through the
establishment of disaster recovery sites
which are physically based in separate
locations to the ongoing operations.
The Group is also reliant upon a number
of important suppliers that provide critical
information technology infrastructure. It
continually monitors the performance and
robustness of these suppliers to ensure
business critical processes are safeguarded
as far as is practicably possible.
The Group is in the process of upgrading
some of its key operational and financial
systems. Such changes have an element
of inherent risk. The Group has taken steps
to mitigate these risks via the governance
structure in place, ensuring that the Group
has high quality project management
and IT resources working alongside our
operational managers on the projects,
utilisation of specialist external resource
and utilising a robust project management
process. The Group will be monitoring
this carefully across the life of the project.

Regulatory environment and
legislative changes
The specialist recruitment industry
is governed by an increasing level of
compliance, which varies from country
to country and market to market. The
Group takes its responsibilities seriously,
is committed to meeting all of its regulatory
responsibilities and continues to strengthen
its internal controls and processes with
respect to legal obligations.

As the employment laws are changed and
harmonised in certain geographies, they
The Group has significant operations outside bring with them new risks and opportunities.
The temporary market is more heavily
the United Kingdom and as such is exposed
regulated and changes in legislation
to movements in exchange rates. Currently,
(e.g. changes in managed service
the Group does not actively manage its
company legislation, the planned removal
exposure to foreign exchange risk by the
of the staff hire concession and changes
use of financial instruments. The impact of
foreign exchange will become more important to temporary worker rights) can have an
for the Group as the scale of its International impact on the Group’s profitability.
operations grow. In the current year, 42%
The Group ensures that its policies,
of total net fees were generated by the
processes and systems reflect best
International businesses, of which 36% was
practice where possible and meet
Euro or Australian dollar and this is expected the legal requirements of the markets
to increase in the future. The Group will
in which it operates.
continue to monitor its policies in this area.

Foreign exchange
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Corporate Responsibility

Building a
sustainable business
At Hays, we believe that corporate responsibility is about building a sustainable business.
Because only with a sustainable business can we fulfil our responsibilities to shareholders,
staff, clients and to the wider environment in which we work.
For Hays, this hinges on the core skill on which our reputation is built: placing the right
person in the right job. This in turn depends on the calibre of our staff, the quality of service
we provide and the policies to which we work.
So the corporate responsibility programme at Hays focuses on activities which help us
to build a sustainable position as the global leader in specialist recruitment.
Attracting and retaining staff
Because our business is entirely dependent on our staff – not only those who deal with
clients and candidates but those who support them – we aim to create a work environment
that delivers performance and fosters loyalty and commitment.
Engaging employees
We get a significant response each year to ‘TALKback’, our employee engagement survey
that runs across all the countries in which Hays operates. Gathering employees’ views and
enabling us to address their concerns, TALKback shows that our levels of engagement are
improving year-on-year. We also continue to get high scores on our employees’ attitude to
customer care and in our 2008 survey, staff showed a much improved positive view of
management communication.
Creating a consistent process
For our business model to succeed, we must apply the same approach to recruitment
wherever we operate, that way, the successful Hays model is reinforced. Our ‘One Hays
Induction Academy’ global induction process, which staff will undertake during their first
12 weeks of joining, is being rolled out to all new recruitment consultants. We are also
developing a ‘One Hays Technical Academy’ which will deliver consistently high quality
training to all recruitment consultants throughout their first three years with Hays.
Developing our managers
The calibre of our managers – and our ‘talent pipeline’ – is crucial. For existing managers,
we are rolling out a programme which will make sure that our methods for appraisal,
objective-setting and development are consistent throughout the Group. The initial
100 senior managers from a group of 200 in total are taking part in the ‘Hays Advance’
management development programme. The Board has also established ‘The Waxman
Scholarship’. This award provides tailored executive development opportunities which are
aligned with the succession planning needs of the business and was set up on co-founder
and former CEO Denis Waxman’s retirement to recognise his contribution to specialist
recruitment.
Building customer service
Loyal customers are crucial to the success and sustainability of Hays’ business. We have
many different types of customer: companies, from multinationals through to small and
medium-sized firms; and candidates, from those seeking their first specialist job through
to those progressing to senior roles.
To ensure that our service inspires our customers to stay with us, we run a customer
feedback programme which records customer loyalty and the degree to which they are
inclined to recommend us to others. We seek out issues that Hays needs to resolve and
record customer suggestions for improvement. By using this feedback to improve our
service, we enhance customer loyalty, grow our share of customers’ spend, promote
positive referrals and build our candidate database.
Implementing policies that support our business aims
Strengthening governance, ethics and reputation
Our good conduct is a foundation for the trust our customers place in us. Our business
operates in accordance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance published by the
Financial Reporting Council†. We are in the process of implementing our Code of Conduct and
Ethics policy for employees, which will aim to ensure the Group’s values are upheld. We have a
whistle-blowing policy that provides a confidential process for reporting any breaches of law or
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procedure; and our managers and client-facing staff are now trained in competition law
compliance to ensure that staff are aware of the possible causes and consequences of
a breach.
Managing the environmental impact of Hays and its suppliers
Whilst our business has a low environmental impact, we seek to minimise what impact
we have by reducing our use of energy, water and raw materials, using them efficiently
and re-using, rather than disposing, whenever possible. We promote recycling and the use
of recycled materials and we design energy efficiency into new services and offices – and
manage energy efficiently in all operations. We use relatively little space, with high office
density and hot-desking the norm.
We are always looking at initiatives which reduce costs and minimise our environmental
impact, such as the worldwide rollout of online timesheets following their success in our
Australian operations. Wherever possible, we will seek new ways to reduce our
environmental impact and financially strengthen the business.
Ensuring health and safety
We take all reasonably practicable steps to protect the health, safety and welfare of our
employees and ensure the protection of others not in our employment. And we recognise
our obligation to members of the public, contractors and visitors.
Managers ensure that they provide and maintain safe and healthy working conditions, carry
out suitable risk assessments of all premises and tasks carried out within them and monitor
safety procedures. They involve employees, who are required to co-operate fully in the
operation of the health and safety policy by working safely and efficiently; complying with
any instruction, information and training in accordance with all Group procedures and
statutory obligations; and immediately reporting incidents. The policy is reviewed annually
and will, if necessary, be revised in the light of legislative or organisational changes.
Hays in the community
Hays plays an active role in the community by providing an essential recruitment service
for local people. Some smaller Hays offices act as an important focal point for job seekers.

Seven principles guide our
dealings with our diverse
customer base, demanding
that Hays staff:
Are responsive
Give honest advice
and guidance
Agree expectations
Put forward the right
candidates for the right job
Keep the customer
informed
Follow up
Keep our promises
“The corporate responsibility
programme at Hays focuses
on activities which help us
to build a sustainable
position as the global leader
in specialist recruitment.”
Bob Lawson
Chairman

Hays has a strong record of contributing to these communities through charitable causes.
Over recent years, our fundraising has been linked with one major UK charity, Marie Curie
Cancer Care, which was chosen by UK employees. The charity looks after 25,000
terminally ill patients in the United Kingdom. Our annual fundraising target for 2007/8
was £70,000, to be matched by a Group donation. Hays staff raised £120,000, and
the Group donated a matching sum of £120,000, which will be paid in the year ending
30 June 2009.
Similar plans are in place across our International businesses. Our Australian business
has partnered with Camp Quality, an organisation focused on bringing fun and laughter to
children living with cancer and their families. Through running a range of activities involving
clients and candidates, our Australian business aims to raise AUD$120,000 with the
Group donating a matching sum.
Over the two-year partnership with Marie Curie, Hays and our employees have donated over
£380,000, a sum of money of which we are extremely proud. Our focus will shift in 2008/9 to
a wider range of employment-related charities in the communities that we work.
Monitoring progress
We are reviewing the metrics we use to assess the success of our Corporate Responsibility
programme with the aim of identifying robust Key Performance Indicators which will prove
suitable for disclosure. When we are satisfied that such KPI’s provide an appropriate
measure of our Corporate Responsibility programme, then we will include them within
this report.

† A full description of how the Combined Code is applied is described on pages 38.
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A focused team
the board
1. Bob Lawson, 63
Chairman
Appointed Chairman of the Board and of
the Nomination Committee on 1 July 2001.
He joined Hays as a non-executive Director
on 1 July 1998 and became Deputy
Chairman on 11 November 1999. A
qualified engineer with an MBA, his career
has spanned several United Kingdom and
continental groups, including three years
as Managing Director of Vitec Group
plc and 10 years as Chief Executive
of Electrocomponents plc. On 1 June
2008 he joined the Board of Barratt
Developments PLC and became
non-executive Chairman on 1 July 2008.
2. Alistair Cox, 47
Chief Executive
Appointed to the Board on 1 September
2007, he succeeded Denis Waxman as
Chief Executive on 15 November 2007.
A Chartered Engineer, he was previously
Chief Executive of Xansa plc and formerly
Regional President of Asia for Blue Circle
Industries (latterly called Lafarge Group).
3. Paul Venables, 46
Group Finance Director
Appointed Group Finance Director on
2 May 2006. A Chartered Accountant, he
came to the Group from DHL Logistics, a
division of Deutsche Post World Net. Prior
to the acquisition of Exel plc by Deutsche
Post in December 2005, he was Deputy
Group Finance Director and a member of
the executive board of Exel plc. During 13
years with Exel he held a number of senior
finance and operational roles, including
Finance Director of Exel’s European
and Global operations.

4. Lesley Knox, 55
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed non-executive Director on
30 April 2002, she is Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, a member of
the Audit and Nomination Committees
and is Senior Independent Director in
accordance with the Combined Code. A
founder Director of British Linen Advisers
(a specialist corporate finance adviser)
until 2002, previously she was a Corporate
Finance Director and then Head of
Institutional Asset Management at Kleinwort
Benson. She is Chairman of the Alliance
Trust plc, a non-executive Director of
HMV Group plc and was appointed a
non-executive Director of Signet Group
plc on 9 January 2008.
5. William Eccleshare, 52
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed non-executive Director on
24 November 2004, he is a member of
the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees. He is Chairman and Chief
Executive of BBDO – Europe, Middle East
and Africa. Formerly Chairman and CEO of
Young & Rubicam and Wunderman Europe.
6. Paul Harrison, 44
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed non-executive Director on
8 May 2007, he is Chairman of the
Audit Committee and is a member of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committees.
A Chartered Accountant, he is the Group
Finance Director of The Sage Group plc.

7. Paul Stoneham, 46
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed non-executive Director on
24 November 2004, he is a member of
the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration
Committees. Formerly Managing Director of
Boots Healthcare International and former
President, Global Business Development
for the Colgate-Palmolive company.
8. Richard Smelt, 51
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed non-executive Director on
15 November 2007, he is a member of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committees.
He will become the Group Human
Resources Director of Northern Rock plc
on 15 September 2008, and prior to that
he was Group Human Resources Director
of Carphone Warehouse Group plc.
9. Alison Yapp, 42
Company Secretary and General
Legal Counsel
Appointed Company Secretary and General
Legal Counsel on 30 January 2006.
A qualified Solicitor, with over 15 years’
experience within a number of international
groups, she was previously Company
Secretary and Group Legal Adviser of
Charter plc, an international engineering
company, and prior to that held senior
legal positions in Johnson Matthey plc
and Cookson Matthey Ceramics plc.
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Corporate Governance

pack including detailed monthly management accounts, briefing papers
on commercial and operational matters and major capital projects
including acquisitions.
The attendance of those Directors in place at the year end at Board
and Committee meetings held during the year was as follows:

Bob Lawson
Chairman

The Board of Hays plc is committed to the highest standards of corporate
governance and bases its actions on the principles set out in the June
2006 Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the Code) published
by the Financial Reporting Council.
This statement describes how the Company applies the principles of
the Code.
Throughout the year ended 30 June 2008, the Company has, without
exception, complied with the provisions set out in Section 1 of the Code.
Board
The Board provides leadership and stewardship. The Board comprises
the Chairman, Chief Executive, Finance Director and five independent
non-executive Directors. Six Directors served throughout the financial
year. Mr A R Cox was appointed an executive Director on 1 September
2007. Messrs D R Waxman and B G Wallace retired as Directors on
15 November 2007. Mr R J Smelt was appointed a non-executive
Director on 15 November 2007. The biographical details for all of the
Directors appear on page 37, and demonstrate the range of experience
and independent judgement they each bring to the Board on all matters.
The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for its
decision including the review of the financial results, material contracts,
Group strategy, investor relations, Board appointments, dividend
recommendations, major capital projects and acquisitions and
disposals. The Board met ten times during the year.
The Chairman, in conjunction with the Company Secretary, plans
the programme for Board visits both in the UK and overseas, and
presentations from senior executives during the year. During the
year the Board visited the Company’s Asia Pacific Division, reviewing
operations and receiving presentations from local management
on performance and opportunities.
The agenda for the Board and it’s Committee meetings is considered
by the relevant Chairman and issued with supporting papers during the
preceding week. For each Board meeting, Directors receive a Board
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No. held
No. Attended
R A Lawson
A R Cox1
C W Eccleshare
P S Harrison
L M S Knox
R J Smelt2
P H Stoneham
P Venables

Board

Audit
Committee

Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

10

4

2

7

10
8
10
9
10
6
8
10

–
–
3
4
4
–
3
–

2
–
2
2
2
–
1
–

–
–
7
6
7
3
5
–

1 appointed 1 September 2007.
2 appointed 15 November 2007.

A procedure exists for the Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to
take independent professional advice if necessary, under the guidance
of the Company Secretary and at the Company’s expense. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who
is responsible to the Chairman for ensuring that Board procedures are
complied with and that applicable rules and regulations are followed.
On appointment, Directors receive a formal induction, which includes
visits to relevant business units and functions. These are tailored to the
individual needs of the Directors and continue throughout their tenure.
Briefing sessions on legislative and accounting developments are held
for the Board when appropriate.
Board independence
The roles and responsibilities of Chairman and Chief Executive are
separate. A formal division of each individual’s responsibilities has been
agreed and documented by the Board. Mr B G Wallace stood down as a
non-executive Director and Senior Independent Director, at the conclusion
of the Annual General Meeting on 15 November 2007 and on that same
date Mrs L M S Knox became Senior Independent Director.
The non-executive Directors bring an independent view to the Board’s
discussions and the development of its strategy. Their range of experience
ensures that management’s performance in achieving the business goals
is challenged appropriately. In conjunction with the executive Directors,
they ensure that financial controls and systems of risk management
are both rigorous and adequate for the needs of the business.
All the non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to be
independent as detailed in the Code.
The letters of appointment for non-executive Directors are available for
review at the Registered Office and prior to the Annual General Meeting.
For information regarding the Annual General Meeting please refer to
the separate Shareholder Circular.
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Performance evaluation 2008
Building on the external review of the Board’s effectiveness and the
effectiveness of its Committees undertaken in 2007 by Egon Zehnder,
the Board has conducted its own review in 2008. The findings of the
review have been considered by the Board and certain actions will be
implemented as a result. The Chairman has met with the non-executive
Directors, without the executive Directors being present, to consider
the findings of the review. The Senior Independent Director has also
met with the other non-executive Directors to review the Chairman’s
performance, having consulted with the executive Directors. This has
enabled constructive feedback to be given to each Director. As part of
the review, the effectiveness of the Remuneration and Audit Committees
was also considered. The Audit Committee also undertook its own
separate review reported on page 42.
Following the review, the Chairman is satisfied that each of the Directors
being put forward for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting continues to be effective and that their ongoing commitment
to the role is undiminished.
Responsibilities and membership of Board Committees
The Board has agreed written terms of reference for the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee. The terms
of reference for all three Board Committees are published on the
Company’s website, www.haysplc.com, and are also available from
the Company Secretary at the Registered Office.
Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee identifies and selects candidates in
connection with any proposed new appointments of Directors and
makes recommendations to the Board in respect of such appointments.
Mr R A Lawson chairs the Nomination Committee. Mrs L M S Knox
and Messrs C W Eccleshare, P H Stoneham and P S Harrison were
members of the Committee throughout the year. Mr R J Smelt was
appointed to the Committee on 15 November 2007. Mr B G Wallace
ceased to be a member following his retirement from the Board on
15 November 2007. The Chief Executive attends by invitation
when appropriate.
During the year under review, a new non-executive Director (Mr Smelt)
was appointed to the Board. In consultation with the Board, the Nomination
Committee identified the type of candidate and experience needed
for the role, using the services of a search agency, and reviewed
external candidates for the consideration of the Board. From the
selection of candidates, the Nomination Committee put forward
a final recommendation for the appointment of Mr Smelt as a
non-executive Director to the Board for approval.
Remuneration Committee
Mrs L M S Knox, an independent non-executive Director, chairs the
Remuneration Committee. Messrs C W Eccleshare, P H Stoneham
and P S Harrison were members of the Committee throughout the
year. Mr B G Wallace served as a member of the Remuneration
Committee until 15 November 2007 and Mr R J Smelt was
appointed to the Remuneration Committee at that same date.

The Remuneration Committee determines, on behalf of the Board, the
remuneration and benefits of the Chairman and executive Directors of
the Company and monitors the levels of remuneration and benefits of
selected senior managers of the Group. In formulating its remuneration
policy, the Remuneration Committee gives full consideration to the
matters set out in Schedule A to the Code. The Group’s remuneration
policy is described in the Remuneration Report on page 47.
The Board as a whole determines the level of fees of non-executive
Directors, after taking into account fees payable by comparable
companies and after receiving external advice.
Audit Committee
A full report on the activities of the Audit Committee is included on page 42.
Internal control
The Directors are responsible for the Group’s system of internal control
and for maintaining and reviewing its effectiveness. The Board has
delegated responsibility for the review of the Group’s internal controls
to the Audit Committee. A review has been completed for the year
ended 30 June 2008 in accordance with the recommendations of
the Turnbull Report. The Group’s systems and controls are designed
to safeguard the Group’s assets and to ensure the reliability of
information used both within the business and for publication.
Systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable,
and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
key features of the internal control systems which operated throughout
the period covered by the financial statements and up to the date of
signing the accounts are described below.
Day-to-day responsibility for the management and operations of the
business has been delegated to the Chief Executive and his Management
Board, comprising the Group Finance Director, Regional Managing
Directors, Group Human Resources Director, Group Marketing Director
and Group IT Director. The Company Secretary attends all Management
Board meetings. Clear levels of authority exist for the Management
Board. As far as possible, the business units are given autonomy, whilst
operating within an established internal control environment as set out
in the Group Policies and Procedures Manual. This manual is designed
to ensure that significant risks, investment decisions and management
issues are escalated to Board level at the earliest appropriate opportunity.
The Group Policies and Procedures Manual is updated on an ongoing
basis to reflect changes in procedures as and when they occur.
Certain specific administrative functions are controlled centrally by the Group.
Taxation, treasury and insurance functions report to the Board via the
Group Finance Director. The legal, compliance and health & safety
functions report to the Board via the Company Secretary. Procedures
are clearly defined to ensure that the activities of these functions reduce
the risk profile of the organisation. An overview of the Group’s treasury
policy is set out on page 30. The Group has an ongoing process for the
identification, evaluation and reporting of major business risks. Progress
on the management of key issues is reported through the management
structure to executive management and to the Board. The Group
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operates a comprehensive budgeting and financial reporting system.
Annual budgets are reviewed and approved at business and Group
level. This process includes the identification and quantification of
significant risks relating to markets and operations. Monthly performance
is reported against budget and prior year. The monthly management
accounts analyse and explain variances against budget and report on
key indicators, with detailed explanations for variances and movements
in forecasts provided to the Board.
The Group has an Internal Audit department. The resources of this
department are augmented with independent expert external resources,
wherever necessary, to review risk and monitor compliance with the
Group’s policies and procedures. Regular reviews of the most important
controls are undertaken to ensure that key control objectives are achieved.
Reports on the effectiveness of operational and financial controls are
regularly presented to executive management and to the Audit Committee
and recommendations are agreed upon and implemented.
Although the Group transformation is complete in all material respects,
there is a level of residual risk. Management continues to monitor and
control any matters that arise.
The monitoring of control procedures is achieved through review by
executive management reporting to the Board. This is supplemented by
reviews undertaken by the Internal Audit department of the controls in
operation in the business units. The internal review process has been
in place for the year under review and up to the date of the approval
of the Annual Report and Accounts.
Relations with shareholders
The executive Directors of the Company have a regular dialogue with
analysts and substantial shareholders. All non-executive Directors are
aware of the programme of proposed visits and are invited to attend.
Investors are offered the opportunity to meet the Senior Independent
Director and the Chairman.
Published broker reports are circulated to the Board which considers
any issues raised within them. The Group’s advisers maintain a dialogue
with major shareholders and after each investor roadshow compile a
report of shareholders’ views on key issues and management performance.
A summary of this report is subsequently provided to the Board.
The Annual General Meeting is used as an opportunity to communicate
with all shareholders. In addition, preliminary results, interim results and
quarterly interim management statements are posted on the
Company’s website, www.haysplc.com, as soon as they are announced.
Also, at least four times a year, the Company hosts a teleconference
for analysts and investors. A detailed investor day was held in April
2008 to fully brief major shareholders and the analyst community on
the Company’s performance, prospects and strategy.
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The Notice of the Annual General Meeting to be held on Wednesday
12 November 2008, is contained in the separate Shareholder Circular
and will be sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the
meeting. Each substantially separate issue is proposed in the Notice
of Annual General Meeting as a separate resolution and there are
separate resolutions relating to the Annual Report and Accounts and
the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Furthermore, it is intended that
the Chairmen of the Nomination, Audit and Remuneration Committees
will be present at the Annual General Meeting. At the meeting all
resolutions will be taken on a poll and the results published on the
Company’s website www.haysplc.com.
Going concern
The accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis as
the Directors are satisfied that the Group has adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Directors’
Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations. Company law requires the Directors to
prepare financial statements for each financial year. The Directors are
required by the International Accounting Standards (IAS) Regulation to
prepare the Group financial statements under International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The
Group financial statements are also required by law to be properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article
4 of the IAS Regulation.
IAS 1 requires that IFRS financial statements present fairly for each
financial year the Group’s financial position, financial performance
and cash flows. This requires the faithful representation of the effects
of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the
definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and
expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards Board’s
‘Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements’.
In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved
by compliance with all applicable IFRSs. However, Directors are
also required to:
Ŷ properly select and apply accounting policies;
Ŷ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner
that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information; and
Ŷ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions
on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.
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The Directors have elected to prepare the parent Company financial
statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law). The parent Company financial statements are required
by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company.
In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
Ŷ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
Ŷ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
Ŷ state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the parent Company
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.
The Board confirms to the best of its knowledge:
Ŷ the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group; and
Ŷ the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Group, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.
Disclosure of information to auditors
As required by section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985, each
of the Directors as at 1 September 2008 confirms that:
(a) so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and
(b) the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have
taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s
auditors are aware of that information.
Words and phrases used in this confirmation should be interpreted
in accordance with section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985.
On behalf of the Board.
R A Lawson
Chairman
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Ŷ recommend to the Board for approval by shareholders, the appointment,
re-appointment or removal of the external auditors.
Ŷ monitor the relationship with the external auditor, including consideration
of their fees, the audit scope and the terms of their engagement.
Ŷ review the effectiveness and objectivity of the external audit as well
as the external auditor’s independence.
Ŷ review the policy on engagement of the external auditor for the provision
of non-audit services and monitor compliance.
Ŷ review the Company’s internal controls and risk management systems.
Ŷ monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function.
Ŷ ensure the Company maintains suitable arrangements for employees
to raise concerns in confidence.
Paul Harrison
Audit Committee Chairman

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board from the non-executive
Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee’s terms of reference
include all matters indicated by the June 2006 Combined Code on
Corporate Governance (the Code) published by the Financial Reporting
Council. The terms of reference are considered annually by the Audit
Committee and are then referred to the Board for approval.
Composition of the Audit Committee
Mr P S Harrison, an independent non-executive Director, chairs the
Audit Committee. Mrs L M S Knox and Messrs C W Eccleshare and
P H Stoneham were members of the Committee throughout the year.
Mr B G Wallace ceased to be the Audit Committee Chairman following
his retirement from the Board on 15 November 2007.
Mr Harrison, a Chartered Accountant, is the Group Finance Director of
The Sage Group plc. As such, he is considered suitably qualified to be
the Audit Committee Chairman.
At the invitation of the Audit Committee, the Chairman of the Board,
the Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, Head of Internal Audit,
Group Financial Controller and external auditors regularly attend.
Membership of the Committee is reviewed by the Chairman of the
Committee and the Company Chairman, who is not a member of
the Committee, and they recommend new appointments to the
Nomination Committee for onward recommendation to the Board.
The Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors and two members constitute a quorum.
Role of the Audit Committee
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are published on the
Company’s website, www.haysplc.com and are also available from the
Company Secretary at the Registered Office.
The key responsibilities of the Committee are to:
Ŷ monitor the appropriateness of the financial statements and formal
announcements relating to the financial performance including any
significant judgements.
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Activities of the Audit Committee
The Committee met four times during the financial year ended 30 June
2008. Attendance at meetings is shown on page 38.
During the year the Committee discharged its responsibilities as follows:
Financial statements
The Audit Committee reviewed the draft annual and interim financial
statements prior to recommending their approval to the Board. The
Committee discussed with the executive Directors and external auditors
the appropriateness of accounting policies adopted, significant estimates
and judgements, whether the financial statements gave a true and fair
view and the appropriateness of the going concern assumption.
External auditors
The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board for
approval by the shareholders the appointment of the external auditor.
The Committee considered the scope and materiality for the audit
work, approved the audit fee, reviewed the results of their work and
considered the effectiveness of the external auditors.
The Committee also met the external auditors without management
being present.
The Committee reviewed the policy on the engagement of the external
auditors for non-audit services and confirmed the applicability of that
policy in satisfying itself that the independence and objectivity of the
auditors was not impaired.
The key features of this policy are as follows:
Ŷ work closely related to the audit e.g. taxation or financial reporting
matters can be awarded to the auditors by the executive Directors
provided the work does not exceed £150,000 in fees per item.
Ŷ all other work either requires Audit Committee approval or forms
part of a list of prohibited services where it is felt independence
or objectivity may be compromised.
The Committee has reviewed the non-audit services performed by
the auditors in the year and has concluded that the policy has been
applied and the independence and objectivity of the auditors has not
been impaired as a result. Details of fees paid to the external auditors
during the financial year are set out on page 68.
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After due and careful consideration, taking account of the processes
above, the Committee recommended to the Board that the external
auditors be reappointed.
Internal controls and risk management
The Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s internal controls and
risk management systems by considering the Group’s risk assessment
process and the effectiveness of the controls to mitigate those risks. It
considered the results of testing performed by both the internal and
external audit teams in evaluating the effectiveness of such controls.
Internal Audit
The Audit Committee oversees the Internal Audit function.
During the year the Committee reviewed the performance of the
Internal Audit function. To assist the Audit Committee an external
review of the function was performed by BDO Stoy Hayward LLP.
The audit plan for the coming year was reviewed and approved, along
with the department’s resource requirements. The plan provides a financial
and geographical coverage of the business and is focused on reviewing
the major business risks identified as part of the Committee’s risk review.
Internal Audit reports include recommendations to improve internal
controls and management action plans to address any issues.
Internal Audit monitor the progress made in the implementation
of the recommendations.
The Committee received details of all the key findings and regular
updates on progress made in implementing improvements.
The Committee also met the internal auditors without management
being present.
Raising concerns in confidence
The Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s procedures enabling
employees to raise concerns in confidence. The process was updated
and concerns can now be raised with an independent third party and
a mechanism has been put in place to ensure the Committee receives
reports of any serious concerns raised. These arrangements are
considered appropriate for the needs of the Group.
Audit Committee effectiveness
The Audit Committee prepared and reviewed with the Board an
annual performance evaluation, which concluded that the Committee
has acted in accordance with its terms of reference, is operating
effectively and met all legal and regulatory requirements.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee will be available at the
Annual General Meeting to answer any questions about the
work of the Committee.
On behalf of the Audit Committee.
P S Harrison
Chairman, Audit Committee
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Directors
The following were Directors during the year and held office
throughout the year, unless otherwise indicated:
R A Lawson, Chairman
D R Waxman, Chief Executive (resigned 15 November 2007)
A R Cox, Chief Executive (appointed 1 September 2007)
P Venables, Group Finance Director
C W Eccleshare*
P S Harrison*
L M S Knox*
R J Smelt* (appointed 15 November 2007)
P H Stoneham*
B G Wallace* (resigned 15 November 2007)

and on a poll, every member present in person or by proxy, shall
have one vote for every Ordinary share held. In accordance with the
provisions of the Articles of Association, holders of Ordinary shares
are entitled to a dividend where declared or paid out of profits available
for such purposes. On return of capital on a winding up, holders of
Ordinary shares are entitled to participate in such a return.
Restrictions on transfers of securities
The restrictions on the transfer of shares in the Company are as follows:

* Independent non-executive Directors.

Ŷ the Board may, in its absolute discretion and without giving any reason,
refuse to register the transfer of a certificated share which is not fully
paid, provided that the refusal does not prevent dealing in shares in
the Company from taking place on an open and proper basis.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Messrs P
Venables, C W Eccleshare and P H Stoneham will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. In addition, Mr R J Smelt, having been appointed
since the last Annual General Meeting, will retire and, in accordance
with the Company’s Articles of Association, offer himself for re-appointment.

Ŷ the Board may also refuse to register the transfer of a certificated
share unless the instrument of transfer is lodged, duly stamped (if
stampable), at the office or at another place appointed by the Board
accompanied by the certificate for the share to which it relates and
such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show
the right of the transferor to make the transfer.

Biographical details for all Directors are shown on page 37.

Ŷ the Board may refuse to register a transfer of shares in favour of
four or more persons jointly.

Structure of share capital
As at 30 June 2008, the Company’s authorised share capital of
£88,980,947 comprised 8,898,094,700 Ordinary shares of 1p
each. As at 30 June 2008 the Company’s issued share capital
of £14,640,965.66 comprised 1,464,096,566 Ordinary shares
of 1p each. No shares were allotted during the year.
During the year from 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008, the Company
purchased 73,246,888 Ordinary shares of 1p at a weighted average
price, including transaction costs, of 124.17 pence and the total
aggregate consideration was £90,952,179. The percentage of
issued capital purchased was 5%.
The Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury Shares)
Regulations 2003 (the Regulations) allow companies to hold shares
acquired by way of market purchase in treasury, rather than having to
cancel them. The Directors may use the authority to purchase shares
and hold them in treasury (and subsequently sell or transfer them out
of treasury as permitted in accordance with the Regulations) rather
than cancel them, subject to institutional guidelines applicable at the
time. The shares purchased by the Company in the year were held in
treasury. At 30 June 2008, 86,640,977 Ordinary shares of 1p were
held in Treasury.100,000,000 shares held in treasury were cancelled
during the year. 3,310,542 shares held in treasury were transferred
during the year to 30 June 2008 to satisfy awards of shares under
the Company’s employee share schemes. No dividends have been
paid on shares whilst held in treasury and no voting rights attach
to the treasury shares.
Rights and obligations of Ordinary shares
On a show of hands at a general meeting every holder of Ordinary shares
present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall have one vote
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Ŷ where a shareholder has declined to provide certain information
requested by the Company in accordance with the Companies Act,
the Board can in certain circumstances, refuse to register a transfer
of such shares.
Ŷ restrictions may be imposed on certain Group employees who
are required to seek approval from the Company before dealing
in shares in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules
of the United Kingdom Listing Authority.
Ŷ awards of shares under the Company incentive arrangements, the
Performance Share Plan, Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and Long
Term Co-investment Plan, are subject to restrictions on transfer
of shares prior to vesting.
The Company is unaware of any arrangements between its shareholders
that may result in restrictions on the transfer of shares and/or voting rights.
Exercise of rights of shares in employee share schemes
Certain share awards under Company incentive arrangements are held
in trust on behalf of the beneficiaries. The trustee of the Hays Employee
Trust Share does not seek to exercise the voting rights on these shares.
No voting rights are exercised in relation to shares unallocated to
individual beneficiaries.
Restrictions on voting deadlines
The notice of any general meeting shall specify the deadline for
exercising voting rights and appointing a proxy or proxies to vote
at a general meeting. It is the Company’s policy at present to take
all resolutions at a general meeting on a poll and the results of the
poll are published on the Company’s website after the meeting.
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Significant direct and indirect holdings of securities
As at 1 September 2008 the Company had been notified of the following
voting rights attaching to Hays shares in accordance with the Disclosure
and Transparency Rules:
% of Total Voting Rights

Morgan Stanley Investment Management Ltd
Baillie Gifford
R E Frost
Lloyds TSB Group and its subsidiaries
Barclays plc
Legal and General Investment Management Ltd

11.40%
5.99%
5.81%
4.92%
3.95%
3.95%

An update will be given in the Notice of Annual General Meeting, in the
separate Shareholder Circular.
Directors’ indemnities and insurance
The Company continues to maintain Directors and Officers liability
insurance. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
it is the Company’s policy for each Director and the Company Secretary
& General Legal Counsel to be indemnified by deeds of indemnity.
Mr A R Cox and Mr R J Smelt entered into deeds of indemnity on
1 September 2007 and 7 December 2007 respectively.
Appointment and replacement of Directors
The Company may by ordinary resolution appoint any individual to the
Board. The Board may appoint any individual willing to act as a Director
either to fill a vacancy or act as additional Director. The appointee can
only hold office until the next annual general meeting whereupon he
will be put forward for re-election.
The Articles of Association prescribe that there shall be no less than
five Directors and no more than 15. Should the number reduce below
five then the Board shall as soon as practical appoint an individual to
fill the vacancy. The Company may by ordinary resolution vary the
minimum number of Directors.
At each annual general meeting, any Director who was re-appointed
or re-elected at or before the annual general meeting held in the third
calendar year before the then current year must retire by rotation so
that in total not less than one third of the Directors retire by rotation
each year. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election.
Amendment of the Company’s Articles of Association
The Company’s Articles of Association can only be amended by a
special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders.
At the 2008 Annual General Meeting a special resolution will be put
to shareholders proposing amendments to the existing Articles of
Association primarily to accommodate provisions contained in the
Companies Act 2006.
Employees
The Group is committed to developing its employees and investing
in training tailored to meet the needs of the business, including both
structured training and on-the-job training and briefings. A leadership
development programme for our top global leaders is under way as
part of our continued commitment to developing talent in our business.

As part of creating a stimulating place to work, there are a number of
ways to ensure our employees are involved in the business including
senior management briefings, employee briefing groups, email messaging
and the intranet. To encourage employees to have a stake in the business,
there are also a number of share schemes.
As a responsible employer of thousands of people, the Group is committed
to Equal Opportunities and its policy ensures that everyone has the
opportunity to contribute to the business regardless of age, gender,
ethnicity, sexuality, physical appearance, religion, education and beliefs.
The Group has a structured approach towards internal recruitment and
promotion with decisions based on an individual’s ability to perform the
role. This means that full consideration is given to disabled applicants
where they have the right skills and abilities for the role. Should an
employee become disabled whilst working for the business, every effort
is made to find a suitable alternative role and to assist with any retraining.
The Group’s commitment to training and development includes
consideration of any special training needs of disabled employees.
Payments to creditors
It is the Group’s policy to make payments to suppliers in accordance
with agreed terms provided that the supplier has performed in accordance
with the relevant terms and conditions. Creditor days for the Group for
the year ended 30 June 2008 were an average of 25 (2007 – 26).
The Company creditor days at 30 June 2008 were 25 (2007 – 26).
Charitable and political donations
Charitable donations made during the year totalled £70,000 (2007 – £nil).
Details of the Group’s donations are given on page 35. No payments
were made to political parties.
Post-balance sheet events
As part of the share buy-back programme, the Company has purchased
an additional 1,717,597 shares held as treasury shares, for a total cost
of £1.4 million, after the year end.
Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP have indicated that they are willing to continue
in office. Their reappointment, at a remuneration to be agreed by the
Directors, will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
Powers of Directors
The Directors are responsible for the management of the business
and may exercise all powers of the Company subject to UK legislation,
any directions given by special resolution and the Memorandum and
Articles of Association.
At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 15 November
2007, shareholders gave the Company permission, until the conclusion
of the Annual General Meeting to be held on 12 November 2008, to
purchase up to 213,830,083 Ordinary shares of 1p of the Company.
The Board has indicated its intention to continue to return surplus cash
to shareholders via the on-market purchase of its own shares, where
the cash is not required to finance the organic expansion of the business,
acquisitions and dividend payments. Shares will only be purchased if
to do so would result in an increase in earnings per share and is in
the best interest of shareholders generally.
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The Board will be seeking the approval of the shareholders to renew
this authority at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting as detailed
in the separate Shareholder Circular.
At the Annual General Meeting held on 15 November 2007 the Directors
were authorised to allot new shares up to an aggregate nominal amount
of £4,751,779 being approximately one third of the Company’s issued
share capital. This power has not been used and will expire at the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting. A resolution will
be proposed at the next annual general meeting to renew it.
Change of control — significant agreements
The Company has entered into one significant agreement which contains
provisions which allow a counterparty to alter and amend the terms
of the agreement following a change of control of the Company. The
details are as follows:
Ŷ a revolving credit facility with a number of banks for £460 million
was entered into on 8 February 2006. In the event of a change of
control of the Company, the lenders are entitled to renegotiate
certain terms. As at 30 June 2008, £344.2 million of this facility
had not been drawn down.
There are no provisions contained within the service contracts of
executive Directors that will trigger in the event of a change of control.
There are a number of commercial contracts that would alter in the
event of a change in control but none is considered to be material
in terms of the potential impact on the Group in this event.
Certain of the Company’s share award plans contain provisions which
permit awards or options to vest or become exercisable on a change
of control in accordance with the rules of the plans.
This Directors’ Report comprising pages 2 to 46 has been
approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:
A R Yapp
Company Secretary
1 September 2008
Registered Office
250 Euston Road London NW1 2AF
Company Registered in England and Wales No. 2150950
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Remuneration Report

operational performance over the next 12 months, but with
a significant proportion (70%) deferred into shares; and
Ŷ cash conversion targets (i.e. operating profit converted into cash)
should be incorporated into the DAB and should also replace the
Economic Profit target in the PSP.
The Committee is proposing the following structure for the year
ending 30 June 2009:
Ŷ no change in overall incentive potential but a rebalancing of
the package;
Ŷ a reduced award will be made under the PSP of 50% of salary
(previously 150% for executive Directors), subject to achievement
of targets based on Earnings Per Share (EPS) and Group cash
conversion measured over a three year performance period;

I am pleased to introduce the report of the Board covering the
remuneration policy and practice for the Company.

Ŷ the annual bonus opportunity is to be increased for executive
Directors and Management Board members in order to drive
a higher proportion of total reward off annual performance. In
the current climate this enables clear focus on achievement
of operational as well as strategic targets; and

The Remuneration Committee met seven times during the year
and addressed the following main matters:

Ŷ a significant proportion (70%) of any bonus earned will be paid
in shares:

Lesley Knox
Remuneration Committee Chairman

(a) amendments to the award structure for executive Directors and
other senior managers for the 2008/9 financial year under both
the Performance Share Plan (PSP) and Deferred Annual Bonus
Plan (DAB);
(b) various matters relating to the appointment of the new Chief
Executive, Mr A R Cox, the retirement of the former Chief
Executive, Mr D R Waxman, and the early retirement, after
a long period of ill health, of the former Finance Director,
Mr N A McLachlan; and
(c) the annual salary review and annual bonus determination for the
executive Directors, and review of the levels of remuneration paid
to the Management Board.
During 2008 the Remuneration Committee also reviewed the current
incentives structure for executive Directors and other Management
Board members for the year ending 30 June 2009, to identify if any
changes were required in light of the following challenges:
Ŷ the retention and motivation of executives in the current economic
downturn;
Ŷ the difficulty in setting stretching but credible long-term performance
targets against a backdrop of increased economic uncertainty and
limited long-term visibility; and
Ŷ the need to continue to invest in certain long-term projects such
as IT which will be taken into account in setting targets.
As a result of the review, the Remuneration Committee concluded
the following:
Ŷ the total incentive potential for executives should not be increased;
Ŷ the current incentive plans should continue to be used in 2009.
However, the incentive mix should be re-weighted towards shortterm performance targets to focus management’s attention on

– Firstly 25%, through the existing DAB arrangement as it links
short-term performance to longer term shareholder value.
Matching will be subject to achievement of targets related to
EPS, International net fees as a percentage of total fees and
cash conversion over a three year period;
– Secondly a further 45% of annual bonus will be compulsorily
deferred into restricted shares for three years subject to
continued employment only;
Ŷ the remaining 30% of any bonus earned will be delivered in cash,
which is broadly similar to the level of cash bonus available under
the current incentive arrangements.
The Committee believes these changes will help to retain and motivate
management to deliver challenging performance in 2009 while ensuring
that at least 70% of the total incentive potential is delivered in shares
over the longer term.
We anticipate that consultation with several major shareholders
will indicate strong shareholder support for these amendments.
Brian Wallace stood down as a Director of Hays plc on 15 November
2007. I would like to thank him for his contribution to the Committee’s
work over the last six years. Richard Smelt joined the Committee,
following his appointment to the Board. Richard was Group HR Director
for the Carphone Warehouse Group plc and will be appointed Group
HR Director of Northern Rock plc on 15 September 2008.
The Remuneration Committee unanimously recommends that
shareholders vote to approve the Remuneration Report at the
2008 Annual General Meeting.
Lesley Knox
Chairman
Remuneration Committee
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Remuneration Report
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 and will be submitted to
shareholders for their approval at the Annual General Meeting of
the Company to be held on 12 November 2008. In preparing this
report, the Board has followed the provisions of Schedule A to the
June 2006 FRC Combined Code.

Remuneration policy for executive Directors
The Committee determines the remuneration policy for current and
future years and this is reviewed on an annual basis.
The remuneration policy is designed to allow the business to attract,
retain and motivate the quality of senior management needed to shape
and execute strategy and deliver shareholder value.
Reward arrangements are designed around the following principles:

Composition and terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee
The Board has delegated to the Remuneration Committee under
agreed terms of reference, responsibility for the remuneration policy
and for determining specific packages for individual executive Directors
and the Chairman. The Company consults with key shareholders when
appropriate concerning the introduction of new incentive arrangements
and policies. The terms of reference for the Committee are available
on the Company’s website, www.haysplc.com, and from the Company
Secretary at the Registered Office.
The Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mrs L M S Knox
throughout the year under review. All members of the Remuneration
Committee are independent non-executive Directors. Messrs C W
Eccleshare, P H Stoneham and P S Harrison were Committee members
throughout the year. Mr B G Wallace resigned as a Committee member
on 15 November 2007. Mr R J Smelt was a Committee member from
15 November 2007. The Committee receives assistance from the
Chairman, Chief Executive and Company Secretary, who attend
meetings by invitation, except when issues relating to their own
remuneration are being discussed. The Committee met seven
times during the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
The Remuneration Committee appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
on 14 December 2007 as independent remuneration advisers. During
the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers advised the Committee on levels of
executive Directors’ remuneration and the design of suitable incentive
plans for the executive Directors and other senior managers. Prior to
14 December 2007, KPMG LLP acted as independent remuneration
advisers to the Committee. PricewaterhouseCoopers also provided
certain remuneration information to the Company during the year. KPMG
advised the Company on various ad-hoc tax issues during the year.
The Remuneration Committee was also advised during the year by
Lane Clark & Peacock LLP, pension consultants, on executive Director
pension arrangements. Lane Clark & Peacock also provide advice to
the Company on pension issues.
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP provide legal advice to the
Remuneration Committee. They also advise the Company on legal issues.

48 www.haysplc.com

Ŷ link reward to individual Director’s performance and Company
performance to align the interests of senior executives with those
of shareholders;
Ŷ base reward on both individual achievement and Group results to
encourage a team approach;
Ŷ maintain a competitive package against businesses of a comparable
size in the FTSE and comparable peer group businesses in the
recruitment sector;
Ŷ mirror the incentive and performance philosophy in the business;
Ŷ encourage a personal stake in the business and focus on longer
term business objectives via a long-term incentive plan;
Ŷ encourage Directors and senior executives to build and maintain
a shareholding in the Company over a reasonable period of time;
Ŷ provide a balanced mix of remuneration – base salary, benefits,
pensions, short-term cash incentives and longer term equity incentives:
– Set base salaries at or around market median;
– Provide an annual bonus opportunity against stretching business
targets. On-target performance will be rewarded at or around
median level;
– Superior performance and business returns will result in a total
reward in excess of median and towards upper quartile;
– Provide a total reward package with a high percentage based
on variable performance elements. Around 70% of the total
cash/incentive package will be variable and based on
performance elements; and
Ŷ where appropriate, the Committee will review and agree one off
incentive arrangements to attract and retain individual Directors.
The Company’s long-term incentives primarily now comprise the
Performance Share Plan (PSP) and the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
(DAB). The Share Option Scheme, Performance Share Scheme and
Long Term Co-Investment Plan will not be used to make awards in
the future.
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Executive Directors’ packages
The executive Directors’ packages consist of the following:
Base salary
Base salaries are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee
taking into account the performance of the individual, changes in their
responsibilities, information from independent remuneration consultants
on levels of salary for similar jobs and the Group’s performance
against financial objectives.
Other benefits
Other benefits provided for Directors are car benefit or equivalent,
medical expenses, insurance and permanent health cover.
Annual bonus
Annual bonus arrangements are in place for each executive Director.
For the year ended 30 June 2008, the bonus opportunity for Mr A R Cox
was up to 100% of base salary. 50% of the bonus opportunity was
guaranteed and 50% was subject to individual personal objectives.
At least 50% of the bonus payable will be deferred into Company
shares under the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan. This was a one off
arrangement put in place to facilitate the recruitment of Mr Cox in
June 2007.
The bonus opportunity for Mr P Venables was up to 100% of base
salary. 70% of the bonus opportunity was based on Group financial
targets and 30% on individual personal targets.
For the year ended 30 June 2008, executive Directors and other
invited senior executives were required to defer 25% (apart from the
Chief Executive who had to defer a minimum of 50%) of any earned
bonus into Hays shares under the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and
can also voluntarily defer any remaining bonus. Bonus payments are
not pensionable.
At the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, further cash bonuses
may be paid in exceptional circumstances. No such discretionary payments
were made in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
The bonus awards paid for the 2008 financial year as reported on page 54
were agreed by the Remuneration Committee having reviewed the
Company’s results and the individuals’ performance against the
personal objectives.
Long Term Incentive arrangements
Performance conditions
A Deferred Annual Bonus Plan is in place for executive Directors and
certain other senior executives and a Performance Share Plan is in
place for approximately 320 key executives. The performance measures
that the Remuneration Committee applied for awards made in the
financial year ended 30 June 2008 and which were considered to
be effective key value drivers of the business across July 2007 to
June 2010 are:
Ŷ Earnings Per Share (EPS) growth, which is a key underlying
performance measure in Hays’ business (and the industry),
and is understood by both capital markets and management.

Ŷ International Net Fee Growth, which will incentivise management
towards achieving Hays’ long-term strategic objective of increasing
International Net Fees above 50% of total Net Fees.
Ŷ Economic Profit, which is considered to be aligned with the creation
of long-term shareholder value and will help focus management’s
attention on the cost of capital used to generate profits whether
organically or through acquisitions.
Economic Profit will be calculated as Profit less Weighted Average
Cost of Capital (WACC) multiplied by Average Capital Employed (i.e.
Profit – (WACC x Average Capital Employed)). For this purpose, Profit
is profit after tax but before interest. Average Capital Employed is fixed
assets (including goodwill and intangible assets but excluding deferred
tax assets) plus current assets (excluding cash) less anticipated
deferred consideration and non-interest bearing current liabilities
(excluding taxation liabilities from discontinued activities).
The Remuneration Committee may, in exceptional circumstances, make an
adjustment to the calculation of Economic Profit in the event of a material
strategic initiative (e.g. major restructuring). The adjustment would not apply
in respect of an acquisition. The adjustment is included to ensure that
the Economic Profit measure does not disincentivise management in
the short-term from making long-term value adding strategic initiatives.
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
The Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DAB) provides a stronger link
between Hays’ short-term and long-term performance through the
deferral of annual bonuses into shares. Only the Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director and three other Management Board executives
are currently in the plan. The same executive Directors and four current
Management Board executives will receive an award under the DAB in
respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2008. Other employees
may be eligible to participate in future years at the discretion of the
Remuneration Committee.
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2008 participants will
be required to defer a minimum of 25% of any earned annual bonus
into Hays shares for a further three year period. For his first bonus award,
the Chief Executive is required to defer 50% of the bonus payable into
Hays shares. Executives can also voluntarily defer any of their remaining
bonus into shares (up to a maximum of 100% of their annual bonus).
Any bonus deferred into shares will be matched with free conditional
shares (or nil cost options) on a one for one basis based on the
pre-tax amount of bonus (the Matching Allocation). Vesting of the
Matching Allocation will be dependent on the satisfaction of further
performance conditions over a three year period. There will be no
retesting of performance.
For the award made in September 2007, vesting of 75% of the Matching
Allocation will depend on the Group’s cumulative EPS (on a fully
diluted basis) over the three financial years ending 30 June 2010
and the vesting of the remainder will depend on the Group’s cumulative
International Net Fees over the three financial years ending 30 June
2010. These performance conditions were considered to be key value
drivers of the business over the three years and will encourage
management to focus on growing earnings whilst ensuring that the
proportion of net fees arising from Hays International businesses
continues to increase in line with its stated strategic objectives.
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For the September 2007 award (made in respect of the performance
period 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2010), the EPS element of the
Matching Allocation will vest on a straight-line basis as follows:
EPS Growth

RPI + 12% p.a.
RPI + 4% p.a.
Less than RPI + 4% p.a.

Percentage of the EPS element of the
Matching Allocation that vests

100%
30%
0%

For the September 2007 award (made in respect of the performance
period 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2010), the International Net Fees element
of the Matching Allocation will vest on a straight-line basis as follows:
3-year cumulative
International Net Fees

£1,068m or greater
£946m
Less than £946m

Percentage of the International
Net Fees element of the
Matching Allocation that vests

100%
30%
0%

The Remuneration Committee considers that these vesting levels are
suitably demanding targets having regard to the business strategy,
shareholder expectations, cyclicality of the recruitment industry in
which the Group operates and on the basis of external advice.
In the event that the performance condition is not met then the relevant
part of the award will lapse. There will be no retesting of performance.
The Remuneration Committee may amend the performance conditions
applying to future awards to reflect the strategic priorities, shareholder
expectations and market conditions prevailing at that time provided
that the amended performance conditions are no less demanding.
As at 1 September 2008 the Remuneration Committee has not yet
finalised the targets for the DAB awards for the 2008 awards as it is
waiting to review the market’s expectations for the business following
publication of the results for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.
Performance Share Plan
The Performance Share Plan (PSP) is designed to be responsive to the
key value drivers of the business over the long term by focusing on
underlying improvements in Economic Profit and Earnings Per
Share (EPS).
Approximately 320 key executives, including Mr A R Cox, Mr P Venables
and three other Management Board executives participated in the PSP
award made in September 2007. The same executive Directors and
six other Management Board executives will receive an award under
the PSP during 2008/9. Other employees may be eligible to participate
in future years at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee.
Award levels will be determined each year by the Committee but will
not exceed 200% of a participant’s base salary in any financial year.
Mr A R Cox was granted a PSP award on appointment equating to
200% of base salary in September 2007 and Mr P Venables was
granted an award of 150% of base salary.
As explained below it is proposed that the level of award for 2008/9
will be reduced to 50% of base salary in light of wider remuneration
policy changes.
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The vesting of awards is dependent on performance over a three year
period. The Committee may set different performance conditions for
different participants as it considers appropriate.
In respect of the September 2007 award, which has a performance period
of three years ending on 30 June 2010, the vesting of one half of the
award will depend on the Group’s cumulative EPS (on a fully diluted
basis) and the vesting of the remaining one half of the award will
depend on the Group’s cumulative Economic Profit. These performance
measures were considered to be key value drivers of the business over
the three year period and would encourage management to focus on
growing profitability while ensuring that sufficient returns were earned
on the capital employed in generating the profits.
For the September 2007 award (made in respect of the performance
period from 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2010) to the executive Directors and
the other members of the Management Board, the EPS element of the
award will vest on a straight-line basis in accordance with the table below:
EPS Growth

RPI + 12% p.a.
RPI + 4% p.a.
Less than RPI + 4% p.a.

Percentage of the EPS
element of the award that vests

100%
30%
0%

For the September 2007 award (made in respect of the performance
period from 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2010) to the executive Directors
and the other members of the Management Board, the Economic Profit
element of the award will vest on a straight-line basis in accordance
with the table below:
3-year cumulative Economic Profit

£488m or greater
£415m
Less than £415m

Percentage of the Economic
Profit element that vests

100%
30%
0%

The Economic Profit targets are based on an RPI formula, with 30%
vesting at RPI + 3% p.a. growth and 100% vesting at RPI +10% p.a.
growth. At the end of the three years the actual cumulative performance
will be compared against the targets recalculated for the actual level
of RPI over the period. For the September 2007 award the WACC
will be fixed at 10% for the three year period.
The Remuneration Committee considers that these vesting levels are
suitably demanding targets having regard to the business strategy,
shareholder expectations, cyclicality of the recruitment industry in
which the Group operates and on the basis of external advice.
In the event that the performance condition is not met then the relevant
part of the award will lapse. There will be no retesting of performance.
The Remuneration Committee may set different vesting levels in future
years to ensure that all targets remain stretching and appropriate in view
of prevailing market conditions. Performance against the targets will
be reported annually in the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts.
The Remuneration Committee has yet to grant an award for the year
ending 30 June 2009, and will set the precise performance conditions
on award. The award is likely to be based on two conditions, 50% on
performance against a Group EPS target and 50% against a Group
Cash Conversion target.
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Pension arrangements
Historically, executive Directors have been eligible to participate in the
Hays Pension Scheme, which is an approved defined benefit scheme
providing benefits up to HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) limits. Only
base salary is pensionable.
Mr D R Waxman participated in the Hays Pension Scheme and
details of his participation are set out on page 54. Directors who
have commenced employment since the closure of the Hays Pension
Scheme to new entrants in 2001 (including both Mr A R Cox and Mr P
Venables), receive a salary supplement in lieu of pension contributions.
Fixed to variable remuneration
The remuneration packages for executive Directors contain a significant
element which is variable dependent on the level of performance of
the business and the individual, as can be seen from the graph below:
70%

30%

Variable
Fixed
1. Fixed compensation comprises salary, pension contribution and other benefits as disclosed in the table on page 54.
2. Variable compensation includes bonus awards and the value of awards made under the Performance Share Plan
and the Deferred Annual Bonus plan as disclosed on page 55.

Performance graph
The graph below shows the value of £100 invested in the Company’s
shares compared to the FTSE 350 index over a five year period. The
graph shows the Total Shareholder Return generated by both the
movement in share value and the reinvestment over the same period
of dividend income. The Remuneration Committee considers that
the FTSE 350 is the appropriate index because the Company has
been a member of this index throughout the period.
250

Shareholding policy
In conjunction with the revised long-term incentive arrangements
and to ensure that executive Directors’ and other senior executives’
interests are aligned with shareholders over a longer time horizon,
the Remuneration Committee will require the Chief Executive to build
and maintain a shareholding in the Company of at least two times base
salary and other executive Directors to build and maintain a shareholding
of at least one times base salary, in each case over a reasonable
timeframe, which would normally be five years. Other Management
Board executives will also be actively encouraged to build a significant
shareholding in the Company over a similar timeframe.
Incentive arrangements for 2008/2009
For the year ending 30 June 2009, the Remuneration Committee
has decided that whilst the overall total incentive package should be
unchanged, the mix between short and long-term incentives should
be adjusted. A reduced award will be made under the PSP of 50%
of salary (previously 150% for executive Directors) based on certain
three year targets and the bonus opportunity for executive Directors
will increase to 240% of base salary, a significant proportion of which
(70%) will be deferred into shares which will be subject to further
performance and/or service conditions, described below. 70% of the
bonus opportunity will be based on Group financial targets (of which
half will be based on performance against a Group EPS target and half
against a Group Cash Conversion target) and 30% on individual personal
objectives. Similar bonus arrangements at a lower level will be put in
place for the six Management Board members.
The increase in bonus opportunity was agreed following a review by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Committee’s advisers, to identify any
changes to the existing arrangements that might be required in light
of the challenges management face in the current economic climate,
namely: the difficulty in setting stretching but credible long-term
performance targets against a backdrop of limited long-term visibility
and increased economic uncertainty; and retention and motivation in
a downturn.
Following this review, and in the light of significant uncertain future
economic conditions, the Remuneration Committee decided to reduce
the PSP awards to 50% of salary (previously 150% for executive
Directors) and to increase the bonus opportunity and, as explained
below, to require an increased deferral into shares..

200
150
100
50
0
June 03

June 04

June 05

June 06

June 07

June 08

For the financial year ending 30 June 2009, 45% of any bonus awarded
for both executive Directors and the six Management Board members
will be deferred into shares and released subject to continuous
employment after a period of three years ending 30 June 2012. In
addition, 25% of any bonus awarded will be compulsorily deferred into
the DAB and only 30% of the bonus awarded will be paid in cash.

Hays
FTSE 350
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Release of the Matching Award under the DAB, of one share for
every one share deferred, will be based equally on the following
three performance conditions:
Ŷ a Group EPS target, which is a key underlying performance measure
in Hays’ business (and the industry), and is understood by both capital
markets and management.
Ŷ International Net Fees as a percentage of total net fees, which will
incentivise management towards achieving Hays’ long-term strategic
object of increasing International Net Fees above 50% of total
Net Fees.
Ŷ Cash Conversion, which will measure the conversion of operating
profit into cash (post working capital and capital expenditure)
which is a key indicator of the business’s efficiency.
In consequence, the awards under the PSP which had been
anticipated to normally have a value of 150% of base salary, will
be reduced to 50% of base salary for the next financial year for
Mr A R Cox and Mr P Venables and for the six eligible Management
Board members.
The performance conditions associated with this PSP award will be
based equally on the following two conditions:
Ŷ a Group EPS target, which is a key underlying performance measure
in Hays’ business (and the industry), and is understood by both
capital markets and management.
Ŷ Cash Conversion, which will measure the conversion of operating
profit into cash which is a key indicator of the business’s efficiency.
As at 1 September 2008 the Remuneration Committee had not
finalised the targets for either the DAB or the PSP awards.
The Remuneration Committee will reconsider the mix of short
and long-term incentives for subsequent years, in June 2009.
Special arrangements for Mr D R Waxman
On 19 December 2006, Mr D R Waxman’s service contract dated
10 March 1998 was extended past his normal retirement date of
17 February 2007. In accordance with the terms of the revised service
contract, 12 months’ notice of termination of employment was served
on 7 June 2007. Mr Waxman retired from the Board at the conclusion
of the Annual General Meeting on 15 November 2007 and became
entitled to compensation in respect of the unserved notice period from
15 November 2007 to 6 June 2008, taking account of salary, pension
supplement benefits and bonus in respect of that period. During his
extended period of service, Mr Waxman’s bonus opportunity was a
payment of up to 100% of base salary, pro rated to 6 June 2008.
The Remuneration Committee decided that in the light of the
financial performance of the business during the financial year
up to 15 November 2007 and that as Mr Waxman had successfully
maintained the strategic health of the business during the handover
to his successor, a full bonus pro rated to 6 June 2008 would be paid.
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As part of the special arrangements put in place, Mr Waxman was
entitled to participate in a special incentive arrangement. For the
financial year ended 30 June 2007, the incentive related to 194,710
Hays shares (the Annual Share Number). For the financial year ended
30 June 2008 the incentive related to 179,732 shares, being the
Annual Share Number pro rated to reflect the period from 1 July 2007
to 6 June 2008. Full details of the performance conditions applicable
to the special incentive awards are set out beneath the table on page
56. In relation to the aggregate number of shares determined to vest
under these incentive arrangements, half (187,221) were released on
12 December 2007 (within two months of Mr Waxman’s retirement
date) and the other half will be released on 15 November 2008.
Share options
The Company continues to operate the Hays UK Sharesave Scheme
(which is open to all eligible staff in the United Kingdom) and the Hays
International Sharesave Scheme (which is open to staff in certain other
countries where the Group has operations).
Service contracts
The Company’s policy on service contracts is that executive Directors’
contracts should be terminable on not more than one year’s notice.
In the event of early termination of a Director’s service contract, the
Company would be required to pay compensation reflecting the salary
and benefits to which the Director would have become entitled under
the contract during the notice period. Alternatively, the Company may,
at its discretion, pay a predetermined termination sum in lieu of notice.
In the event of early termination, the Remuneration Committee will give
careful consideration to what compensation should be paid taking into
account the circumstances and the responsibility of the individual to
mitigate loss. The contract details of the current Directors are:

R A Lawson
A R Cox
P Venables

Current contract
start date

Unexpired term

Notice period

July 2001
Sept 2007
May 2006

Indefinite
Indefinite
Indefinite

One year
One year
One year

Details of the service contract of Mr Waxman, who retired on
15 November 2007, are set out on this page.
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Non-executive Directors
The payment policy for non-executive Directors is to pay the market
rate to secure persons of a suitable calibre for a group of this size.
The remuneration of the non-executive Directors is determined by
the Board. The responsibility of the role and international nature of
the Group are fully considered when setting the fee level along with
external benchmarking market data on non-executive Directors who
chair Board Committees.
The non-executive Directors’ fees are non-pensionable. The non-executive
Directors are not eligible to participate in any incentive plans.
The non-executive Directors do not have service contracts with the
Company. They have letters of appointment that appoint them to the
Board for an initial three year period. These are available from the
Company Secretary for review. They are subject to retirement and reappointment by shareholders after that initial period and appointments
can be terminated immediately by the Company.
The Company permits its executive Directors to hold one non-executive
directorship. At present no executive Directors, excluding the Chairman,
hold any external directorships.
Mr N A McLachlan
Mr N A McLachlan was Group Finance Director until he was forced to
stand down as a Director on 8 September 2003 following a period of
ill health. Under his service contract, he was entitled to receive Permanent
Health payments for a period of five and a half years, unless he was able
to return to full employment with the Company. Mr McLachlan ceased
to be entitled to these payments on 30 June 2008 and, in the light of
Mr McLachlan’s continuing ill health, the Remuneration Committee
requested that the Hays Pension Trustee consider awarding an
ill health pension of two thirds pensionable salary and waive the
reduction applied for early payment. Without this enhancement,
Mr McLachlan’s pension on his retirement on 1 July 2008 would
have been £40,617 per annum. Following the Trustee’s agreement, the
pension entitlement was increased to £75,200 per annum. The cost of
this augmentation was £1.5 million.
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Information subject to audit
Emoluments
The emoluments of the Directors (excluding pension costs) are shown below:

(in £’s thousand)

2008
Salary/
fees

2008
Payments
in lieu of
pension
contributions

2008
Car
allowance

2008
Benefit
in kind

2008
Performance
payments

2008
Bonus
payment

2008
Restricted
Share Award
payment

2008
Compensation
for loss of office

2008
Total
emoluments

2007
Total
emoluments

265

–

15

15

–

–

–

–

295

286

485
46
52
57

145
–
–
–

16
–
–
–

7
–
–
–

6002
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

1,481
46
52
57

–
46
7
57

28
46
432

–
–
130

–
–
18

–
–
1

–
–
4244

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

28
46
1,005

–
46
878

23

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

23

57

238
1,672

67
342

7
56

5
28

212
1,236

–
228

206
206

733
733

1,468
4,501

1,201
2,578

R A Lawson

1

A R Cox
(appointed 1 Sept 2007)

C W Eccleshare
P S Harrison
L M S Knox
R J Smelt
(appointed 15 Nov 2007)

P H Stoneham
P Venables
B G Wallace
(resigned 15 Nov 2007)

2283
–
–
–

D R Waxman
(resigned 15 Nov 2007)

Total

The remuneration of the highest paid Director, Mr A R Cox, was £1,481,000.
Mr G J Williams, who retired as a Director on 30 April 2003, received emoluments of £22,938 from his work as a trustee of the Hays
Pension Scheme.
Mr N A McLachlan, who resigned as a Director due to ill health on 8 September 2003, continued to be paid Permanent Health benefits in line
with the sickness provision contained in his contract up to 30 June 2008. His total emoluments for the year ended 30 June 2008 were £369,426.
He commenced drawing his pension on 1 July 2008 on the terms described on page 53.
The restricted share award payment made to Mr D R Waxman on 12 December 2007 represents 50% of the 2007 and 2008 restricted share
awards described on page 52.
Notes:
1. The non-cash element of the emoluments are disclosed as benefits in kind in the table and comprise car benefit or equivalent, and health insurance.
2. Mr A R Cox has elected to defer 100% (£600,000) of his annual performance payment for 2008, which he will receive as Deferred Rights in the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan.
3. A bonus payment of £228,000 was made to Mr A R Cox on appointment for loss of bonus payment from his previous employer.
4. Mr P Venables has elected to defer 50% (£211,974) of his annual performance payment for 2008, which he will receive as Deferred Rights in the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan.

Directors’ pension entitlement
The following Director was a member of the defined benefit schemes provided by the Company during the year. Voluntary contributions paid
by Directors and resulting benefits are not shown. Pension entitlements and corresponding transfer values changed during the year as follows:

(In £’s)

D R Waxman1

Annual pension
entitlement
30 June
2007

Gross
increase in
accrued
pension

166,444

2,580

Annual pension
entitlement
30 June
20082

169,024

Decrease in
accrued
pension net of
inflation3

(3,916)

Value of
net decrease
in accrual
over period

(73,381)

Value of accrued
pension at
30 June
2007

Total change
accrued in
value during
period4

Value of accrued
pension at
30 June
20085

3,043,647

136,681

3,180,328

Notes:
1. Mr D R Waxman commenced drawing his pension from the Hays Pension Scheme on 17 February 2007 and elected not to take any lump sum by way of pension commutation.
2. Pension accruals shown are the amounts that are paid annually on retirement based on service to the date of leaving the Scheme.
3. The value of net decreases represents the incremental value to the Director of his service during the year. It is based on the accrued pension increase after deducting any contributions made by the Director.
4. The change in the transfer value includes the effect of fluctuations in the transfer value due to factors beyond the control of the Company and Directors, such as stockmarket movements. It is calculated after deducting any Director’s contribution.
5. Transfer values have been calculated in accordance with version 9.2 of guidance note GN11 issued by the Board for Actuarial Standards.
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Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
The following table sets out the interests of the Directors in the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan. The nature of these interests is set out in the
footnotes below, and on pages 49 to 50.
Awards held at
30 June 2007

P Venables

31,449

Grant date

9 May 2007
21 Sep 2007

Shares purchased/
deferred rights
with bonus

18,555
91,1041

Matching
shares
awarded

Lapsed

31,449
91,104

–
–

Matching awards
held at 30 June
2008

Earliest
vesting date

31,499 30 June 2009
91,1042 30 June 2010

Notes:
1. Mr P Venables elected to defer 40% of his pre-tax bonus into deferred rights shares for the 2007/08 financial year.
2. Under the plan, participants are required to defer a minimum of 25% of any earned bonus into shares for a three year period, but can voluntarily defer any remaining bonus into shares. In relation to bonus deferred into shares, the Committee
may award matching shares to each participant, the vesting of which will depend on attainment of the performance conditions. Participants were able to voluntarily invest up to 100% of their pre tax bonus for the 2006/07 financial year (paid
in September 2007) into the plan. Maximum matching will only arise on achievement of a target based on the Group’s cumulative Earnings Per Share (EPS) and cumulative International Net Fees over the three financial years ending 30 June
2010. For this year’s award 75% of the award will vest depending upon achievement of the EPS target and 25% depending on the achievement of the International Net Fees target. Further details of the matching share performance conditions
are described on pages 49 to 50. The deferred shares were granted using the pre-tax bonus which would have been payable; the number of matching shares is determined by reference to the pre-tax amount of that bonus. The mid market
price per share at the date of grant was 140.50p.

Performance Share Plan
The following table sets out the interests of the Directors in the Performance Share Plan. The nature of these awards is set out in the footnotes
and on page 50.

A R Cox
P Venables

Awards held at
30 June 2007

Grant date

Granted

Vested

Lapsed

–
514,196
–

5 Sep 2007
3 Apr 2007
5 Sep 2007

766,773
–
414,632

–
–
–

–
–
–

Awards held at1
30 June 2008

766,773
514,196
414,632

Vesting date

30 June 2010
30 June 2009
30 June 2010

Notes:
1. Vesting of the award depends on the achievement of performance targets over the three financial years ending 30 June 2009 for the April 2007 award and over the three financial years ending 30 June 2010 for the September 2007
award. Vesting of one half of both awards depends on the Group’s cumulative earnings per share (EPS). The remaining half vests on the achievement of a target based on the Group’s cumulative Economic Profit. Further
information on the performance conditions applicable to the September 2007 grant is set out on pages 50 to 51. The mid market price per share at the date of grant was 154.75p.

Long Term Incentive Performance Conditions
The performance conditions used for the April 2007 awards, across a performance period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2009 were:
Deferred Annual Bonus
EPS – 75% of the award will vest on a straight-line basis from 30% to 100% if cumulative EPS growth (on a fully diluted basis) is between
RPI +4% p.a. and RPI + 12% p.a. across the period.
International Net Fee growth – 25% of the award will vest on a straight-line basis from 30% to 100% if the three year cumulative International
Net Fee growth is between £674 million and £775 million.
Performance Share Plan
EPS – 50% of the award will vest on a straight-line basis from 30% to 100% if cumulative EPS growth (on a fully diluted basis) is between
RPI +4% p.a. and RPI + 12% p.a. across the period.
Economic Profit – 50% of the award will vest on a straight-line basis from 30% to 100% if the three year cumulative Economic Profit growth, as
defined on page 49, is between £391 million and £456 million. The tax rate for the award was fixed at 30% for the three year period and the
WACC was fixed at 9% for the period.
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Other conditional share awards
The following table sets out the interests of the Directors in certain conditional share awards. The nature of these awards is set out in the
footnotes below.

A R Cox1
P Venables2
D R Waxman3

Awards held at
30 June 2007

Grant date

Granted

Vested

Lapsed

Awards held at
30 June 2008

Vesting
date

–
41,420
194,710
–

3 Sep 2007
2 May 2006
19 Dec 2006
3 Sep 2007

387,096
–
–
179,732

–
–
194,710
179,732

–
–
–
–

387,096
41,420
–
–

1 Oct 2010
14 Dec 2008
15 Nov 2007
15 Nov 2007

Notes:
1. A Restricted Share Award equivalent to the market value of £600,000 was awarded to Mr A R Cox on joining the Company. This will vest over the first three years of Mr Cox’s employment starting from 1 July 2007. One sixth of the award will
vest each year subject to continuing employment and one sixth will vest each year if the Group PBT growth exceeds RPI + 3% measured from the 30 June 2007 base year.
2. This Restricted Share award was granted to Mr P Venables on terms equivalent to those of the Company’s Deferred Equity Share Plan, modified to enable an award to be made to an executive Director. Vesting is dependent on Mr Venables
remaining in the Company’s employment at the vesting date. The award is linked to Mr Venables’ award under the Long Term Co-Investment Plan as described in the table on page 57.
3. The award granted to Mr D R Waxman is part of a special incentive arrangement following the Company’s agreement with Mr Waxman to extend his service contract beyond his retirement date of 17 February 2007, pending the appointment
of his successor. Under the arrangement, Mr Waxman was granted a conditional award over 194,710 Ordinary shares (the Annual Share Number) in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2007 determined by dividing £300,000 by the
market value of a share averaged over the 20 business days before the execution of Mr Waxman’s extended service agreement.
A second award of 179,732 Ordinary shares was made to Mr Waxman on 3 September 2007 in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2008, which was calculated by taking the Annual Share Number and pro-rating it across the period
1 July 2007 to 6 June 2008. The mid market price per share at the date of grant of Mr Waxman’s second award was 158.97 pence.
Both awards vested following Mr Waxman’s retirement and were contingent on the achievement of the following performance conditions:
– 20% of the Annual Share Number for both the financial years ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008, were subject to non-financial targets relating to the strategic health of the business at either the end of the relevant financial year or at
the time of handover to his successor, and maintaining the momentum of the business during the handover period.
– 80% of the Annual Share Number for both the financial years ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008, was subject to financial targets (the Financial Target) based on Profit Before Tax (PBT) for the relevant financial year equalling or
exceeding levels determined by the Remuneration Committee.
For the financial year ended 30 June 2007, if PBT equalled or exceeded £210m, then all of the shares under this element of the incentive would vest in full. If PBT was £200m then 30% of the shares under this element of the incentive would
vest. Vesting of shares for PBT between £200m and £210m would be determined on a straight-line basis between 30% and 100%. If PBT was less than £200m, then no shares under this element of the incentive would vest. The PBT for the
financial year ended 30 June 2007 was £211.7m and accordingly the full entitlement vested.
For the financial year ended 30 June 2008, the Financial Target applied in a similar way as in 2007. The Committee determined the upper and lower elements of the Financial Target, as £222m and £238m. The Financial Target was assessed by
reference to the Company’s actual PBT at the end of the four week period in which Mr Waxman retired from the Board, compared to the upper and lower elements of the Financial Target for the year (the calculation was based on the assumption
that the PBT accrued evenly over the financial year).

The Remuneration Committee determined that the criteria for both awards had been met in full and accordingly each award vested. Half of the
aggregate number of shares that vested (187,221 Ordinary shares) was released to Mr Waxman on the 12 December 2007. The mid market
price per share at the date of release was 111.50p. The balance will be released to him on 15 November 2008.
Directors’ interest in shares
The beneficial interests of the Directors in office as at 30 June 2008 in the Ordinary shares of the Company at 30 June 2008 are set out below:
Shares as at:

30 June 2008

30 June 2007

R A Lawson
A R Cox
C W Eccleshare
P S Harrison
L M S Knox
R J Smelt1
P H Stoneham
P Venables

175,287
–
3,000
8,678
8,000
8,267
–
159,2442

175,287
–
3,000
–
8,000
–
–
48,140

1. On appointment.
2. The shares disclosed for Mr P Venables include 109,659 deferred shares and rights held in the Deferred Annual Bonus plan as described above.
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Long Term Co-Investment Plan
From December 2003 to December 2005, the Company made invitations under the Long Term Co-Investment Plan.
The key features of the Plan were:
Ŷ participants had an annual opportunity to commit shares (Committed Shares) to the Plan, and can become entitled to receive matching shares
if the Company outperforms its peers.
Ŷ executive Directors could invest as Committed Shares an amount up to 30% of annual remuneration. The number of matching shares available
depends on the Company’s Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance relative to a peer group of 15 recruitment companies (including Hays) based
in the United Kingdom and elsewhere. For all the grants, the comparator companies include: Adecco SA; Robert Half International Inc; Manpower Inc;
Monster Worldwide Inc; Vedior NV; Kelly Services Inc; Michael Page International Plc; Spring Group Plc; Robert Walters Plc; Randstad Holdings NV;
OPD Group Plc; Whitehead Mann Group Plc; Corporate Services Group Plc; and Harvey Nash Group Plc. TSR is calculated in pounds sterling.
Ŷ the maximum matching opportunity is five matching shares (pre-tax) for every Committed Share. Matching at this level will only occur in the
event of the Company ranking first in the peer group. No matching shares will vest for sub-median performance.
Ŷ matching shares vest three years after participants have been invited to participate, subject to achievement of the performance measure,
retention of the Committed Shares throughout the relevant period and the individual participant’s continued employment with the Group.
The executive Directors have committed the following shares to the plan, representing in each case the maximum that they were invited to commit. As a
consequence they could become entitled to the maximum number of matching shares shown below (without payment and prior to income tax on
those shares):

D R Waxman
P Venables

Date of invitation

Committed shares

Matching shares
(maximum)

Matching shares
(lapsed during year)

Matching shares
(vested during year)

Gain on award £

Earliest
vesting date

21 Dec 20041
14 Dec 2005
2 May 20062

118,000
183,501
71,005

590,000
917,505
355,025

552,341
–
–

37,659
–
–

42,837
–
–

21 Dec 2007
14 Dec 2008
14 Dec 2008

Notes:
1. The 2004 award made under the CIP vested in December 2007, and participants became entitled to a 33% match of their Committed Share based on the Company’s TSR performance over the three year period to December 2007.
On 21 December 2007, Hays was ranked in 8th position out of the peer group of 15 companies. The mid market price per share on date of vesting was 113.75p.
2. Mr P Venables’ Committed Shares and matching shares formed part of special arrangements implemented in connection with his recruitment as Group Finance Director. Under these arrangements Mr Venables was granted a conditional
right to receive 41,420 shares (the Restricted Share Award), as set out in Other Conditional Share Awards on page 56. In return for committing 71,005 shares on terms broadly equivalent to the Company’s Long Term Co-Investment Plan,
Mr Venables became potentially entitled (without payment) to the matching shares stated above subject to satisfaction of the same performance conditions as applied to the December 2005 invitations to other executives. The shares under
the Restricted Share Award to Mr P Venables count towards the maximum number of shares he has committed, even though he is not the beneficial owner of such shares prior to their vesting. Any Restricted Shares or matching shares to
which Mr Venables becomes entitled will be satisfied out of existing shares only.
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Share options
The Company operates two executive share option plans, although grants have ceased to be made under both of these plans: the Hays plc 1995
Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS) (which is unapproved for HMRC purposes) and the Hays plc 1996 Company Share Option Plan (CSOP)
(which is an HMRC approved scheme).
Options cannot be exercised under the 1995 ESOS and 1996 CSOP unless performance criteria are met. The performance criteria require
growth in Earnings Per Share (EPS) to have exceeded the growth rate in the RPI by 2% per annum in a three year period prior to exercise. The
performance measures were selected so as to align participants’ and shareholders’ interests. The EPS criteria were selected as EPS is a widely
recognised, transparent measure of underlying performance. Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value
of options to acquire Ordinary shares in the Company granted to or held by the Director.
The following are options over Ordinary shares held by Directors during the year ended 30 June 2008:

Scheme

R A Lawson

A R Cox
P Venables

D R Waxman

Total

30 June
2007

1996
CSOP 22,770
1995
ESOS 374,308
UK
Sharesave
–
UK
Sharesave
2,661
UK
Sharesave
–
1995
ESOS 98,500
1995
ESOS 58,611
1995
ESOS 65,995
UK
Sharesave
9,475
632,320

30 June
2008

Option
price

Exercised

Granted

Lapsed

–

–

–

–

–

– 374,308 117.13p

–

9,795

–

9,795

–

–

–

2,661 142.00p

–

5,877

–

5,877

–

–

–

98,500 187.80p

–

–

–

58,611 358.27p

–

–

–

65,995 348.49p

9,475
9,475

–
15,672

22,770 131.75p

98.00p

98.00p

–
– 100.00p
– 638,517

Date from
which
exercisable

19 Sep 19 Sep
2004
2011
19 Sep 19 Sep
2004
2011
1 May
1 Nov
2011
2011
1 Jan 30 June
2010
2010
1 May
1 Nov
2011
2011
21 Sep 21 Sep
2001
2008
11 Nov 11 Nov
2002
2009
26 Sep 26 Sep
2003
2010
1 Jan 30 June
2008
2008

The market price at 30 June 2008 was 90.50 pence per share. During the year the shares traded in the range 88.00 pence to 179.75 pence (prices at mid market close).

By order of the Board.
A R Yapp
Company Secretary
1 September 2008
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Expiry
date

Exercise
date

Market price
on date of
exercise

Gain
on exercise
(£)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–
–
4 Apr
2008 118.75p

–
1,777
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Hays plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of Hays plc for the
year ended 30 June 2008 which comprise the consolidated Income
Statement, the consolidated Balance Sheet, the consolidated Cash Flow
Statement, the consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and
Expense and the related notes 1 to 34. These Group financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set
out therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report for the
above year as described in the contents section and consider whether
it is consistent with the audited Group financial statements. We consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any further information
outside the Annual Report.

We have reported separately on the parent Company financial
statements of Hays plc for the year ended 30 June 2008.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the Group financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work,
for this report or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Group financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial
statements give a true and fair view, whether the Group financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and whether
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having been
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information
given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Group financial
statements.
In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding Director’s remuneration and other transactions
is not disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the
Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006 Combined
Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to
consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all
risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information
in the Group financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.
Opinion
In our opinion:
I

the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the
Group’s affairs as at 30 June 2008 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

I

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation;

I

the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as having
been audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985; and

I

the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the Group financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London, United Kingdom
1 September 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 30 June

(In £’s million)

Turnover
Continuing operations
Net fees
Continuing operations
Operating profit from continuing operations before exceptional items
Exceptional items
Operating profit from continuing operations
Finance income
Finance cost
Profit before tax
Tax
Profit from continuing operations after tax
Profit from discontinued operations
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
Earnings per share from continuing operations before exceptional items
– Basic
– Diluted
Earnings per share from continuing operations
– Basic
– Diluted
Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
– Basic
– Diluted

Note

2008

2007

4

2,540.0

2,110.2

4
5
4
8
8

9
10

12
12
12
12
12
12

786.8
253.8
15.3
269.1
3.2
(7.9)
(4.7)
264.4
(76.6)
187.8
0.4
188.2

633.6
216.1
–
216.1
1.5
(5.9)
(4.4)
211.7
(63.6)
148.1
18.4
166.5

12.59p
12.53p

10.19p
10.13p

13.37p
13.30p

10.19p
10.13p

13.40p
13.33p

11.46p
11.39p

Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense for the year ended 30 June
(In £’s million)

Profit for the financial year
Currency translation adjustments taken to equity
Actuarial (losses)/profits on defined benefit pension scheme
Tax on items taken directly to equity
Net (expense)/income recognised directly in equity
Total recognised income and expense for the year
Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent
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Note

2008

2007

188.2
25.4
(71.2)
19.9
(25.9)
162.3
162.3

166.5
(0.9)
12.9
(4.7)
7.3
173.8
173.8
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Consolidated Balance Sheet at 30 June

(In £’s million)

Non-current assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Note

2008

2007

13

168.9
5.4
32.2
38.7
245.2

157.7
4.3
25.2
22.7
209.9

442.3
54.0
496.3
741.5

375.7
68.4
444.1
654.0

19

(306.5)
(29.7)
(336.2)

(252.4)
(31.7)
(284.1)

18

(135.1)
(13.6)
(88.1)
(45.5)
(282.3)
(618.5)
123.0

(144.6)
(19.6)
(43.5)
(50.2)
(257.9)
(542.0)
112.0

14.7
369.6
2.7
(307.0)
43.0
123.0

15.7
369.6
1.7
(288.7)
13.7
112.0

14
15
22

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

16
17

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts
Trade and other payables
Retirement benefit obligations
Provisions

19
20
21

Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Capital redemption reserve
Retained earnings
Other reserves
Total shareholders’ equity

23
24
25
26
27

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 1 September 2008.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors
R A Lawson

P Venables
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June

(In £’s million)

Operating profit from continuing operations
Adjustments for:
Exceptional items – non cash
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets
Net movement in provisions
Movement in employee benefits and other items

Note

5

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital
Changes in working capital
Increase in receivables
Increase in payables
Cash generated by operations
Income taxes paid
Net cash from operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Cash paid in respect of acquisitions made in previous years
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Sale of businesses and related assets – discontinued
Sale of businesses and related assets – continuing
Interest received
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Interest paid
Equity dividends paid
Cash outflow in respect of share buy-back
Purchase of own shares
Proceeds from share option exercises
(Repayment) / issue of loan notes
(Decrease) / increase in bank overdrafts
Additional pension scheme funding
Net cash used in financing activities
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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34
34

2008

2007

269.1

216.1

(15.3)
9.6
1.7
(5.9)
11.9
2.0
271.1

–
7.3
0.4
(6.1)
8.5
10.1
226.2

(42.6)
27.5
(15.1)
256.0
(74.1)
181.9

(38.9)
44.8
5.9
232.1
(70.7)
161.4

(14.8)
0.1
(6.7)
–
–
0.6
–
3.2
(17.6)

(12.3)
0.2
(2.8)
(0.3)
(22.8)
0.8
0.8
1.5
(34.9)

(10.4)
(74.0)
(91.1)
(0.7)
2.8
(0.8)
(8.7)
(2.5)
(185.4)
(21.1)
68.4
6.7
54.0

(5.9)
(65.5)
(58.2)
(0.4)
3.8
0.2
14.6
–
(111.4)
15.1
52.8
0.5
68.4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. General information
Hays plc is a company incorporated in Great Britain and its registered
office is 250 Euston Road, London NW1 2AF.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and therefore comply
with Article 4 of the European Union International Accounting
Standard (IAS) Regulation.
New standards and interpretations
During the year ended 30 June 2008, the Group adopted the
following amendments to IFRSs, IAS and the International
Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC). None of
these had a material impact on consolidated results or assets
and liabilities.
IFRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures and the related
amendment to IAS 1 on capital disclosures

IFRIC 7

Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29
‘Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies’

IFRIC 9

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
IFRIC 11 Group and Treasury Share Transactions
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the
following Standards and Interpretations which have not been
applied in these financial statements were in issue but not
yet effective:
IFRS 1 (revised) Amendment relating to Cost of investment
on First Time Adoption
IFRS 2 (revised) Share-Based Payments
IFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations
IFRS 8 (revised) Operating Segments
IAS 23 (revised) Borrowing Costs
IFRIC 12

Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 13

Customer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC 14

An interpretation of IAS 19

IFRIC 15

Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate

IFRIC 16

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation

The Group’s principal accounting policies adopted in the presentation
of these financial statements are set out below and have been
consistently applied to all the periods presented.

2. Significant accounting policies
a Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs adopted for use in the European Union
and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis.
b Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which power
to control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date on which control ceases.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. On acquisition the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair
values at the date of acquisition. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. The financial statements consolidate
the accounts of Hays plc and all of its subsidiary undertakings
(‘subsidiaries’). The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included from the effective date of acquisition
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.
c Turnover
Turnover is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts,
VAT and other sales related taxes.
Turnover arising from the placement of permanent candidates
is recognised at the time the candidate commences full-time
employment. Provision is made for the expected cost of meeting
obligations where employees do not work for the specified
contractual period.
Turnover arising from temporary placements is recognised over the
period that temporary staff are provided. Where the Group is acting
as a principal, turnover represents the amounts billed for the services
of the temporary staff, including the salary costs of those staff.

A number of improvements to IFRSs were issued in May 2008
and the requirements are effective over a range of dates, with the
earliest effective date being for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2009.

Where Hays acts as principal in arrangements that invoice on behalf
of other recruitment agencies, turnover represents amounts invoiced
and collected on behalf of other recruitment agencies including
arrangements where no commission is directly receivable by the Group.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and
Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group except for additional
disclosures on capital and financial instruments when the relevant
standards come into effect for subsequent periods.

Where the Group is acting as an agent, turnover represents
commission receivable relating to the supply of temporary staff and
does not include the salary costs of the temporary staff. Where the
Group receives income in respect of payroll processing, only the
service fee element of this service is recognised as turnover.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued
d Net fees
Net fees represent turnover less the remuneration costs of temporary
workers for temporary assignments. For the placement of permanent
candidates, net fees are equal to turnover.
e Exceptional items
Exceptional items, as disclosed on the face of the Income Statement,
are items which due to their size and non-recurring nature have
been classified separately in order to draw them to the attention
of the reader of the accounts and to show more accurately the
underlying profits of the Group.
f Foreign currencies
On consolidation, the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities
of foreign subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into sterling at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Income and expense items are translated into sterling at average
rates of exchange for the period. Any exchange differences which
have arisen from an entity’s investment in a foreign subsidiary,
including long-term loans, are recognised as a separate component
of equity and are to be included in the Group’s translation reserve.
On disposal of a subsidiary, any amounts transferred to the
translation reserve are included in the calculation of profit and
loss on disposal. All other translation differences are dealt with
in the Income Statement.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
g Retirement benefit costs
The expense of defined benefit pension schemes and other postretirement employee benefits is determined using the projected
unit credit method and charged to the Income Statement as an
expense, based on actuarial assumptions reflecting market conditions
at the beginning of the financial year. Actuarial gains and losses
are recognised in full in the statement of recognised income and
expenditure in the period in which they occur. Past service costs
are recognised immediately to the extent that benefits have vested,
or if not vested, on a straight-line basis over the period until the
benefits vest.
The Group has chosen under IFRS 1 to recognise in retained
earnings all cumulative actuarial gains and losses as at 1 July 2004,
the date of transition to IFRS. The Group has chosen to recognise
all actuarial gains and losses arising subsequent to 1 July 2004 in
the consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.
The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the Balance Sheet
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the
fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation
is limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available
refunds and reductions in future contributions to the scheme.
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Payments to defined contribution schemes are charged as an
expense as they fall due.
h Share-based payments
The fair value of all share-based remuneration which is assessed
upon market based performance criteria is determined at the date
of grant and recognised as an expense in the Income Statement
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, taking account of
the estimated number of shares that will vest.
The fair value of all share-based remuneration which is assessed
upon non-market based performance criteria is determined at the
date of the grant and recognised as an expense in the Income
Statement over the vesting period based on the number of shares
which are expected to vest. The number of shares which are
expected to vest is adjusted accordingly to the satisfaction
of the performance criteria at each period end.
The fair values are determined by use of the relevant valuation
models. All share-based remuneration is equity settled.
i Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
j Taxation
The tax expense comprises both current and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income
Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is provided in full on all temporary differences, at rates
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which to
offset the deductible temporary differences.
Temporary differences arise where there is a difference between
the accounting carrying value in the Balance Sheet and the
amount attributed to that asset or liability for tax purposes.
Deferred tax is provided on unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
and associates, where the Group is unable to control the timing
of the distribution, and it is probable that the temporary difference
will reverse in the future.
k Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of
purchase consideration less the fair value of the identifiable
tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired.
Goodwill is recognised as an asset and reviewed for impairment
at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in
profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed.
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On disposal of a business the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to
IFRS (1 July 2004) has been retained at the previous UK GAAP
amounts subject to being tested for impairment at that date.
Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 July 1998 was written
off direct to reserves under UK GAAP. This goodwill has not been
reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent profit
or loss on disposal.
l Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination are
stated in the Balance Sheet at their fair value as at the date of
acquisition less accumulated amortisation and any provision for
impairment. The Directors review intangible assets for indications
of impairment, annually.
Internally generated intangible assets are stated in the Balance
Sheet at the directly attributable cost of creation of the asset,
less accumulated amortisation. Intangible assets are amortised
systematically over their estimated useful lives up to a maximum
of ten years. Software is amortised between three and five years.
m Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, net of depreciation
and any provision for impairment. Depreciation is provided on a
straight-line basis over the anticipated useful working lives of the
assets, after they have been brought into use, at the following rates:
Freehold land

–

No depreciation is provided

Freehold buildings

–

At rates varying between 2% and 10%

Leasehold properties –

The book value is written off over the
unexpired term of the lease

Plant and machinery

–

At rates varying between 5% and 33%

Fixtures and fittings

–

At rates varying between 10% and 25%

n Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at fair value after appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts have been
recognised in the Income Statement where there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.
o Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and current
balances with banks and similar institutions which are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to insignificant risk of changes in value.
p Trade payables
Trade payables are measured at fair value.
q Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or
redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual
basis in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method and
are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent
that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.
r Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the leasing
agreement transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership. Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at fair value or if lower, at the present value
of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception
of the lease. The capital element of future rentals is treated as a
liability. The interest element is charged directly against income
over the period of the finance lease in proportion to the balance
of the capital repayments outstanding.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Income
Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
s Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event for which it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. If the effect is
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability.

3. Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty
(i) Retirement benefit obligations
Under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, the Group has recognised a
pension deficit of £88.1 million (2007 – £43.5 million). The change
in the deficit is mainly attributable to reductions in the market
value and returns from assets in the period combined with changes
in the benefit obligations as a result of changes in the inflation
assumptions. The main assumptions are set out in note 20
of the financial statements.
(ii) Goodwill impairment
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis. In performing
these tests, assumptions are made in respect of future growth
rates and the discount rate to be applied to the future cash flows
of income generating units. These assumptions are set out in
note 13 of the financial statements.
(iii) Provisions in respect of disposed businesses
As described in note 21, provisions in respect of disposed businesses
have been made. In assessing the adequacy of these provisions,
estimates are made of probable cash outflows in the future.
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4. Segmental information
Continuing operations comprise one class of business, the specialist recruitment activities. The Group operates in three identified geographical
segments. These results by geography are shown below.
Turnover and profit from operations
(In £’s million)

Turnover from continuing operations
United Kingdom & Ireland
Continental Europe & Rest of World
Asia Pacific
Net fees from continuing operations
United Kingdom & Ireland
Continental Europe & Rest of World
Asia Pacific
Operating profit from continuing operations
United Kingdom & Ireland
Operating profit from continuing operations before exceptional items
Exceptional items
Continental Europe & Rest of World
Asia Pacific

2008

2007

1,571.5
482.2
486.3
2,540.0

1,413.7
353.2
343.3
2,110.2

452.9
157.7
176.2
786.8

417.1
102.5
114.0
633.6

137.3
15.3
152.6
33.1
83.4
269.1

140.8
–
140.8
21.1
54.2
216.1

There is no material difference between the split of the Group’s turnover by geographic origin and destination.
Consolidated balance sheet extracts
at 30 June 2008

(In £’s million)

Goodwill & intangible fixed assets
Property, plant & equipment
Net working capital & other
Provisions for liabilities & charges
Retirement benefit obligations
Net debt
Net assets / (liabilities)
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United Continental
Kingdom
Europe
& Ireland
& RoW

96.7
20.4
119.2
–
–
236.3
–
236.3

58.9
8.4
27.7
(0.4)
–
94.6
–
94.6

Asia
Pacific

18.7
3.4
19.9
–
–
42.0
–
42.0

Corporate
& Other

–
–
(35.6)
(45.1)
(88.1)
(168.8)
(81.1)
(249.9)

Group

174.3
32.2
131.2
(45.5)
(88.1)
204.1
(81.1)
123.0
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4. Segmental information continued
Consolidated balance sheet extracts continued
at 30 June 2007
(In £’s million)

Goodwill & intangible fixed assets
Property, plant & equipment
Net working capital & other
Provisions for liabilities & charges
Retirement benefit obligations
Net debt
Net assets / (liabilities)

United Continental
Kingdom
Europe
& Ireland
& RoW

96.1
18.4
99.9
(0.2)
–
214.2
–
214.2

50.1
4.5
17.5
(0.3)
–
71.8
–
71.8

Asia
Pacific

15.8
1.9
24.0
–
–
41.7
–
41.7

Corporate
& Other

–
0.4
(46.7)
(49.7)
(43.5)
(139.5)
(76.2)
(215.7)

Group

162.0
25.2
94.7
(50.2)
(43.5)
188.2
(76.2)
112.0

Corporate & Other includes assets and liabilities relating to certain assets and liabilities that are managed at the Group level including cash
and borrowings, Group pension and employee benefits, intercompany balances and corporate tax balances.
Consolidated cash flow statement extracts
for the year ended 30 June 2008

(In £’s million)

Operating profit from continuing operations
Exceptional item – non cash
Depreciation / amortisation of tangible / intangible assets
Movement in working capital & other
Cash generated by operations
Capital expenditure

United Continental
Kingdom
Europe
& Ireland
& RoW

152.6
(15.3)
7.6
(13.0)
131.9
(13.1)

33.1
–
2.2
(4.8)
30.5
(5.4)

Asia
Pacific

83.4
–
1.5
(5.9)
79.0
(3.0)

Corporate
& Other

–
–
–
14.6
14.6
–

Group

269.1
(15.3)
11.3
(9.1)
256.0
(21.5)

for the year ended 30 June 2007
(In £’s million)

Operating profit from continuing operations
Depreciation / amortisation of tangible / intangible assets
Movement in working capital & other
Cash generated by operations
Capital expenditure

United Continental
Kingdom
Europe
& Ireland
& RoW

140.8
5.6
31.4
177.8
(10.5)

21.1
1.2
(11.3)
11.0
(3.2)

Asia
Pacific

54.2
0.7
(7.3)
47.6
(1.4)

Corporate
& Other

–
0.2
(4.5)
(4.3)
–

Group

216.1
7.7
8.3
232.1
(15.1)

5. Exceptional items
During the year the Group amended the terms of its defined benefit pension scheme. This amendment restricts the annual increase in
pensionable pay/qualifying earnings to the lower of inflation or 5%. The effect of this change is a curtailment benefit which has been
recognised in the Income Statement as an exceptional credit of £22.0 million. Also during the year, the Group has initiated a Group-wide
project to transform its IT infrastructure, software and business operations. This has led the Directors to conclude that the carrying value
of certain intangible and tangible assets that were previously used in its operations are impaired and they have been written down by
£6.7 million. The exceptional credit generated a tax charge of £4.3 million.
There was no cash impact from the exceptional items.
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6. Operating profit from continuing operations
The following costs are deducted from turnover to determine net fees from continuing operations:
2008

(In £’s million)

Turnover
Remuneration of temporary workers
Net fees

2007

2,540.0 2,110.2
(1,753.2) (1,476.6)
786.8
633.6

Profit from operations is stated after charging / (crediting) the following items to net fees of £786.8 million (2007 – £633.6 million):

(In £’s million)

2008
Before
2008
exceptional Exceptional
Note
items
items

Staff costs
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Auditors remuneration
– for statutory audit services
– for other services
Other external charges

7

2008
Total

2007
Total

400.1
9.6
1.7

(22.0)
2.7
4.0

378.1
12.3
5.7

316.5
7.3
0.4

0.9
0.3
120.4
533.0

–
–
–
(15.3)

0.9
0.3
120.4
517.7

0.8
0.3
92.2
417.5

2008

2007

0.3

0.3

0.6
0.9
0.1
0.2
0.3

0.5
0.8
0.1
0.2
0.3

(In £’s million)

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation
Total audit fees
Other services pursuant to legislation
Other services
Total non-audit fees

Fees payable to Deloitte and their associates for non-audit services to the Company are not required to be disclosed because the financial
statements are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

7. Staff costs
The aggregate staff remuneration (including executive Directors) was:

(In £’s million)

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Share-based payments

2008
Before
2008
exceptional Exceptional
items
items

336.7
39.0
12.8
11.6
400.1

–
–
(22.0)
–
(22.0)

2008
Total

336.7
39.0
(9.2)
11.6
378.1

2007
Total

265.8
30.3
11.5
8.9
316.5

Average number of persons employed (including executive Directors):
(Number)

Continuing operations
United Kingdom & Ireland
Continental Europe & Rest of World
Asia Pacific
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2008

2007

5,350
1,922
1,372
8,644

4,821
1,398
1,077
7,296
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8. Finance income and finance costs
Finance income
(In £’s million)

Interest on bank deposits

2008

2007

3.2

1.5

2008

2007

Finance costs
(In £’s million)

Interest payable on bank overdrafts and loans
Pension Protection Fund levy
Net interest on pension obligations

(10.4)
(0.5)
3.0
(7.9)
(4.7)

Net finance charge

(7.4)
(0.4)
1.9
(5.9)
(4.4)

9. Tax
The tax charge for the year was based on the following:
(In £’s million)

Current tax
Deferred tax

2008
Continuing

2008
Discontinued

2008
Total

71.8
4.8
76.6

0.2
–
0.2

72.0
4.8
76.8

2007
Continuing

69.7
(6.1)
63.6

2007
Discontinued

2007
Total

(17.3)
–
(17.3)

52.4
(6.1)
46.3

(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Deferred tax on actuarial (loss) / gain on defined benefit schemes offset in reserves
Deferred tax arising on a change in the rate of UK corporation tax from 30% to 28%

19.9
–
19.9

(3.6)
(1.1)
(4.7)

Tax on items taken directly to equity:

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The current tax charge for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 29.5% (2007 – 30%). The differences are
explained below:
(In £’s million)

Profit from continuing operations
Profit on ordinary activities before tax at the standard rate of UK corporation tax of 29.5% (2007 – 30%)
Factors affecting charge for year:
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Adjustment in respect of foreign tax rates
Prior year adjustments
Other permanent differences
Unrelieved overseas losses
Overseas profits covered by brought forward losses not previously recognised
Tax on overseas income
Recognition of deferred tax asset in France
Adjustment in respect of UK deferred tax rate
Impact of IFRS2 charges and share options
Tax on continuing operations
Effective tax rate for the year on continuing operations

2008

2007

264.4
78.0

211.7
63.5

0.1
(0.5)
(4.4)
–
1.3
(2.6)
0.7
–
(0.2)
4.2
76.6
29.0%

0.5
0.1
–
(0.4)
0.6
(1.4)
2.7
(2.0)
–
–
63.6
30.0%

Included in the profit from continuing activities before tax of £264.4 million is an exceptional credit of £15.3 million (2007 – nil). The
exceptional credit generated a tax charge of £4.3 million (2007 – nil). Excluding the exceptional item, the tax charge from continuing
activities was £72.3 million (2007 – £63.6 million).
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9. Tax continued
(In £’s million)

Profit from discontinued operations
Profit on discontinued activities before tax at the standard rate of UK corporation tax of 29.5% (2007 – 30%)
Factors affecting charge for year:
Release of tax accruals
Tax on discontinued operations
Effective tax rate for the year on discontinued operations

2008

2007

0.6
0.2

1.1
0.3

–
0.2
29.0%

(17.6)
(17.3)
n/a

10. Discontinued operations
The results of the discontinued businesses which have been included in the consolidated Income Statement, were as follows:
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Profit from disposal of business assets
Profit before tax
Tax
Post tax profit from discontinued operations

0.6
0.6
(0.2)
0.4

1.1
1.1
17.3
18.4

The profit from disposal of business assets in the current year relates mainly to the cash receipts from loan notes arising from the disposal
of the Hays US Home Delivery business, previously fully provided against.
The tax credit of £17.3 million in the prior year was the result of a £17.6 million write-back of tax-related accruals that were established
when the Group completed the disposal of non-core activities between March 2003 and November 2004 and in the light of subsequent
events were no longer required, less a £0.3 million charge on other items.
Cash inflows generated from discontinued operations were the following:
(In £’s million)

Investing activities

2008

2007

0.6

0.8

11. Dividends
The following dividends were paid by the Group and have been recognised as distributions to equity shareholders in the year:
2008
pence per share

Previous year final dividend
Current year interim dividend

3.40
1.85

£ million

48.2
25.8
74.0

2007
pence per share
£ million

2.90
1.60

42.3
23.2
65.5

The following dividends were proposed by the Group in respect of the accounting year presented:
2008
pence per share

Interim dividend
Final dividend (proposed)

1.85
3.95
5.80

£ million

25.8
54.4
80.2

2007
pence per share
£ million

1.60
3.40
5.00

23.2
48.2
71.4

The final dividend for 2008 of 3.95 pence per share (£54.4 million) will be proposed at the AGM on 12 November 2008 and has not been
included as a liability as at 30 June 2008. The final dividend will be paid on 21 November 2008 to shareholders on the register at 5pm on
24 October 2008.
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12. Earnings per share
For the year ended 30 June 2008
Earnings
(£’s million)

Continuing operations before exceptional items:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Continuing operations after exceptional items:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
Continuing and discontinued operations:
Basic earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations

Weighted average
number of shares
(million)

Per share
amount
(pence)

176.8
–
176.8

1,404.1
7.4
1,411.5

12.59
(0.06)
12.53

187.8
–
187.8

1,404.1
7.4
1,411.5

13.37
(0.07)
13.30

0.4
–
0.4

1,404.1
7.4
1,411.5

0.03
–
0.03

188.2
–
188.2

1,404.1
7.4
1,411.5

13.40
(0.07)
13.33

The weighted average number of shares in issue excludes shares held in treasury and shares held by the Hays Employee Share Trust
and the Hays plc Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust.
Reconciliation of earnings
(In £’s million)

Earnings

Continuing operations before exceptional items
Exceptional items (note 5)
Tax on exceptional items (note 5)
Continuing operations

176.8
15.3
(4.3)
187.8

For the year ended 30 June 2007
Earnings
(£’s million)

Continuing operations before exceptional items:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Continuing operations after exceptional items:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
Continuing and discontinued operations:
Basic earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
Dilution effect of share options
Diluted earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations

Weighted average
number of shares
(million)

Per share
amount
(pence)

148.1
–
148.1

1,453.2
8.2
1,461.4

10.19
(0.06)
10.13

148.1
–
148.1

1,453.2
8.2
1,461.4

10.19
(0.06)
10.13

18.4
–
18.4

1,453.2
8.2
1,461.4

1.27
(0.01)
1.26

166.5
–
166.5

1,453.2
8.2
1,461.4

11.46
(0.07)
11.39
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13. Goodwill
(In £’s million)

Cost
At 1 July
Exchange adjustments
Additions during the year
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings (note 29)
Amounts written back in year
At 30 June

2008

157.7
10.9
0.3
–
–
168.9

2007

126.2
(2.1)
–
41.5
(7.9)
157.7

Goodwill has been tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of each cash-generating unit (‘CGU’), including goodwill, with the
recoverable amount of that income-generating unit. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based on the higher of
value in use calculations and its fair value less costs to sell. The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on internal business
plans approved by the Directors. Following the impairment tests, no impairment of goodwill was required in the year or the preceding year.
In the prior year, the amount written back of £7.9 million represents the reversal of deferred contingent consideration for acquisitions
which was determined to be no longer required.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business
combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:
(In £’s million)

United Kingdom & Ireland
Continental Europe & Rest of World
Asia Pacific

2008

2007

92.4
58.2
18.3
168.9

92.5
49.6
15.6
157.7

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations
are those regarding the discount rates and growth rates. Management estimates discount rates using post-tax rates that reflect current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on management forecasts.
The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial forecasts approved by management and extrapolates cash
flows for the following years based on an average estimated growth rate of 3.0%. This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the relevant markets.
The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 9.5% post tax.
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14. Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets comprises computer software only.
(In £’s million)

Cost
At 1 July
Exchange adjustments
Additions
Subsidiaries acquired
Disposals
At 30 June
Amortisation
At 1 July
Exchange adjustments
Charge for year
Impairment charge (note 5)
Disposals
At 30 June
Net book value
At 30 June

2008

2007

6.9
0.5
6.7
–
–
14.1

4.0
–
2.8
0.3
(0.2)
6.9

2.6
0.4
1.7
4.0
–
8.7

2.4
–
0.4
–
(0.2)
2.6

5.4

4.3

Fixtures
and fittings

Total

The average life of the intangible assets is four years (2007 – four years).

15. Property, plant and equipment
(In £’s million)

Cost
At 1 July 2007
Exchange adjustments
Capital expenditure
Reclassifications
Disposals
At 30 June 2008
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2007
Exchange adjustments
Charge for the year
Impairment charge (note 5)
Disposals
At 30 June 2008
Net book value
At 30 June 2008
At 1 July 2007

Freehold
properties

Leasehold
properties
(short)

1.0
0.1
0.1
–
–
1.2

3.3
0.6
2.6
–
(0.2)
6.3

32.3
1.2
5.2
(1.2)
(0.8)
36.7

26.7
0.9
10.6
1.2
(0.6)
38.8

63.3
2.8
18.5
–
(1.6)
83.0

0.6
0.1
–
–
–
0.7

1.5
0.2
1.2
–
(0.2)
2.7

22.0
0.7
3.7
2.7
(0.7)
28.4

14.0
0.4
4.7
–
(0.1)
19.0

38.1
1.4
9.6
2.7
(1.0)
50.8

0.5
0.4

3.6
1.8

8.3
10.3

19.8
12.7

32.2
25.2

Plant and
machinery

Capital commitments were £1.0 million (2007 – nil).
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15. Property, plant and equipment continued
(In £’s million)

Cost
At 1 July 2006
Capital expenditure
Subsidiaries acquired
Disposals
At 30 June 2007
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2006
Charge for the year
Subsidiaries acquired
Disposals
At 30 June 2007
Net book value
At 30 June 2007
At 1 July 2006

Freehold
properties

Leasehold
properties
(short)

0.9
0.1
–
–
1.0

2.3
1.2
–
(0.2)
3.3

28.6
4.6
–
(0.9)
32.3

21.9
6.4
0.7
(2.3)
26.7

53.7
12.3
0.7
(3.4)
63.3

0.5
0.1
–
–
0.6

1.1
0.6
–
(0.2)
1.5

19.3
3.5
–
(0.8)
22.0

12.7
3.1
0.3
(2.1)
14.0

33.6
7.3
0.3
(3.1)
38.1

0.4
0.4

1.8
1.2

10.3
9.3

12.7
9.2

25.2
20.1

2008

2007

331.0
(16.2)
314.8
127.5
442.3

266.6
(12.1)
254.5
121.2
375.7

Plant and
machinery

Fixtures
and fittings

Total

Capital commitments were nil (2006 – nil).

16. Trade and other receivables
(In £’s million)

Trade receivables
Less provision for impairment of receivables
Net trade receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receivables approximates to their fair value.
The average credit period taken is 39 days (2007 – 37 days).
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables not impaired is as follows:
2008

2007

150.2
115.6
49.0
314.8

113.0
110.8
30.7
254.5

(In £’s million)

2008

2007

At 1 July
Exchange movement
Charge for the year
Uncollectable amounts written off
At 30 June

12.1
0.6
4.5
(1.0)
16.2

10.9
–
2.6
(1.4)
12.1

(In £’s million)

Not yet due
Up to one month past due
Up to three months past due

The movement on the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:
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16. Trade and other receivables continued
Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the Balance Sheet are net of allowances
for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event which, based on previous experience,
is evidence of a likely reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows. The Group has no significant concentration of risk, with exposure
spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

17. Cash and cash equivalents
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term bank deposits

52.0
2.0
54.0

50.2
18.2
68.4

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 5.5% (2007 – 5.0%); these deposits have an average maturity of 1 day (2007 – 1 day).
Credit risk
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.
Interest rate risk profile of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at floating rates based on local money market rates.

18. Bank loans and overdrafts
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Loan notes
Overdrafts

0.2
134.9
135.1

1.0
143.6
144.6

Explanations of the Group’s treasury policy and controls are included in the Financial Review on page 30.
(a) Interest rate risk profile of bank loans and overdrafts
The interest rate risk profile of bank loans and overdrafts are as follows below:
(In £’s million)

Floating rate – Sterling

2008

2007

135.1

144.6

The floating rate liabilities comprise unsecured overdrafts and loan notes bearing interest at rates based on local money market rates.
(b) Maturities of bank loans and overdrafts
(In £’s million)

The maturity of borrowings are as follows:
More than one year

2008

2007

135.1

144.6

(c) Fair values of financial assets and bank loans and overdrafts
The fair value of financial assets and bank loans and overdrafts is not materially different to their book value due to the short-term maturity
of the instruments, which are based upon floating rates.
(d) Committed facilities
The Group has a £460 million unsecured revolving credit facility available which expires in February 2011. The covenants in the facility
require the Group’s interest cover to be at least 4:1 and its leverage ratio (net debt to EBITDA) to be no greater than 3:1. The interest
rate on the facility is based upon a ratchet mechanism with a margin payable over LIBOR in the range 0.375% to 0.525%.
At 30 June 2008, £344.2 million of the committed facility was undrawn.
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18. Bank loans and overdrafts continued
(e) Currency exposure
The Group did not have a material profit and Income Statement exposure to foreign exchange gains or losses on monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 30 June 2008.
(f) Interest rates
The weighted average interest rates paid were as follows:
Bank borrowings

2008

2007

6.1%

5.7%

2008

2007

48.1
51.6
27.2
173.6
6.0
306.5

34.7
49.0
16.9
151.8
–
252.4

13.6

19.6

19. Trade and other payables
(In £’s million)

Current
Trade creditors
Other tax and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
Acquisition liabilities
Non-current
Acquisition liabilities
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.
The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 25 days (2007 – 26 days).

20. Retirement benefit obligations
Within the UK, the Group operates one defined contribution scheme and two defined benefit schemes. The majority of overseas arrangements
are either defined contribution or government-sponsored schemes and these arrangements are not material in the context of the Group results.
UK Defined Contribution Scheme
The Hays Stakeholder Pension Plan was established on 1 July 2001. Money purchase benefits are funded by contributions from employees
and, for eligible employees, from the employer. Employer contributions are in the range of 2% to 15% of pensionable salary depending
on the length of pensionable service and seniority.
The total cost charged to the Income Statement of £1.1 million (2007 – £0.8 million) represents contributions payable to the Stakeholder
Plan. Contributions of nil (2007 – nil) were outstanding at the end of the year. The assets of the Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group.
UK Defined Benefit Schemes
(i) The main scheme, the Hays Pension Scheme, is a defined benefit scheme where the benefits are based on employees’ length of
service and final pensionable pay. It is a funded approved defined benefit scheme and closed to new members on 1 July 2001. It
is funded through a legally separate trustee administered fund.
(ii) The Hays Supplementary Pension Scheme is a supplementary unfunded unapproved retirement benefit scheme for employees who
were subject to HMRC’s earnings cap on pensionable salary.
The last formal actuarial valuations were performed at 30 June 2006. A roll forward of the actuarial valuations of the Hays Pension
Scheme and the Hays Supplementary Pension Scheme to 30 June 2008 has been performed by the Scheme actuary, an employee
of Mercer Human Resource Consulting. The key assumptions used at 30 June 2008 are listed on the following page.

76

www.haysplc.com

Financial Statements

20. Retirement benefit obligations continued
IAS 19 accounting valuation
Hays plc has applied the accounting requirements of IAS 19 as follows:
I

scheme assets are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date;

I

scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit credit method and discounted at the current rate of return on high quality
corporate bonds of equivalent term to the liability; and

I

actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur, outside of the Income Statement, in retained earnings
and presented in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.

The key assumptions are as follows:
Inflation assumption
Discount rate
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase of pensions in payment and deferment
Expected long-term rates of return on scheme assets

2008

2007

3.70%
5.75%
3.95%
3.70%
6.43%

3.30%
5.57%
5.80%
3.30%
6.87%

The assumption for the expected long-term returns for scheme assets is a weighted average based on the assumed expected return for
each asset class and the proportions held of each asset class at the beginning of the year.
The long-term expected rate of return on scheme assets does not affect the level of the obligation but does affect the expected return
on pension scheme assets within the net finance income / (charge).
The mortality rates have been calculated using the PA92 generational mortality tables with a medium cohort projection. This assumes that
a 65 year old, male, current pensioner has a life expectancy of 21.9 years.
The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement for the defined benefit schemes are as follows:
(In £’s million)

Current service cost
Past service costs / curtailments
Total operating charge
Expected return on pension scheme assets
Interest on pension liabilities
Net financial income
Total amount credited / (charged) to the Consolidated Income Statement

2008

2007

(5.7)
22.0
16.3
28.3
(25.3)
3.0
19.3

(7.1)
–
(7.1)
24.4
(22.5)
1.9
(5.2)

The actuarial gains and losses have been recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense as follows:
(In £’s million)

Actuarial (loss) / gain on scheme assets
Actuarial losses on scheme liabilities
Impact of changes in assumptions relating to the present value of scheme liabilities
Net (expense) / income recognised directly in Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense

2008

2007

(51.0)
(6.1)
(14.1)
(71.2)

16.0
(4.7)
1.6
12.9
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20. Retirement benefit obligations continued
(In £’s million)

Deficit in the scheme brought forward
Current service cost
Past service costs / curtailments (note 5)
Contributions
Net financial return
Actuarial (loss) / gain
Deficit in the scheme carried forward

2008

2007

(43.5)
(5.7)
22.0
7.3
3.0
(71.2)
(88.1)

(55.9)
(7.1)
–
4.7
1.9
12.9
(43.5)

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement schemes is
as follows:
(In £’s million)

Present value of defined benefit obligations
Fair value of scheme assets
Defined benefit scheme deficit
Liability recognised in the Balance Sheet

2008

2007

(474.8)
386.7
(88.1)

(455.6)
412.1
(43.5)

(88.1)

(43.5)

2008

2007

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
(In £’s million)

Change in benefit obligation
Balance at 1 July
Current service cost
Interest cost
Members’ contributions
Past service cost / curtailments (note 5)
Actuarial losses
Changes in assumptions
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation at 30 June
Analysis of defined benefit obligation
Plans that are wholly or partly funded
Plans that are wholly unfunded
Total
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at 1 July
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial (losses) / gains
Employer contributions
Member contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at 30 June
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(455.6)
(5.7)
(25.3)
(1.6)
22.0
(6.1)
(14.1)
11.6
(474.8)

(431.7)
(7.1)
(22.5)
(1.5)
–
(4.7)
1.6
10.3
(455.6)

(467.3)
(7.5)
(474.8)

(446.8)
(8.8)
(455.6)

412.1
28.3
(51.0)
7.3
1.6
(11.6)
386.7

375.8
24.4
16.0
4.7
1.5
(10.3)
412.1
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20. Retirement benefit obligations continued
The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected return at the balance sheet date was as follows:

Equities
Bonds
Cash and other

2008
Fair value
£ million

2008
Expected
return
%

2007
Fair value
£ million

2007
Expected
return
%

213.9
164.9
7.9
386.7

7.50%
5.10%
5.00%
6.43%

262.6
130.8
18.7
412.1

7.80%
5.20%
5.50%
6.87%

The expected return on scheme assets are based on long-term expectations at the beginning of the year for returns over the entire life of
the benefit obligations. The expected rates of return for corporate bonds have been based on market yields at the balance sheet date, with
equity returns assumed to be 3.0% per annum above gilt returns. During the year, the Trustees decided to increase the proportion of assets
invested in bonds by circa 10%. The increased weighting in bonds was achieved by a corresponding reduced weighting in equities.
The history of experience adjustments is as follows:
2008

(In £’s million)

Present value of defined benefit obligations
Fair value of scheme assets
Deficit in the scheme
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities
Amount (£’s million)
Percentage of scheme liabilities (%)
Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amount (£’s million)
Percentage of scheme assets (%)

2007

2006

(474.8)
386.7
(88.1)

(455.6)
412.1
(43.5)

(431.7)
375.8
(55.9)

(6.1)
(1%)

(4.7)
(1%)

(4.7)
(1%)

(51.0)
(13%)

16.0
4%

19.1
5%

Other

Total

33.8
0.7
(5.0)
(3.6)
25.9

50.2
1.2
–
(5.9)
45.5

The estimated amount of contributions expected to be paid to the scheme during the current financial year is £7 million.

21. Provisions
(In £’s million)

Balance at 1 July 2007
Exchange adjustments
Reclassification
Utilised
Balance at 30 June 2008

Property

14.7
0.5
5.0
(2.3)
17.9

Deferred
employee
benefits

1.7
–
–
–
1.7

Property provisions are for rents and other related amounts payable on certain leased properties for periods in which they are not
anticipated to be in use by the Group. The leases expire in periods up to 2013.
It is not possible to estimate the timing of payments against the other deferred employee benefit provisions.
Other provisions comprise liabilities arising as a result of the business disposals and the Group transformation that concluded in 2004,
including the following items:
I

provisions of £1.6 million (2007 – £3.7 million) relating to restructuring costs arising from the Group transformation. These provisions are
expected to be utilised over the next 24 months;

I

provisions of £18.8 million (2007 – £18.9 million) relating to possible warranty and environmental claims in relation to businesses
disposed of. It is not possible to estimate the timing of payments against these provisions;

I

after a detailed review of Other provisions, the Directors have concluded that £5.0 million of Other provisions is more fairly presented
in the Property provisions.
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22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
(In £’s million)

Assets
Balance at 1 July 2007
Credit / (charge) to income
Credit to equity
Exchange difference
Balance at 30 June 2008

Accelerated
tax
depreciation

0.1
1.2
–
–
1.3

Retirement
benefit
obligations

12.1
(7.3)
19.9
–
24.7

Sharebased
payments

4.6
(1.3)
–
–
3.3

Other

5.9
2.6
–
0.9
9.4

Total

22.7
(4.8)
19.9
0.9
38.7

The rate of UK corporation tax has reduced from 30% to 28% with effect from April 2008. The impact of the rate change is reflected in
the current year movement.
At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £50.9 million (2007 – £21.3 million) available for offset against future profits
of which £10.0 million relates to United Kingdom capital losses and £40.9 million to overseas losses. No material deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such losses (2007 – nil). These are unrecognised tax losses that are unlikely to expire in the short-term.
£0.1 million is due to expire in 2012.
The Group has unused tax credits of £2.1 million (2007 – £0.6 million) available against future profits; these credits are unlikely to expire
in the short-term. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these credits (2007 – nil).
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries on which deferred tax liabilities have not been
provided is £120.5 million. The reason for not providing is because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences. Additionally it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future and the level of underlying
tax credit on remitted earnings is likely to cover any UK corporation tax.

(In £’s million)

Assets
Balance at 1 July 2006
Reclassifications
Charge to income
Charge to equity
Charge to equity re rate change
Exchange difference
Balance at 30 June 2007

(In £’s million)

Liabilities
Balance at 1 July 2006
Reclassification
Balance at 30 June 2007
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Accelerated
tax
depreciation

0.9
(0.7)
(0.1)
–
–
–
0.1
Accelerated
tax
depreciation

(0.1)
0.1
–

Retirement
benefit
obligations

16.8
–
–
(3.6)
(1.1)
–
12.1

Sharebased
payments

1.8
2.9
(0.1)
–
–
–
4.6

Retirement
benefit
obligations

Sharebased
payments

–
–
–

–
–
–

Other

2.7
3.2
(0.2)
–
–
0.2
5.9

Total

22.2
5.4
(0.4)
(3.6)
(1.1)
0.2
22.7

Other

Total

(0.8)
0.8
–

(0.9)
0.9
–
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23. Called up share capital
Authorised share capital

Ordinary shares of 1p each

2008
Number
000’s

2008
£’s million

2007
Number
000’s

2007
£’s million

8,898,095

89.0

8,898,095

89.0

Share
capital
number
000’s

Share
capital
£’s million

At 1 July 2007
Cancellation of shares
At 30 June 2008

1,564,097
(100,000)
1,464,097

15.7
(1.0)
14.7

In October 2007, 100.0 million shares were cancelled. Under s162B of the Companies Act (1985), the Company is only allowed to hold
10% of issued share capital in treasury.
As at 30 June 2008 the Company holds 86.6 million (2007 – 116.7 million) Hays plc shares in treasury.

24. Share premium account
(In £’s million)

At 1 July 2007 and 30 June 2008

2008

2007

369.6

369.6

2008

2007

1.7
1.0
2.7

1.7
–
1.7

25. Capital redemption reserve
(In £’s million)

At 1 July
Cancellation of shares
At 30 June

26. Retained earnings
(In £’s million)

At 1 July
Actuarial (losses) / profits on defined benefits scheme
Tax on items taken directly to reserves
Profit for the year
Dividends paid
Share-based payments
Other share movements
Share buy-back
At 30 June

2008

(288.7)
(71.2)
19.9
188.2
(74.0)
6.6
3.2
(91.0)
(307.0)

2007

(354.8)
12.9
(4.7)
166.5
(65.5)
4.2
5.3
(52.6)
(288.7)

Hays continued its share buy-back programme in the year, purchasing 73.2 million shares (2007 – 34.3 million) for a total cost of
£91.0 million (2007 – £52.6 million).
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27. Other reserves
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Own shares
Equity reserve
Cumulative translation reserve

(1.5)
16.9
27.6
43.0

(1.1)
12.6
2.2
13.7

(In £’s million)

2008

2007

At 1 July
Purchase of own shares
At 30 June

(1.1)
(0.4)
(1.5)

(0.7)
(0.4)
(1.1)

(a) Other reserves – own shares

Investments in ‘own shares’ are held by an employee benefit trust to satisfy options awarded to employees. Dividends in respect of ‘own
shares’ have been waived. The number of shares held at 30 June 2008 is 3,072,679 (2007 – 3,429,811).
The Company also operates the Hays plc Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (the ‘QUEST’) which holds shares issued by the
Company in connection with the Hays plc Savings-Related Share Option Scheme and the Hays UK Sharesave Scheme. At 30 June 2008
the number of shares held was 154,572 (2007 – 219,086). The QUEST shares are held in the Balance Sheet at nil valuation.
The ‘own shares’ reserve does not include the shares held in treasury as a result of the share buy-back programme. The share buy-back
purchases are deducted from retained earnings.
(b) Other reserves – equity reserve
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

At 1 July
Share-based payments
At 30 June

12.6
4.3
16.9

8.7
3.9
12.6

(In £’s million)

2008

2007

At 1 July
Currency translation adjustments
At 30 June

2.2
25.4
27.6

3.1
(0.9)
2.2

The equity reserve is generated as a result of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based payments’.
(c) Other reserves – cumulative translation reserve
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28. Share-based payments
Share options
At 30 June 2008, the following options had been granted and remained outstanding in respect of the Company’s Ordinary shares of
1p each under the Company’s share option schemes:

Hays plc 1995 Executive Share Option Scheme

Hays plc 1996 Company Share Option Plan

Hays UK Sharesave Scheme

Hays International Sharesave Scheme

Number of
shares

Nominal
value of
shares
£

Subscription
price
pence/
share

Date
normally
exercisable

1,324,894
957,651
1,375,602
3,048,728
3,528
1,232,282
7,942,685
647,305
277,853
252,946
314,425
3,905
163,920
1,660,354
1,604
283,958
11,825
2,545,003
784,415
7,898,602
11,525,407
2,555,168
23,683,614

13,249
9,577
13,756
30,487
35
12,323
79,427
6,473
2,779
2,529
3,144
39
1,639
16,603
16
2,840
118
25,450
7,844
78,986
115,254
25,552
236,836

188
358
348
117
158
100

2001-2008
2002-2009
2003-2010
2004-2011
2005-2012
2005-2012

211
403
392
132
177
113

2001-2008
2002-2009
2003-2010
2004-2011
2005-2012
2005-2012

229
109
152
100
142
98

2008-2008
2009-2009
2009-2009
2008-2010
2010-2010
2011-2011

98 to 408

2008-2011

The Hays International Sharesave Scheme is available to employees in Australia, New Zealand, Germany, the Netherlands, Belgium, the
Republic of Ireland, France, Spain, Portugal, Canada, Hong Kong, Singapore and the United Arab Emirates.
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28. Share-based payments continued
Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:
2008
Number of
share
options
000’s

Share options (excluding Sharesave)
Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year
Forfeited during the year
Exercised during the year
Expired during the year
Outstanding at the end of the year
Exercisable at the end of the year

10,850
–
–
(682)
(565)
9,603
9,603

2008
Weighted
average
exercise
price
pence

201
–
–
137
179
207
207

2007
Number of
share
options
000’s

15,609
–
–
(4,041)
(718)
10,850
10,850

2007
Weighted
average
exercise
price
pence

175
–
–
117
159
201
201

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was 137 pence. The shares outstanding
at 30 June 2008 had a weighted average exercise price of 207 pence and a weighted average remaining contractual life of three years.
During the year to 30 June 2008 no options were granted.
2008
Number of
share
options
000’s

Sharesave
Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year
Forfeited / cancelled during the year
Exercised during the year
Expired during the year
Outstanding at the end of the year
Exercisable at the end of the year

9,409
9,713
(2,146)
(2,354)
(541)
14,081
1,760

2008
Weighted
average
exercise
price
pence

136
98
132
101
121
114
100

2007
Number of
share
options
000’s

8,169
3,044
(242)
(793)
(769)
9,409
268

2007
Weighted
average
exercise
price
pence

103
142
112
109
122
136
115

On 27 March 2008, 9.7 million Sharesave options were granted. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on that
date is £2.4 million. In the prior year 3.0 million Sharesave options were granted. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options
granted in the prior year was £1.1 million.
The inputs into the valuation model (a binomial valuation model) are as follows:
Share price at grant
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Expected life
Risk free rate
Expected dividends

114.25 pence
98.00 pence
27.0%
3.33 years
4.05%
4.60%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years.
The Group recognised total expenses of £11.6 million (2007 – £8.9 million) related to equity settled share-based payment transactions.
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28. Share-based payments continued
Long Term Co-Incentive Plan (LTCIP)
In previous years, employees were invited to commit a number of shares to the LTCIP. The LTCIP is based upon the ‘Total Shareholder
Return’ (TSR) of the Company over a three year period, compared to a peer group of 15 other companies (including Hays plc). Dependent
upon the performance ranking, the Company will match up to five times the number of shares committed by the employee. If the ranking
of Hays plc is ninth or less then there is no matching of shares by the Company.
During the year, there were no invitations (2007 – nil invitations) to the LTCIP. The fair value of invitations is calculated at the final date
of commitment and is charged to the Income Statement over the vesting period of three years.
The 2004 LTCIP award vested on 21 December 2007 and participants became entitled to 33% of the matching shares based on the
Company’s TSR performance over the three year period to 21 December 2007, where Hays was ranked in 8th position out of the peer
group of 15 companies. A total of 0.4 million shares were matched for this award.
Performance Share Plan (PSP) and Deferred Annual Bonus (DAB)
These are the incentive arrangements that replaced the LTCIP last year. Only members of the Management Board participate in the
DAB and circa 320 managers participate in the PSP.
The PSP and DAB are equity settled share-based payment awards with non-market performance conditions over a three year period.
Under the DAB, up to 100% of the annual bonus is deferred into Hays shares and is matched with free conditional shares (or nil cost
options) at a maximum one for one basis, subject to the performance conditions over a three year period. Under the PSP, generally the
awards are a maximum of 30% to 150% of a participant’s base salary and will not exceed two times a participant’s base salary in any
financial year.
The first PSP award, PSP 1, made in April 2007, and the first DAB award, DAB 1, made in May 2007, has a performance period of three
years from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2009. The 2007 awards are two years through the three year performance period. The second awards,
PSP 2 and DAB 2, were made in September 2007 for a three year performance period from 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2010. The 2008
awards are one year through the three year performance period.
The performance criteria for the DAB awards are a combination of cumulative Group EPS and cumulative International Net Fees. The
performance criteria for the PSP awards are a combination of cumulative Group EPS, cumulative Economic Profit and cumulative Regional
Operating Profit. During the year, £7.6 million (2007 – £3.5 million) was charged to the Income Statement for the cost of these schemes.

29. Acquisitions and disposals
The Group made no acquisitions and has made no disposals during the year.
In the prior year, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of James Harvard International Group Limited, James Harvard
International Asia KK and their subsidiaries for a consideration of £44.5 million. The goodwill on acquisition amounted to £41.5 million.

30. Post balance sheet events
As part of the share buy-back programme, the Company has purchased an additional 1.7 million shares (held as treasury shares) for a total
cost of £1.4 million, after the year end.
There are no other post balance sheet events within the Group that require disclosure.

31. Related parties
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Management Board (excluding the executive Directors) who are key management personnel of the Group
is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. Further information about the
remuneration of executive Directors is provided in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 47 to 58.
(In £’s million)

Short-term employee benefits
Post employment benefits

2008

2007

2.8
0.1
2.9

2.0
0.2
2.2
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32. Contingent liabilities
In June 2006, Hays was visited by the UK Office of Fair Trading (‘OFT’) as part of an investigation into possible breaches of competition
law by Hays and other recruitment companies in the construction recruitment sector. The OFT investigation related to a small part of Hays’
Construction & Property business. Hays is co-operating fully with the OFT under the OFT’s leniency programme and the Board believes
that any financial impact of the matters under investigation will not be material to the Group.

33. Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessee
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in income for the year

20.9

16.5

At 30 June 2008, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases,
which fall due as follows:
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Within one year
Between two and five years
After five years

9.2
34.7
26.6
70.5

6.6
24.8
24.7
56.1

Exchange
movement

30 June
2008

34. Movement in net cash / (debt)
(In £’s million)

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank loans and overdrafts

1 July
2007

68.4
(144.6)
(76.2)

Cash
flow

(21.1)
11.9
(9.2)

6.7
(2.4)
4.3

54.0
(135.1)
(81.1)

The table above is presented as additional information to show movement in net cash / (debt), defined as cash and cash equivalents less
overdraft and bank loans.
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Independent Auditors’ Report on the Hays plc Company Financial Statements

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Hays plc
We have audited the parent Company financial statements of Hays
plc for the year ended 30 June 2008 which comprise the Balance
Sheet, the statement of accounting policies and the related notes
1 to 15. These parent Company financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements
of Hays for the year ended 30 June 2008 and on the information
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having
been audited.
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we
have formed.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent Company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the parent Company financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent Company
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Report give
a true and fair view and whether the parent Company financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our
opinion the Directors’ Report is consistent with the parent
Company financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent Company
financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation
of the parent Company financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the parent Company financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent
Company financial statements.
Opinion
In our opinion:
I

the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs as
at 30 June 2008;

I

the parent Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

I

the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with
the parent Company financial statements.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London, United Kingdom
1 September 2008

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.
We read the other information contained in the Annual Report
as described in the contents section and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited parent Company financial statements.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of
any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
parent Company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not
extend to any further information outside the Annual Report.
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Hays plc Company Balance Sheet at 30 June

(In £’s million)

Note

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments

4

Current assets
Debtors due within one year
Debtors due after more than one year
Cash at bank and in hand

5
6

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings
Other creditors

7
8

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings
Retirement benefit obligations
Provisions for liabilities
Net assets
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Capital redemption reserve
Share premium account
Profit and loss account
Own shares
Equity shareholders’ interests

9
10
11

12,13
13
13
13
13

These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 1 September 2008.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors
R A Lawson
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P Venables

Company
2008

Restated
(note 13)
Company
2007

–
910.4
910.4

0.4
910.4
910.8

0.5
417.2
1.7
419.4

0.2
479.0
20.7
499.9

(65.7)
(464.6)
(530.3)
(110.9)
799.5

(107.7)
(485.0)
(592.7)
(92.8)
818.0

(15.8)
(63.4)
(19.9)
700.4

(43.8)
(31.3)
(22.3)
720.6

14.7
2.7
369.6
314.9
(1.5)
700.4

15.7
1.7
369.6
334.7
(1.1)
720.6
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Notes to the Hays plc Company Financial Statements

1. Basis of preparation
(i) Accounting basis
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and Law.
As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company’s profit and loss account has not been presented.
The Company’s principal accounting policies adopted in the presentation of these financial statements are set out below and have
been consistently applied to all periods presented.
Cash flow statement and related party disclosures
The results, assets and liabilities of the Company are included in the consolidated financial statements of Hays plc, which are publicly
available. Consequently, the Company has taken exemption from preparing a cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1 (revised)
‘Cash Flow Statements’. The Company is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ from disclosing related
party transactions with entities that are part of the Group.
(ii) Investments
Shares in subsidiaries are valued at cost less provision for impairment.
(iii) Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is provided in full on all timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a right
to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of
income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those in which they are included in financial statements. Deferred tax
is not provided on unremitted earnings of subsidiaries and associates where there is no commitment to remit these earnings. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not discounted.
(iv) Pension costs
For defined benefit schemes the amounts charged to operating profit are the current service costs and gains and losses on settlements
and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the profit and loss account if
the benefits have vested. If the benefits have not vested immediately, the costs are recognised over the period until vesting occurs. The
interest cost and the expected return on assets are shown as a net amount of other finance costs or credits adjacent to interest. Actuarial
gains and losses are recognised immediately in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses.
The main defined benefit scheme is funded, with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the Group, in separate trustee
administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the
projected unit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent
currency and term to the scheme liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance
sheet date. The resulting defined benefit asset or liability, net of the related deferred tax, is presented separately after other net assets
on the face of the Balance Sheet.
(v) Employee share option schemes
The Company operates a number of employee share option schemes. All equity-settled, share-based payments are measured at fair value
at the date of grant. All equity-settled, share-based payment schemes are dealt with in the Balance Sheet by including them within total
equity shareholders’ interests in accordance with FRS 20, ‘Share-based payments’.
(vi) Dividends
Dividends are recognised in the period that they are declared and approved.

2. Employee information
Details of Directors’ emoluments and interests are included in the remuneration report on pages 47 to 58 in the Group annual report.
Except for the Directors there were no employees of the Company in 2008 or 2007.

3. Profit for the year
Hays plc has not presented its own profit and loss account and related notes as permitted by section 230 (3) of the Companies Act 1985.
The profit for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company is £182.3 million (2007 – £187.8 million). The
auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was £0.3 million (2007 – £0.3 million).
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Notes to the Hays plc Company Financial Statements continued

4. Investments
Shares in
subsidiary
undertakings

(In £’s million)

Cost
At 1 July 2007
Disposals
At 30 June 2008
Provision for impairment
At 1 July 2007 and 30 June 2008
Total
At 30 June 2008
At 30 June 2007

910.4
–
910.4
–
910.4
910.4

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Group are listed in note 14.

5. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
2008

2007

0.2
0.3
0.5

0.1
0.1
0.2

2008

2007

0.4
412.3
4.5
417.2

0.8
474.9
3.3
479.0

(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Overdrafts
Loan notes

65.5
0.2
65.7

107.7
–
107.7

2008

Restated
(note 13)
2007

(In £’s million)

Other debtors
Prepayments

6. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year
(In £’s million)

Prepayments
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Deferred tax

7. Borrowings: amounts falling due within one year

8. Other creditors: amounts falling due within one year
(In £’s million)

Accruals and deferred income
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Taxation
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15.7
442.8
6.1
464.6

15.6
454.4
15.0
485.0
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9. Borrowings: amounts falling due after more than one year
(In £’s million)

2008

2007

Overdrafts
Loan notes

15.8
–
15.8

43.6
0.2
43.8

10. Retirement benefit obligations
The Company is the sponsoring employer for all of the Hays defined benefit pension schemes and recognises the full liability on its Balance
Sheet. Under FRS 17 the actual cost of providing pensions to the Company is charged to the profit and loss account as incurred during
the year, net of costs paid by subsidiary companies.
The pension cost charged to the Company’s profit and loss account is a credit of £20.7 million (2007 – charge of £2.7 million).
The mortality rates have been calculated using the PA92 generational mortality tables with a medium cohort projection. This assumes that
a 65 year old, male, current pensioner has a life expectancy of 21.9 years.
The movement in the deficit during the year is analysed below:
(In £’s million)

Deficit in the scheme brought forward
Current service cost
Past service costs / curtailments
Contributions
Net financial return
Actuarial (loss) / gain
Deficit in the scheme carried forward

2008

2007

(43.5)
(5.7)
22.0
7.3
3.0
(71.2)
(88.1)

(55.9)
(7.1)
–
4.7
1.9
12.9
(43.5)

Based on actuarial advice, the financial assumptions used in calculating the scheme’s liabilities under FRS 17 are:
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase of pensions in payment and deferment
Discount rate
Inflation assumption

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

3.95%
3.70%
5.75%
3.70%

5.80%
3.30%
5.57%
3.30%

5.40%
2.90%
5.22%
2.90%

5.10%
2.60%
4.95%
2.60%

5.45%
2.95%
5.73%
2.95%

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

7.50%
5.10%
5.00%

7.80%
5.20%
5.50%

7.60%
4.90%
4.50%

7.25%
4.60%
4.75%

8.00%
5.37%
4.50%

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

The expected rates of return on scheme assets are shown below:
(% expected rate of return)

Equities
Bonds
Cash and other assets
The assets and liabilities of the schemes operated by the Group are shown below:
(In £’s million)

Equities
Bonds
Cash and other assets
Market value of scheme assets
Present value of scheme liabilities
Deficit in the scheme
Related deferred tax asset
Net pension liability under FRS 17

213.9
164.9
7.9
386.7
(474.8)
(88.1)
24.7
(63.4)

262.6
130.8
18.7
412.1
(455.6)
(43.5)
12.2
(31.3)

229.3
132.4
14.1
375.8
(431.7)
(55.9)
16.8
(39.1)

217.6
110.6
8.4
336.6
(406.3)
(69.7)
20.9
(48.8)

189.1
43.6
64.7
297.4
(366.9)
(69.5)
20.8
(48.7)
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10. Retirement benefit obligations continued
The five year history of experience adjustments is as follows:
(In £’s million)

Present value of defined benefit obligations
Fair value of scheme assets
Deficit in the scheme
The history of experience adjustments is as follows:
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities
Amount (£’s million)
Percentage of scheme liabilities (%)
Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amounts (£’s million)
Percentage of scheme assets (%)

2008

2007

2006

2005

(406.3)
336.6
(69.7)

2004

(474.8)
386.7
(88.1)

(455.6)
412.1
(43.5)

(431.7)
375.8
(55.9)

(366.9)
297.4
(69.5)

(6.1)
(1%)

(4.7)
(1%)

(4.7)
(1%)

9.4
2%

16.1
4%

(51.0)
(13%)

16.0
4%

19.1
5%

21.0
6%

14.4
5%

Future profile of Hays Pension Scheme
The Hays Pension Scheme was closed to new members with effect from 1 July 2001. The age profile of the active membership will rise
over time and hence the future service cost (as a percentage of annual salaries) is also likely to rise. The Group has considered the impact
of the FRS 17 deficit in respect of the Group, its employees and pensioners. In the context of the prudent funding structure of the Group,
the Group is in a strong position to manage this long term liability to the satisfaction and benefit of all stakeholders.

11. Provisions for liabilities
(In £’s million)

Property

Balance at 1 July 2007
Utilised
Balance at 30 June 2008

5.0
–
5.0

Other

Total

17.3
(2.4)
14.9

22.3
(2.4)
19.9

12. Called up share capital
Authorised share capital

Ordinary shares of 1p each

2008
Number
000’s

2008
£’s million

2007
Number
000’s

2007
£’s million

8,898,095

89.0

8,898,095

89.0

Called up, allotted and fully paid share capital
Share
capital
number
000’s

At 1 July 2007
Cancellation of shares
At 30 June 2008
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1,564,097
(100,000)
1,464,097

Share
capital
£’s million

15.7
(1.0)
14.7
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13. Reconciliation of movements in shareholder’s funds

(In £’s million)

Share
capital

At 1 July 2007
Cancellation of shares
Total recognised gains and losses
Share buy-back
Purchase of own shares in the period
Share-based payments
Dividends paid
At 30 June 2008

15.7
(1.0)
–
–
–
–
–
14.7

Capital
Profit and
Share redemption loss account
premium
reserve
(restated)

369.6
–
–
–
–
–
–
369.6

1.7
1.0
–
–
–
–
–
2.7

334.7
–
134.9
(91.0)
–
10.3
(74.0)
314.9

Own
shares

(1.1)
–
–
–
(0.4)
–
–
(1.5)

Total

720.6
–
134.9
(91.0)
(0.4)
10.3
(74.0)
700.4

Hays continued its share buy-back programme in the period, purchasing 73.2 million shares (held as treasury shares) for a total cost
of £91.0 million.
Investments in ‘own shares’ are held by an employee benefit trust to satisfy options awarded to employees. Dividends in respect of
‘own shares’ have been waived. The number of shares held at 30 June 2008 is 3,072,679 (2007 – 3,429,811).
The Company also operates the Hays plc Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (the ‘QUEST’) which holds shares issued by the
Company in connection with the Hays plc Savings-Related Share Option Scheme and the Hays UK Sharesave Scheme. At 30 June 2008
the number of shares held was 154,572 (2007 – 219,086). The QUEST shares are held in the Balance Sheet at nil valuation.
A restatement has been made to reflect the reclassification of an amount of £12.6 million from accruals and deferred income to the profit
and loss account reserve to reflect the requirements of FRS 20, ‘Share-based payments’. This has reduced the accruals and deferred
income balance at 30 June 2007 by £12.6 million and increased the profit and loss account balance by £12.6 million.
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14. Principal subsidiaries
Country of registration

Holding Companies
Hays Holdings Ltd*
Hays Commercial Services Ltd
Hays Specialist Recruitment (Holdings) Ltd*
Hays International Holdings Ltd*
Hays Holdings BV
Hays France SAS
Trading Companies
Hays Specialist Recruitment (Australia) Pty Ltd
Hays Österreich GmbH
Hays Belgium NV/SA
Hays Recruitment and Selection Ltda
Hays Specialist Recruitment (Canada) Inc
Hays Czech Republic s.r.o
Hays Specialist Recruitment (Denmark) A/S
Hays Specialist Recruitment Ltd
James Harvard International Group Ltd
Hays Pharma Ltd
Hays Finance Technology Ltd
Hays Personnel Payroll Services Ltd
Hays Healthcare Ltd
Hays Social Care Ltd
Hays Travail Temporaire SASU
Hays Executive SASU
Hays Pharma SASU
Hays Sud Ouest SASU
Hays Ouest SASU
Hays Nord Est SASU
Hays Paris SASU
Hays AG
Hays Temp GmbH
Hays Hong Kong Ltd
Hays Specialist Recruitment Hong Kong Ltd
Hays Hungary Kft
Hays Specialist Recruitment (Ireland) Ltd
Hays S.r.l
Hays Specialist Recruitment Japan K.K.
Hays S.a.r.l
Hays Poland Sp z.o.o
Hays Overseas (Portugal) SGPS LDA
Hays Specialist Recruitment P.T.E Limited
Hays Slovakia s.r.o
Hays Personnel Services Espana SA
Hays Personnel Espana Temporal SA
Hays Specialist Recruitment AB
Hays (Schweiz) AG
Hays BV
Hays FZ-LLC
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England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
The Netherlands
France
Australia
Austria
Belgium
Brazil
Canada
Czech Republic
Denmark
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
France
France
France
France
France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Hong Kong SAR
Hong Kong SAR
Hungary
Ireland
Italy
Japan
Luxembourg
Poland
Portugal
Singapore
Slovakia
Spain
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
The Netherlands
United Arab Emirates
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14. Principal subsidiaries continued
At 30 June 2008, Hays plc and/or a subsidiary or subsidiaries in aggregate owned 100% of each class of the issued shares of each of
these companies. Shares in companies marked with an asterisk (*) were owned directly by Hays plc and in companies not so marked were
owned by a subsidiary or subsidiaries of Hays plc.
The list of companies includes holding companies and those which had a material effect on the consolidated results to 30 June 2008.

15. Subsequent events
As part of the share buy-back programme, the Company has purchased an additional 1.7 million shares (held as treasury shares) for a
total cost of £1.4 million, after the year-end.
The final dividend for 2008 of 3.95 pence per share (£54.4 million) will be proposed at the AGM on 12 November 2008 and has not
been included as a liability as at 30 June 2008. The final dividend will be paid on 21 November 2008 to shareholders on the register
at 5pm on 24 October 2008.
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Shareholder Information

Enquiries relating to the following administrative matters should
be addressed to the Company’s registrars: Equiniti*, Aspect House,
Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 8AH. Telephone:
0871 384 2843. Textphone: 0871 384 2255. International:
+44 121 415 7047.
I

Dividend payment enquiries.

I

Dividend mandate instructions: Dividends may be paid directly
into your bank or building society account on completion of a
mandate instruction form. Tax vouchers are sent to the
shareholder’s registered address.

I

Loss of share certificates/dividend warrants/tax vouchers.

I

Notification of change of address.

I

Transfer of shares to another person.

I

Amalgamation of accounts: If you receive more than one
copy of the Annual Report and Accounts, you may wish to
amalgamate your accounts on the share register.

You can access your shareholding details and a range of other
shareholder services at the Equiniti* website www.shareview.co.uk
Shareholder information
Information concerning the day-to-day movement of the share
price of the Company can be found on our website
www.haysplc.com or that of the London Stock Exchange
www.prices.londonstockexchange.com
Capital Gains Tax base cost of Hays Shares
Following the demerger of DX Services on 1 November 2004,
the original base cost of your Hays plc shares for Capital Gains
Tax purposes should be allocated between your Hays plc shares
and the DX Services plc shares that you received as follows:
Hays plc shares 89.57%

Ltd, 20 Moorgate, London, EC2R 6DA. Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7588
2828. Website: www.jpmorgancazenove.com
Equiniti* offer Shareview Dealing, a service which allows you to sell
your Hays plc shares or add to your holding if you are a UK resident.
You can deal in your shares on the internet or by phone. Log on to
www.shareview.co.uk/dealing or call them on 08456 037 037
between 8.30am and 4.30pm, Monday to Friday, for more information
about this service and for details of their rates. If you wish to deal,
you will need your account/shareholder reference number which
appears on your share certificate.
ShareGift
ShareGift is a charity share donation scheme for shareholders
administered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation. It is especially
useful for those shareholders who may wish to dispose of a small
parcel of shares whose value makes it uneconomic to sell on a
normal commission basis. Further information can be obtained
from www.sharegift.org or from Equiniti*.
Dividend Re-Investment Plan (DRIP)
The Company has introduced a DRIP to allow shareholders to
re-invest the cash dividend that they receive in shares on competitive
dealing terms. Further information is available from: The Share
Dividend Team, Equiniti*, Aspect House, Spencer House, Lancing,
West Sussex, BN99 8AH. Telephone: 0871 384 2268.
Website: www.shareview.co.uk
Unsolicited mail
As the Company’s share register is, by law, open to public inspection,
shareholders may receive unsolicited mail from organisations that
use it as a mailing list. To reduce the amount of unsolicited mail you
receive, contact: The Mailing Preference Service, FREEPOST 22,
London W1E 7EZ. Telephone: 0845 703 4599.
Website: www.mpsonline.org.uk

DX Services plc shares 10.43%

Financial calendar 2008/9

For example, suppose you held 100 Hays plc shares for which the
base cost is £100. Immediately after the demerger, you held 100
Hays plc shares and 5 DX Services plc shares. The £100 cost
should be allocated between these shares as follows:

Trading statement for quarter ending 30/09/08
Annual General Meeting
Trading statement for quarter ending 31/12/08
Interim results for 6 months ending 31/12/08
Trading statement for quarter ending 31/03/09
Interim Dividend
Trading statement for quarter ending 30/06/09

Hays plc shares 89.57% x £100 = £89.57, or £0.90 per share
DX Services plc shares 10.43%x £100 = £10.43, or £2.09 per share
If you are in any doubt about the allocation of the base cost between
the shares of the two companies, you should consult your tax adviser.
Corporate Individual Savings Account
The Hays plc Single Company ISA is available to existing and
prospective shareholders in Hays plc. Further information is
available from: Equiniti*, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing,
West Sussex, BN99 8AH. Telephone: 0871 384 2244.
Website: www.shareview.co.uk

Investor Relations
Enquiries to: ir@hays.com
Registered office
250 Euston Road
London NW1 2AF
Registered in England & Wales no. 2150950
Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7383 2266
* Equiniti is the name for the former Lloyds TSB Registrars business.

Dealing service
JPMorgan Cazenove Ltd operates a postal dealing service for
Ordinary shares in Hays plc. This provides for the sale or purchase
of shares at a basic commission of 1% subject to a £10 minimum
charge. Further information is available from: JPMorgan Cazenove
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9 October 2008
12 November 2008
8 January 2009
26 February 2009
9 April 2009
April 2009
9 July 2009

Financial Statements

Directory

Listed below are the head offices for each of our key areas of operation. To find your local office please visit the Hays
website: www.hays.com
Australia
T +61 (0)2 8226 9600
F +61 (0)2 9233 1110
Level 11, Chifley Tower
2 Chifley Square
Sydney NSW 2000
sydney@hays.com.au
www.hays.com.au

Denmark
T +45 33 155 600
F +45 33 155 601
Frederiksholms Kanal 4
DK-1220 København K
Denmark
copenhagen@hays.com
www.hays.dk

Austria
T +43 (0)1 535 34 43 0
F +43 (0)1 535 34 43 299
Marc-Aurel-Straße 4/4
1010 Wien
info@hays.at
www.hays.at

France
T +33 (0)1 71 76 77 05
F +33 (0)1 71 76 77 21
26 Rue de Berri
75008 Paris
hps@hays.fr
www.hays.fr

Belgium
T +32 (0)56 653600
F +32 (0)56 228761
Harelbeeksestraat 81
B-8520 Kuurne
kuurne@hays.com
www.hays.be

Germany
T +49 (0)621 1788 0
F +49 (0)621 1788 299
Willy-Brandt-Platz 1-3
68161 Mannheim
info@hays.de
www.hays.de

Brazil
T +55-11-3046-9800
F +55-11-3845-4805
Rua Pequetita, 215 – 13° andar
São Paulo, SP CEP 04552-060
headoffice@hays.com.br
www.hays.com.br

Hong Kong
T +852 2521 8884
F +852 2521 8499
Unit 5805-07, 58th Floor
The Centre, 99 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong
hongkong@hays.com.hk
www.hays.com.hk

Canada
T +1 416 367 4297
F +1 416 367 4298
1500 Don Mills Road
Suite 402, North York
ON M3B 3K4
recruit@hays.ca
www.hays.ca
China
T +86 (0)21 2322 9600
F +86 (0)21 5382 4947
Room 1903-1904, Shui On Plaza
No.333 Middle Huaihai Road
Shanghai 200021, PRC
shanghai@hays.cn
www.hays.cn
Czech Republic
T +420 225 001 711
F +420 225 001 723
Olivova 4/2096
110 00 Praha 1
prague@hays.cz
www.hays.cz

Japan
T +81 (0)3 3560 1188
F +81 (0)3 3560 1189
Akasaka Twin Tower
Main Tower 7F 2-17-22 Akasaka
Minato-ku, Tokyo, 107-0052
Japan
info@hays.co.jp
www.hays.co.jp
Luxembourg
T +352 268 654
F +352 268 654 10
Boulevard Royal 26b
2449 Luxembourg
luxembourg@hays.com
www.hays.lu

Slovakia
T +421 2 35 035 020
F +421 2 52 490 516
Štúrova 3, 811 02 Bratislava
bratislava@hays.sk
www.hays.sk
Spain
T +34 93 467 0720
F +34 93 467 0322
Calle Aragón, nº 264 Entresuelo 2ª
08007, Barcelona
barcelona@hays.es
www.hays.es
Sweden
T +46 (0)8 588 043 00
F +46 (0)8 588 043 99
Stureplan 4C
114 35 Stockholm
stockholm@hays.com
www.hays.se

Netherlands
T +31 (0)13 5910160
F +31 (0)13 5910155
Charles Stulemeijerweg 19
NL-5026 RS Tilburg
service@hays.com
www.hays.nl

Switzerland
T +41 (0)44 2255 000
F +44 (0)44 2255 299
Nüschelerstr. 32
CH-8001 Zürich
info@hays.ch
www.hays.ch

New Zealand
T +64 (0)9 377 4774
F +64 (0)9 377 5855
Level 17, ASB Bank Centre
135 Albert Street, Auckland
auckland@hays-hps.co.nz
www.hays-hps.co.nz

United Arab Emirates
T +971 (0)4 361 2882
F +971 (0)4 368 6794
Block 19, 1st Floor, Office F-02
Knowledge Village
P.O. Box 500340, Dubai
United Arab Emirates
dubai@hays.com
www.hays.ae

Hungary
T +36 1 501 2400
F +36 1 501 2402
Madách Imre utca 13-14
B ép. 5. em., 1075 Budapest
hungary@hays.hu
www.hays.hu

Poland
T +48 (0)22 584 56 50
F +48 (0)22 584 56 51
Al. Jerozolimskie 56c
00-803 Warszawa
warsaw@hays.pl
www.hays.pl

Ireland
T +353 (0)1 661 2704
F +353 (0)1 676 4607
16 Upper Fitzwilliam Street
Dublin 2, Ireland
specialist.recruitment@hays.ie
www.hays.ie

Portugal
T +351 21 782 6560
F +351 21 782 6566
Avenida da República, 90 – 1º
Fracção 3, 1600-206 Lisboa
lisboa@hays.pt
www.hays.pt

Italy
T +39 (0)2 888 931
F +39 (0)2 888 93 41
Corso Italia
13, 20122 Milano
milano@hays.com
www.hays.it

Singapore
T +65 (0) 6223 4535
F +65 (0) 6223 6235
16 Collyer Quay,
#34-01 Hitachi Tower
Singapore 049318
singapore@hays.com.sg
www.hays.com.sg

United Kingdom
T +44 (0)20 7259 8805
F +44 (0)20 8525 3497
Ebury Gate
23 Lower Belgrave Street
London SW1W 0NT
customerservice@hays.com
www.hays.com
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